Studies on generalizations of the classical orthogonal polynomials where gaps are allowed in their degree sequences

Advisor Associate Professor Satoshi TSUJIMOTO

Yu LUO

Department of Applied Mathematics and Physics Graduate School of Informatics

Kyoto University



Contents

Chapter	1 Introduction	1
1.1	Classical orthogonal polynomials	1
1.2	Duality and classical orthogonal polynomials	3
1.3	Algebraic representations	4
1.4	Outline of thesis	5
Chapter	2 Exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials and their electrostatic properties	7
2.1	Darboux transformation	7
2.2	Exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials	10
2.3 2.4	Stieltjes-Calogero type relations	12
	polynomials	14
Chapter	3 Exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials	24
3.1	Bannai-Ito polynomials	24
3.2	Generalized Darboux transformation of Dunkl shift operator	25
3.3	Quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions of Bannai-Ito operator	34
3.4	Exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials	37
3.5	Some notes on the generalized Darboux transformation	48
3.6	Supplymentary data	49
Chapter	4 Dunkl-Supersymmetric orthogonal functions	51
4.1	A supersymmetric quantum mechanics model with Dunkl-type supercharges	51
4.2	The eigenvalue problem of a Hamiltonian with reflection	52
4.3	Supersymmetric quantum mechanics and shape invariant even potentials	54
4.4	Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions in terms of classical orthogonal polynomials	57
4.5	The recurrence relation of the Dunkl-supersymmetric orthogonal polynomials	61
4.6	Supplymentary data	64
Chapter	5 Summary and future works	65
5.1	Summary	65
5.2	Future works	65
Bibliography		73

Chapter 1 Introduction

In this thesis we study several generalizations of the classical orthogonal polynomials (COP). These generalizations include the exceptional orthogonal polynomials (XOP), the Dunkl-supersymmetric orthogonal functions and orthogonal polynomials whose degree sequence is 0, 2, 2, 4, 4, ... A common feature shared by these generalizations when they appear as polynomials is that the degree sequence of them are not a set where all the non-negative integers are included. Here we say a polynomial p(x) is of degree n if the highest degree of the variable x is n. Specifically, let us consider a (finite or infinite) sequence of polynomials $\{P_n(x)\}$ that satisfy certain orthogonality, denote the degree sequence of $\{P_n(x)\}$ by \mathbb{S} , and let $\mathbb{N}_0 = \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$. For the orthogonal polynomials we shall consider in this thesis, one always has

$$\mathbb{S} = \mathbb{N}_0 \backslash \mathbb{C}, \tag{1.0.1}$$

where the set $\mathbb{C} \subset \mathbb{N}$ can be finite or infinite. The significance of studying these generalizations of COP is self-evident once the readers come to realize the great theoretical value and rich applications of COP. We would like to invite the readers to follow us into this short but pleasing journey playing with generalizations of COP.

1.1 Classical orthogonal polynomials

1.1.1 History and definitions

First, we shall quickly review the history of the orthogonal polynomials (OP) in general. The origin of OP goes back to the theory of continued fractions studied by Stieltjes in the late nineteenth century [72]. Over the past hundred years, voluminous achievements on the theory and applications of OP have been contributed by a great number of outstanding mathematicians, to name a few, Markov, Padé, Hamburger, Hausdorff, Carleman, Perron, Szegö [10, 34, 35, 53, 61, 62, 74]. Especially, after the publication of Szegö's famous treatise on the theory of OP, increasing interest has been attracted to this subject. The basic general theory of OP was further developed by Chihara in his well-known book [12], where many necessary background materials are also included.

Along with the development of the theories of OP, it has been widely applied to many different branches of mathematics and physics, such as special functions, integrable systems, approximation theory, numerical analysis, random matrix, quantum mechanics and combinatorial theory. In addition, the theories developed upon that of OP furnish comparatively general and instructive illustrations of certain situations in the theory of orthogonal systems. Recently, some of these polynomials have been shown to be of great significance in quantum informatics [7, 14, 43] and in machine learning [48, 71].

Now let us introduce the definition of OP. For a comprehensive review of the theory of OP, one can refer to the special issues dedicated to such topics [12, 47, 74]. Let \mathscr{L} be a linear functional from $\mathbb{R}[x]$ to \mathbb{R} . The orthogonal polynomial sequence (OPS) related to the functional \mathscr{L} are defined as a

sequence of polynomials $\{p_n(x)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ satisfying the following conditions:

$$\mathscr{L}[p_n(x)p_m(x)] = h_n \delta_{m,n}, \quad h_n \neq 0, \tag{1.1.1a}$$

$$\deg(p_n(x)) = n. \tag{1.1.1b}$$

If in additional we also have $h_n = 1$, $n \ge 0$, then it will be called an orthonormal polynomial sequence.

For convenience, unless otherwise specified we will assume that the OPS mentioned in this thesis are always monic (which means their leading coefficients in the variable is 1). An equivalent definition of OPS was then provided by Favard [20] in 1935 as the existence of the three-term recurrence relations:

$$xp_n(x) = p_{n+1}(x) + a_n p_n(x) + b_n p_{n-1}(x), \quad p_{-1}(x) = 0, \quad (b_n \neq 0), \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(1.1.2)

Moreover, the OPS $\{p_n(x)\}_{n=0}^{\infty}$ is called positive-definite if a_n is real and $b_n > 0$. This characterization of OPS is sometimes even more important since it relates OP to a tridiagonal matrix, which is usually called a Jacobi matrix. This key feature is the starting point of many applications of OP. The Jacobi matrix plays an important role in several areas including quantum theory, integrable systems, numerical analysis, random matrices and antisymmetric simple exclusion process (ASEP) which are nowadays extensively studied and investigated [4, 6, 11, 68, 78, 80].

Three well-known examples of OP, the Hermite, Laguerre and Jacobi (including the special cases Tchebichef, Legendre, Gagenbauer) polynomials, have long been at the center of the studies of OP. These three systems were called collectively the classical orthogonal polynomials (COP). In many literatures the term "classical" means that the OP satisfy certain second-order differential equations

$$(A(x)\partial_x^2 + B(x)\partial_x + C(x))p_n(x) = 0, (1.1.3)$$

where $\partial_x = \frac{d}{dx}$, A(x) and B(x) are polynomials of degrees not exceeding 2 and 1, C(x) is constant. These COP have many properties in common. One of them is that the derivative of $p_n(x)$ is a constant times $q_{n-1}(x)$ where $\{p_n(x)\}$ is in one of these COP and $\{q_n(x)\}$ is also. These are the only sets of OP with the property that their derivatives are also orthogonal.

Later, the concept of COP has also been extended to a discrete variable case and they are defined as polynomials satisfying a second-order difference equation

$$(A(x)\Delta_x^2 + B(x)\Delta_x + C(x))p_n(x) = 0$$
(1.1.4)

or a second-order q-difference equation

$$(A(x)(\Delta_x^q)^2 + B(x)\Delta_x^q + C(x))p_n(x) = 0, (1.1.5)$$

where Δ_x is a difference operator defined by $\Delta_x f(x) = f(x+1) - f(x)$ and Δ_x^q is the *q*-difference operator defined by $\Delta_x^q f(x) = (f(qx) - f(x))/(q-1)x$. The orthogonal polynomials which are solutions of (1.1.3), (1.1.4) or (1.1.5) are characterized as the Askey scheme or the *q*-Askey scheme [57] and these polynomials are explicitly written in terms of hypergeometric functions [22].

In the book of Koekoek and coworkers [44], the Hermite, Laguerre and Jacobi polynomials are called "very classical orthogonal polynomials", and (following Andrews & Askey [2]) the authors called all families in the (q-)Askey scheme classical. The families in the (q-)Askey scheme have found interpretations in various settings, for instance in the representation theory of specific Lie or finite or quantum groups, in combinatorics and in probability theory. Some of the limits in the scheme could also be brought over to limit relations of the structures where the polynomials were interpreted.

In this thesis we would like to follow the statement in Koekoek's book, which means in what follows, the term COP will always refer to all the members in the (q-)Askey scheme.

1.2 Duality and classical orthogonal polynomials

As we have seen, classical orthogonal polynomials are always equipped with three-term recurrence relations and a second-order equation simultaneously. This property is called duality. In the infinitedimensional case there are several possibilities for duality property. The "classical" duality means that orthogonal polynomials $p_n(x)$ satisfy both the recurrence relation (1.1.2) and one of the second-order equations (1.1.3), (1.1.4) and (1.1.5). In the finite-dimensional case, the duality can be understood with the help of a Leonard pair. The relationship between a Leonard pair and orthogonal polynomials has been explained explicitly in [75, 76]. In what follows, we would like to briefly introduce it.

Let *V* denote a vector space over a field \mathbb{K} with finite positive dimension N + 1. By definition, a pair of linear operators $X : V \to V$ and $Y : V \to V$ form a Leonard pair if there exist two basis for *V*, say e_n and d_n , n = 0, 1, 2, ..., N, such that, on the one hand, with respect to the basis e_n , n = 0, 1, 2, ..., N, *X* is diagonal and *Y* is tridiagonal:

$$Xe_n = \lambda_n e_n, \quad Ye_n = \xi_{n+1}e_{n+1} + \eta_n e_n + \xi_n e_{n-1}, \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots N;$$

on the other hand, with respect to the basis d_n , n = 0, 1, 2, ..., N, Y is diagonal and X is tridiagonal:

$$Yd_n = \mu_n d_n$$
, $Xd_n = a_{n+1}d_{n+1} + b_n d_n + a_n d_{n-1}$, $n = 0, 1, 2, \dots N$

where $a_n, \xi_n \neq 0, n = 0, 1, ..., N$, and $a_{N+1} = \xi_{N+1} = 0$. If there exist functions ω_n and polynomials $\psi_n(x), n = 0, 1, ..., N$, such that the following expansions hold

$$e_s = \sum_{n=0}^N \sqrt{\omega_s} \psi_n(\lambda_s) d_n, \quad d_n = \sum_{s=0}^N \sqrt{\omega_s} \psi_n(\lambda_s) e_s,$$

then $\psi_n(x)$ are orthonormal polynomials defined by the three-term recurrence relation

$$x\psi_n(x) = a_{n+1}\psi_{n+1}(x) + b_n\psi_n(x) + a_n\psi_{n-1}(x), \qquad (1.2.1)$$

where $\psi_{-1}(x) = 0, \psi_0(x) = 1$. These polynomials are orthonormal with respect to the weights ω_s

$$\sum_{s=0}^{N} \omega_s \psi_n(\lambda_s) \psi_m(\lambda_s) = \delta_{nm}. \tag{1.2.2}$$

For readers who are not familiar with the above discussions we would like to give some explanations on the calculations leading to (1.2.1) and (1.2.2). First, it follows from the expansion of e_s that

$$Xe_s = \sum_{n=0}^N \sqrt{\omega_s} \psi_n(\lambda_s) Xd_n = \sum_{n=0}^N \sqrt{\omega_s} \psi_n(\lambda_s) (a_{n+1}d_{n+1} + b_nd_n + a_nd_{n-1}),$$

while it also holds that

$$Xe_s = \lambda_s e_n = \sum_{n=0}^N \sqrt{\omega_s} \psi_n(\lambda_s) \lambda_s d_n.$$

By comparing the right-hand sides of these two equation one arrives (1.2.1). The orthogonality relation (1.2.2) follows directly from the expansions:

$$d_n = \sum_{s=0}^N \sqrt{\omega_s} \psi_n(\lambda_s) \sum_{m=0}^N \sqrt{\omega_s} \psi_m(\lambda_s) d_m = \sum_{m=0}^N \left(\sum_{s=0}^N \omega_s \psi_n(\lambda_s) \psi_m(\lambda_s) \right) d_m.$$

Again, if there exist functions $\tilde{\omega}_n$ and polynomials $\chi_n(x)$, n = 0, 1, ..., N, such that the (dual) expansions hold

$$d_s = \sum_{n=0}^N \sqrt{\tilde{\omega}_s} \chi_n(\mu_s) e_n, \quad e_n = \sum_{s=0}^N \sqrt{\tilde{\omega}_s} \chi_n(\mu_s) d_s$$

then the (dual) polynomials $\chi_n(x)$ are orthonormal defined by the three-term recurrence relation

$$x\chi_n(x) = \xi_{n+1}\chi_{n+1}(x) + \eta_n\chi_n(x) + \xi_n\chi_{n-1}(x), \qquad (1.2.3)$$

where $\chi_{-1}(x) = 0, \chi_0(x) = 1$. They are orthogonal with respect to (dual) weights $\tilde{\omega}_s$

$$\sum_{s=0}^{N} \tilde{\omega}_s \chi_n(\mu_s) \chi_m(\mu_s) = \delta_{nm}.$$
(1.2.4)

Moreover, comparison between the two types of expansions of e_n , d_n leads to the Leonard duality:

$$\sqrt{\omega_s}\psi_n(\lambda_s) = \sqrt{\tilde{\omega}_n}\chi_s(\mu_n). \tag{1.2.5}$$

If we multiply $\sqrt{\tilde{\omega}_n/\omega_s}$ in both sides of the recurrence relations (1.2.3) with *n* replaced by *s* and $x = \mu_n$

$$\mu_n \sqrt{\tilde{\omega}_n/\omega_s} \chi_s(\mu_n) = \xi_{s+1} \sqrt{\tilde{\omega}_n/\omega_s} \chi_{s+1}(\mu_n) + \eta_s \sqrt{\tilde{\omega}_n/\omega_s} \chi_s(\mu_n) + \xi_s \sqrt{\tilde{\omega}_n/\omega_s} \chi_{s-1}(\mu_n)$$

and then substitute the relation (1.2.5) into the above, it turns out that polynomials $\psi_n(x)$ satisfy the second-order difference equation

$$A(s)\left(\psi_n(\lambda_{s+1})-\psi_n(\lambda_s)\right)+B(s)\left(\psi_n(\lambda_{s-1})-\psi_n(\lambda_s)\right)+C(s)\psi_n(\lambda_s)=\mu_n\psi_n(\lambda_s)$$

where

$$A(s) = \xi_{s+1} \sqrt{\omega_{s+1}/\omega_s}, \quad B(s) = \xi_s \sqrt{\omega_{s-1}/\omega_s}, \quad C(s) = \eta_s + A(s) + B(s)$$

1.3 Algebraic representations

Bispectral pair is a generalization of Leonard pair. With the help of this concept, the polynomials in the (q-)Askey scheme are related with very elegant algebras, among which the most general one is the Askey-Wilson algebra (or Zhedanov algebra) [32, 87]. All the polynomials in the (q-)Askey scheme can be realized by this algebra or its degenerations. The Askey-Wilson (AW(3)) algebra is defined as the algebra with three generators X, Y and Z subject to the relations

$$[X,Y]_q = Z, (1.3.1a)$$

$$[Y,Z]_q = BX + A_1Y + C_1, \tag{1.3.1b}$$

$$[Z,X]_q = BX + A_2Y + C_2, \tag{1.3.1c}$$

where A_1, A_2, B, C_1, C_2 are complex constants, and $[X, Y]_q = XY - qYX$ is called *q*-mutator. Due to simple *q*-mutation relations its representations, spectra, overlaps and other properties can be obtained immediately [31]. Later, The Z_3 form of the AW(3) algebra was also found [85]:

$$[X,Y]_q = a_3Z + w_3, \quad [Y,Z]_q = a_1X + w_1, \quad [Z,X]_q = a_2Z + w_2$$

In case if $a_1a_2a_3 \neq 0$ it is possible to put $a_1 = a_2 = a_3 = 1$, then there are four independent parameters: $\omega_1, \omega_2, \omega_3$ and the value Q of the Casimir operator of this algebra. They correspond to the 4 parameters of Askey-Wilson polynomials.

When some parameters are zero then the Aksey-Wilson polynomials degenerate to other polynomials from the (q-)Askey scheme. For example, put q = -1, the algebra

 $\{X,Y\} = a_3Z + w_3, \quad \{Y,Z\} = a_1X + w_1, \quad \{Z,X\} = a_2Z + w_2,$

describes the Bannai-Ito polynomials (which will appear in Chapter 3) [3,79], where $\{X,Y\} = XY + YX$ is the anticommutator. In addition, if $a_1 = 0$ then the degeneration corresponds to big -1 Jacobi polynomials [84]. If $a_1 = \omega_1 = 0$ then the degeneration corresponds to little -1 Jacobi polynomials [82]. For more interesting results on the algebras related with COP one can refer to [5,21,30–32,75, 76,85,87].

1.4 Outline of thesis

The main purpose of this thesis is to deepen the understanding of classical orthogonal polynomials by studying their generalizations when dropping some restrictions on the degree sequence. Specifically, we consider the generalizations where the degree sequence of such an orthogonal polynomial system does not consist of all the nonnegative integers, i.e. gaps are allowed in their degree sequence.

This thesis unfolds as follows.

In chapter 2, we discuss about the electrostatic properties of zeros of exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials. We first give a brief review on the exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials. A powerful method in the construction of these exceptional polynomials is called the Darboux transformation. After introducing these concepts, we investigate a classical electrostatic problem related with the very classical orthogonal polynomials. This problem can be solved by deriving the configuration where the maximum value of a special energy function is obtained. We show that this energy function attains its maximum value at the zeros of some exceptional orthogonal polynomials under certain conditions.

In chapter 3, we construct an exceptional extension of the Bannai-Ito polynomials. In this construction, we generalize the Darboux transformation to a first-order Dunkl-type difference operator. From the generalized Darboux transformation we derive the exceptional Bannai-Ito operators which have polynomial eigenfunctions of all but a finite number of degrees. We also give more general results on the intertwining relations regarding the multiple-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator, and derived their eigenfunctions. A special class of eigenfunctions of the Bannai-Ito operator which are called the quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions are also important in the construction of the exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials. A quasi-polynomial eigenfunction consists of a gauge factor and a polynomial part. We show that there are 8 classes of gauge factors by comparing the coefficients of the conjugated Bannai-Ito polynomials and show that they are orthogonal with respect to a discrete measure on the exceptional Bannai-Ito grid. Interestingly enough, the degree sequences of the exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials demonstrate different rules compared with all the known 1-step XOPs. The positivity of the weight functions related to these 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials is also considered, and we provide several sufficient conditions with respect to certain parameters.

In chapter 4, we introduced and characterized orthogonal functions that we have called Dunklsupersymmetric. These functions are eigenfunctions of a class of Dunkl-type differential operators that can be cast within Supersymmetric Quantum Mechanics. This investigation has built and expanded upon the analysis in [65] where two examples had been studied. A significant feature of these orthogonal function families is that they do not involve polynomials of all degrees but are rather organized in pairs of polynomials both of the same degree (where the examples in terms of the Jacobi polynomials may be viewed as polynomials in another variable). The connection with Supersymmetric Quantum Mechanics has been exploited to obtain a number of Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions from exactly solvable problems. Informed by these results we could offer a general characterization of the DunklSUSY OPs and could exhibit as well their recurrence relations. It would be of interest to relate the families of OPs that have been obtained as q = -1 limits of q-orthogonal polynomials [51,79,82,84]. A challenging project for the future would be to undertake the study of multivariate supersymmetric polynomials.

In chapter 5, we give summary and plans of future works.

Chapter 2

Exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials and their electrostatic properties

2.1 Darboux transformation

The last decade has witnessed exciting developments in a new class of generalization of COP, which were given a kindly confusing name, the "exceptional" orthogonal polynomials (XOP). It is necessary to remark that the XOP are a generalization of the COP, since they have the latter as a special case. Here we say a polynomial $P_n(x)$ is of degree *n* if the highest degree of its variable is *n*. In most cases the XOP have "gaps" in their degree sequences, i.e. there are a finite number of missing degrees in their polynomial sequences (while the degree sequences of very COP are $\{0, 1, 2, ...\}$). Extensive interest have been devoted to many aspects of the theory of XOP. See, for instance, [25] for the introduction of the exceptional flag which gives birth to XOP, and [24, 26, 69, 77] for a systematic way of constructing XOP satisfying 2nd-order differential equations (or 2nd-order difference equations in [16–18]), as well as [23] for a complete classification of the (continuous) XOP.

In the construction of XOPs, the Darboux transformation (DT) plays an important role. It was further clarified that multiple-step or higher order DTs lead to XOPs labelled by multi-indices [27,29,59]. The 1-step (rational) DT was conducted on a 2nd-order differential operator $T = p(x)D_{xx} + q(x)D_x + r(x)$ and acts as $T \mapsto T^{(1)}$:

$$T = \mathscr{B} \circ \mathscr{A} + \lambda, \quad T^{(1)} = \mathscr{A} \circ \mathscr{B} + \lambda, \tag{2.1.1}$$

where \mathscr{A} , \mathscr{B} are 1st-order differential operators [26]. An immediate consequence of (2.1.1) can be derived as the following intertwining relations

$$\mathscr{A} \circ T = T^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{A}, \quad T \circ \mathscr{B} = \mathscr{B} \circ T^{(1)},$$

which imply that the eigenvalue problem $T[y] = \lambda y$ is equivalent to $T^{(1)}[y^{(1)}] = \lambda y^{(1)}$ where $y^{(1)} = \mathscr{A}[y]$. Thus with a well selected "seed solution" ϕ such that $T[\phi] = \mu \phi$ and $\mathscr{A}[\phi] = 0$, it simply deletes degrees in the eigenfunction sequence $\{y^{(1)}\}$ of the Darboux transformed operator $T^{(1)}$.

In the above we described a rough image of a 1-step (rational) DT. Let us introduce the basic knowledge about DT in more details adopting the notations of [23]. Given a second-order differential operator $T = p(x)\partial_x^2 + q(x)\partial_x + r(x)$, let $\phi(x)$ be an eigenfunctions of T such that

$$T[\phi](x) = \lambda \phi(x),$$

where p(x), q(x), r(x) are rational functions, λ is the corresponding eigenvalue.

Definition 2.1.1. A rational factorization of T is a relation of the form

$$T = BA + \lambda$$
,

where A, B are first-order differential operators. Given a rational factorization, we call the secondorder differential operator \hat{T} defined by

 $\hat{T} = AB + \lambda$

the partner operator of T and say that $T \mapsto \hat{T}$ is a rational Darboux transformation.

It is easy to see that T, \hat{T} are related by the following intertwining relations

$$AT = \hat{T}A, \quad TB = B\hat{T},$$

which imply that the eigenvalue equation $T[\phi] = \lambda \phi$ is equivalent to the eigenvalue equation $\hat{T}[\hat{\phi}] = \lambda \hat{\phi}$ where $\hat{\phi} = A[\phi]$. Specifically, we denote the first-order differential operators A, B by

$$A = b(\partial_x - u), \quad B = \hat{b}(\partial_x - \hat{u}),$$

where b, \hat{b}, u, \hat{u} are non-zero rational functions satisfying

$$\hat{b}b=p,\quad \hat{u}+u=-rac{q}{p}+rac{b'}{b},$$

and a Ricatti equation

$$p(u'+u^2)+qu+r=\lambda$$

From the definition of T, \hat{T} and the way they are being factorized, it follows immediately that:

Proposition 2.1.1. *Given two second-order differential operators* T, \hat{T} :

$$T = p\partial_x^2 + q\partial_x + r, \quad \hat{T} = \hat{p}\partial_x^2 + \hat{q}\partial_x + \hat{r},$$

if T, \hat{T} are related by a rational Darboux transformation, then their coefficients satisfy

$$\begin{split} \hat{p} &= p, \\ \hat{q} &= q + p' - \frac{2b'}{b}p, \\ \hat{r} &= r + q' + up' - \frac{b'}{b}(q + p') + \left(2\left(\frac{b'}{b}\right)^2 - \frac{b''}{b} + 2u'\right)p. \end{split}$$

If we let ϕ_0 be a solution of A[y] = 0, consequently, $u = \phi'_0/\phi_0$, then there exist a constant λ_0 such that

$$T = BA + \lambda_0, \quad T[\phi_0] = \lambda_0 \phi_0$$

which means that ϕ_0 is an eigenfunction of T with respect to the eigenvalue λ_0 . Let $\{\phi_{\alpha}\}_{\alpha \in \mathbb{I}}$ be the set of eigenfunctions of T such that

$$T[\phi_{\alpha}] = \lambda_{\alpha}\phi_{\alpha}, \quad \alpha \in \mathbb{I}$$

For the partner operator of T defined by $\hat{T} = AB + \lambda_0$, its eigenfunctions can be given by

$$\hat{\phi}_{\alpha} = \begin{cases} \frac{b}{p\omega\phi_0}, & \text{if } A[\phi_{\alpha}] = 0 \\ A[\phi_{\alpha}], & \text{otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(2.1.2)
(2.1.3)

where ω is given by $\omega = e^{\int \frac{q-p'}{p}}$. In fact, if $A[\phi_{\alpha}] = 0$, then

$$\hat{T}[\hat{\phi}_{lpha}]=AB[\hat{\phi}_{lpha}]+\lambda_0\hat{\phi}_{lpha}=\lambda_0\hat{\phi}_{lpha}$$

since $B[\hat{\phi}_{\alpha}] = 0$, and, if $A[\phi_{\alpha}] \neq 0$, then

$$\hat{T}[A[\phi_{\alpha}]] = ABA[\phi_{\alpha}] + \lambda_0 \hat{\phi}_{\alpha} = A[(\lambda_{\alpha} - \lambda_0)\phi_{\alpha}] + \lambda_0 \hat{\phi}_{\alpha} = \lambda_{\alpha} \hat{\phi}_{\alpha}.$$

Hence the rational Darboux transformation

$$(T, \{\phi_{\alpha}\}) \mapsto (\hat{T}, \{\hat{\phi_{\alpha}}\})$$

is an isospectral transformation:

$$\hat{T}[\hat{\phi}_{lpha}] = \lambda_{lpha} \hat{\phi}_{lpha}, \quad orall lpha \in \mathbb{I}.$$

Next we consider iterated rational Darboux transformations.

Definition 2.1.2. Let T, \hat{T} be second-order differential operators with rational coefficients. We say that T and \hat{T} are gauge-equivalent if there exist a complex-valued rational function σ such that

$$\sigma T = \hat{T} \sigma,$$

where σ is referred as the gauge-factor. And say that \hat{T} is Darboux connected to T if there exists a differential operator L such that

$$LT = TL.$$

In particular, gauge-equivalent operators are Darboux connected since they are related by a zerothorder intertwining relation. The relations between coefficients of gauge-equivalent operators T, \hat{T} can be obtained from straight-forward computations:

$$\begin{split} \hat{p} &= p, \\ \hat{q} &= q - \frac{2\sigma'}{\sigma}p, \\ \hat{r} &= r - \frac{\sigma'}{\sigma}q + \left(2\left(\frac{\sigma'}{\sigma}\right)^2 - \frac{\sigma''}{\sigma}\right)p. \end{split}$$

Proposition 2.1.2. Two second-order differential operators with rational coefficients T, \hat{T} are Darboux connected if and only if they are either gauge-equivalent, or they are connected by a factorization chain, i.e., there exist second-order differential operators T_i with $T_0 = T$ and $T_n = \hat{T}$ such that

$$T_i = B_i A_i + \lambda_i, \quad i = 0, 1, \dots, n-1$$
$$T_{i+1} = A_i B_i + \lambda_i,$$

where A_i, B_i are first-order differential opeartors, λ_i are constants, i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1.

In fact, the existence of factorization chain between T and \hat{T} can be demonstrated as the following sequence of eigenvalue equations which are indeed the iterated utilization of rational Darboux transformations

$$T[\phi_0] = T_0[\phi_0] = \lambda_0 \phi_0,$$

$$T_1[\phi_1] = \lambda_1 \phi_1, \quad T_1[\hat{\phi}_0] = \lambda_0 \hat{\phi}_0,$$

$$T_2[\phi_2] = \lambda_2 \phi_2, \quad T_2[\hat{\phi}_1] = \lambda_1 \hat{\phi}_1,$$

$$\vdots$$

$$\hat{T}[\phi_n] = T_n[\hat{\phi}_{n-1}] = \lambda_{n-1} \hat{\phi}_{n-1}.$$

For simplicity of computation, here we assume that $\lambda_0, \lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_{n-1}$ are distinct numbers. First, we find a seed solution of $T_0[\phi^{(0)}] = \lambda^{(0)}\phi^{(0)}$ ($\lambda^{(0)} \neq \lambda_0$), let $A_0 = b_0(\partial_x - \phi'^{(0)}/\phi^{(0)})$. Notice that $A_0[\phi_0] \neq 0$, denote $\hat{\phi}_0 = A_0[\phi_0]$ then we get $T_1[\hat{\phi}_0] = \lambda_0\hat{\phi}_0$. Let $A_1 = b_1(\partial_x - \hat{\phi}'_0/\hat{\phi}_0)$, $A_1[\phi_1] \neq 0$ and $\hat{\phi}_1 = A_1[\phi_1] = b_1(\phi'_1 - \phi_1\hat{\phi}'_0/\hat{\phi}_0) = b_1 \operatorname{Wr}[\hat{\phi}_0, \phi_1]/\hat{\phi}_0$, here Wr represents the Wronskian type determinant. In the same way we will find that $A_2 = b_2(\partial_x - \hat{\phi}'_1/\hat{\phi}_1)$ and $\hat{\phi}_2 = A_2[\phi_2] = b_2(\phi'_2 - \phi_2\hat{\phi}'_1/\hat{\phi}_1) = b_2 \operatorname{Wr}[\hat{\phi}_1, \phi_2]/\hat{\phi}_1$. Continue this procedure, it turns out that

$$\hat{\phi}_{n-1} = \frac{b_{n-1}}{\hat{\phi}_{n-2}} \operatorname{Wr}[\hat{\phi}_{n-2}, \phi_{n-1}].$$

In the case where $b_0 = b_1 = \cdots = b_{n-1} = 1$, it follows inductively

$$\hat{\phi}_{n-1} = \frac{\operatorname{Wr}[\phi^{(0)}, \phi^{(1)}, \dots, \phi^{(n-1)}, \phi^{(n)}]}{\operatorname{Wr}[\phi^{(0)}, \phi^{(1)}, \dots, \phi^{(n-1)}]},$$

here $\phi^{(i)}$, i = 0, 1, ..., n are different eigenfunctions of T_0 .

Till now we have shown how exceptional polynomial sequence can be obtained by a rational Darboux transformation and iterated rational Darboux transformations. The operator related to exceptional polynomial sequences are called the exceptional operators.

Definition 2.1.3. A second-order differential operator T is exceptional if T has polynomial eigenfunctions for all but finitely many degrees. Specifically, there exists a finite set of natural numbers $\{k_1, \ldots, k_m\} \subset \mathbb{N}$ such that for all $k \notin \{k_1, \ldots, k_m\}$, there exists a polynomial y_k of degree k satisfying the following eigenvalue equation:

$$T[y_k] = \lambda_k y_k, \quad \lambda_k \in \mathbb{C},$$

while no such polynomials exists if $k \in \{k_1, ..., k_m\}$. Such a polynomial system is called the exceptional orthogonal polynomial system, where $k_1, ..., k_m$ are the exceptional degrees, and m is the codimension.

The following theorem implies that every exceptional operator is Darboux connected to a classical operator.

Theorem 2.1.1 (M. García-Ferrero, D. Gómez-Ullate and R. Milson [23]). *Every exceptional orthogonal polynomial system can be obtained by applying a finite sequence of Darboux transformations to a classical orthogonal polynomial system.*

Note that this theorem was only proved for the "very classical orthogonal polynomials" (the Hermite, Laguerre and Jacobi polynomials), it may not hold true for all the COP but still has great instructions for deriving exceptional extensions of COP.

2.2 Exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials

In this section we will introduce the definition and properties of exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials. First, we quickly review some properties of the very classical orthogonal polynomials. The eigenvalue equation of the very classical orthogonal polynomials can be rewritten as the well known Sturm-Liouville type equation

$$(P(x)y'(x))' + R(x)y(x) = \lambda \omega(x)y(x),$$

where $P(x) = \omega(x)p(x)$, $R(x) = \omega(x)r(x)$. The weight function $\omega(x)$ satisfies the Pearson equation

$$(p(x)w(x))' = q(x)w(x)$$
 (2.2.1)

and the conditions

$$p(x)w(x)x^{k} = 0, \quad k \in \mathbb{N}$$

$$(2.2.2)$$

on the boundary of the interval *I*.

Denote \mathscr{P} the ring of polynomials. Let us introduce the definition of the exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials [23].

Definition 2.2.1. (Exceptional orthogonal polynomials)

A sequence of polynomials $\{y_k(x)\}_{k\in\mathbb{N}/\{k_1,\cdots,k_m\}}$ is called a sequence of exceptional orthogonal polynomials if

- (1) the y_k 's are the eigenfunctions of a second-order differential operator T, $T = p\partial_x^2 + q\partial_x + r$, where p, q, r are rational functions on x;
- (2) there is an open interval $I \in \mathbb{R}$ such that
 - (1-a) the associated weight function w(x), as given in (2.2.1), is single valued, and integrable on I, and moreover,
 - (1-b) all moments are finite, i.e.

$$\int_I x^j \omega(x) dx < \infty, \quad j \in \mathbb{N}/\{k_1, \cdots, k_m\};$$

- (1-b) $y(x)p(x)\omega(x) \to 0$ at the endpoints of I for every polynomial $y \in \mathscr{P}$.
- (3) the vector space span $\{y_k : k \notin \{k_1, \dots, k_m\}\}$ is dense in the weighted Hilbert space $L^2(\omega(x)dx, I)$.

The weight functions associated with these exceptional polynomials turn out to the those of the classical ones over the square of a polynomial [23].

Theorem 2.2.1. *The weight function* $\omega(x)$ *of XOP has the form*

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(x) = \frac{\boldsymbol{\omega}(x)}{\boldsymbol{\eta}^2(x)},$$

where $\eta(x)$ is a real-valued polynomial which is non-vanishing on I, $\omega(x)$ is the weight function of a classical orthogonal polynomial system.

Remark 2.2.1. Note that all the zeros of $\eta(x)$ lie outside I by assumption (2) in the Definition 2.2.1. If an exceptional orthogonal polynomial system has polynomials for all degrees (i.e. m = 0), then it defines a classical orthogonal polynomial system, which up to an affine transformation must be Hermite, Laguerre or Jacobi polynomials.

Specifically, the second-order differential equations satisfied by the three types exceptional orthogonal polynomials are given by [16–18]

$$H_{n}''(x) - 2\left(x + \frac{\eta_{H}'(x)}{\eta_{H}(x)}\right)H_{n}'(x) + \left(\frac{\eta_{H}''(x)}{\eta_{H}(x)} + 2x\frac{\eta_{H}'(x)}{\eta_{H}(x)} + 2n - 2k - 2u_{\mathscr{F}}^{H}\right)H_{n}(x) = 0, \qquad (2.2.3)$$

$$xL_{n}''(x) + \left(\alpha + k' + 1 - x - 2x\frac{\eta_{L}'(x)}{\eta_{L}(x)}\right)L_{n}'(x) + \left(x\frac{\eta_{L}''(x)}{\eta_{L}(x)} + (x - \alpha - k')\frac{\eta_{L}'(x)}{\eta_{L}(x)} + n - k_{1} - u_{\mathscr{F}}^{L}\right)L_{n}(x) = 0, \quad \alpha > -1, k' > 0,$$
(2.2.4)

$$(1 - x^{2})P_{n}''(x) + \left(\beta - \alpha - 2k_{2}' - (\alpha + \beta + 2k_{1}' + 2)x - 2(1 - x^{2})\frac{\eta_{J}'(x)}{\eta_{J}(x)}\right)P_{n}'(x) + \left((1 - x^{2})\frac{\eta_{L}''(x)}{\eta_{L}(x)} + \left[\alpha - \beta + 2k_{2}' + (2k_{1}' + \alpha + \beta)x\right]\frac{\eta_{J}'(x)}{\eta_{J}(x)} + \lambda(n - u_{\mathscr{F}}^{J}) - \lambda(k_{1}')\right)P_{n}(x) = 0, \alpha, \beta > -1, k_{1}' + k_{2}' > 0,$$

$$(2.2.5)$$

where $H_n(x)$, $L_n(x)$, $P_n(x)$ denote exceptional Hermite, Laguerre, Jacobi polynomials of degree *n*, respectively. $\eta_H(x)$, $\eta_L(x)$, $\eta_J(x)$ are polynomials whose degrees coincide with the codimension of the related XOPS, α , β , *k*, *k'*, k_1 , k'_1 , k'_2 , $u^H_{\mathscr{F}}$, $u^J_{\mathscr{F}}$ are certain constants and $\lambda(x)$ is a real-valued function, we shall omit the details about these functions and constants here for the convenience of discussion.

2.3 Stieltjes-Calogero type relations

There are many literatures considering the Stieltjes-Calogero type relations for zeros of orthogonal polynomials, the most famous result among which was obtained by T. J. Stieltjes [73] as follow

$$\sum_{k=1,k\neq j}^n \frac{1}{x_j - x_k} = x_j$$

where x_1, x_2, \dots, x_n are zeros of Hermite polynomial of degree *n*. Stieltjes noted that this result implies an appealing interpretation of the location of zeros of Hermite polynomials as equilibrium positions of a simple one-dimensional n-particle problem. Moreover, He obtained similar relations for zeros of Laguerre and Jacobi polynomials thereafter. Interest in such kind of relations was revived by the work of Calogero and co-workers on integrable many-body systems [1, 8, 9]. Since then substantial efforts have been made on finding the Stieltjes-Calogero type relations for the purpose of revealing the relationship between zeros of polynomial systems and certain many-body systems.

To the best of the author's knowledge, the existing most generic method of obtaining this kind of relations was described in [67]. We apply this method to give some nontrivial results in the proceeding part. Let

$$S_{m,j} := \sum_{k=1,k\neq j}^{n} \frac{1}{(x_j - x_k)^m},$$

if it satisfies that

$$\sum_{k=1,k\neq j}^{n} \frac{1}{(x_j - x_k)^m} = f(x_j),$$

where $f(x_j)$ is a rational function about x_j , then the above formula is called a Stieltjes-Calogero type relation.

Consider an *n*-th order differential equation,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n} A_i(x) y^{(n-i)}(x) = f(x),$$
(2.3.1)

where $A_i(x)$ and f(x) belong to $C^{\infty}(-\infty,\infty)$. Suppose that (2.6) has a monic polynomial solution y(x) with simple roots:

$$y(x) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} (x - x_i),$$

then let $y_j(x)$ be defined as $y(x) = (x - x_j)y_j(x)$, i.e.

$$y_j(x) = \prod_{i=1, i\neq j}^n (x - x_i).$$

It follows that

$$y^{(r)}(x_j) = ry_j^{(r-1)}(x_j), \ r \ge 1,$$

so that (2.3.1) becomes, after division by y'(x) and evaluation at $x = x_j$,

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} (n-i)A_i(x_j) \frac{y_j^{(n-i-1)}(x_j)}{y_j(x_j)} = \frac{f(x_j)}{y'(x_j)}.$$
(2.3.2)

 $S_{1,j}$ can easily be obtained by observing the right hand side of the following formula

$$S_{1,j} = \frac{y'_j(x)}{y_j(x)}\Big|_{x=x_j}$$

thus the other terms immediately follow by differentiating at $x = x_j$

$$\left(\frac{y'_j(x)}{y_j(x)}\right)^{(s)}\Big|_{x=x_j} = (-1)^s s! S_{s+1,j}, \ s = 0, 1, 2, \cdots.$$

In light of the above formula $S_{r,j}(r = 2, 3, \dots)$ can be derived by analyzing a new function $Z_r(x)$

$$Z_r(x) := \frac{y_j^{(r)}(x)}{y_j(x)}$$

where $Z_r(x)$ satisfies a recurrence relation

$$Z_{r+1}(x) = Z'_r(x) + Z_1(x)Z_r(x),$$

and the initial condition

$$Z_1(x_j) = S_{1,j}.$$

Immediately we can rewrite (2.3.2) as

$$\sum_{i=0}^{n-1} (n-i)A_i(x_j)Z_{n-i-1}(x_j) = \frac{f(x_j)}{y'(x_j)}.$$
(2.3.3)

In the case of exceptional orthogonal polynomials, a second-order differential equation with rational coefficients was satisfied

$$p(x)y''(x) + q(x)y'(x) + r(x)y(x) = \lambda y(x),$$
(2.3.4)

one can easily obtain

$$S_{1,j} = -\frac{q(x_j)}{2p(x_j)},$$
(2.3.5)

$$S_{2,j} = \frac{2[p'(x_j) + q(x_j)]S_{1,j} + [q'(x_j) + r(x_j)]}{3p(x_j)} + S_{1,j}^2,$$
(2.3.6)

$$S_{3,j} = -\frac{1}{8p(x_j)} \left\{ 3[2p'(x_j) + q(x_j)][S_{1,j}^2 - S_{2,j}] + 2[p''(x_j) + 2q'(x_j) + r(x_j)]S_{1,j} \right\} + \frac{3}{2}S_{1,j}S_{2,j} - \frac{1}{2}S_{1,j}^3,$$
(2.3.7)

and $S_{4,j}$, $S_{5,j}$, \cdots , by inductively calculating $Z_r(x)$, $r = 2, 3, \cdots$, and differentiating on both sides of (2.3.4).

Making use of the above method, we obtain the following properties on the zeros of exceptional orthogonal polynomials according to the second-order differential equations (2.2.3), (2.2.4) and (2.2.5).

Let x_1, \dots, x_n denote the *n* zeros of the exceptional Hermite polynomial of degree *n*, then the Stieltjes-Calogero type relations of x_1, \dots, x_n follow

$$\begin{split} S_{1,j} &= x_j + \frac{\eta'_H(x_j)}{\eta_H(x_j)}, \\ S_{2,j} &= \frac{2}{3}(n-1-k-u_{\mathscr{F}}^H) - \frac{1}{3} \left[x_j^2 + \frac{\eta''_H(x_j)}{\eta_H(x_j)} - \left(\frac{\eta'_H(x_j)}{\eta_H(x_j)}\right)^2 \right], \\ S_{3,j} &= \frac{1}{2} x_j. \end{split}$$

Let x_1, \dots, x_n denote the *n* zeros of the exceptional Laguerre polynomial of degree *n*, then the Stieltjes-Calogero type relations of x_1, \dots, x_n follow

$$\begin{split} S_{1,j} &= -\frac{\alpha + 1 + k' - x_j}{2x_j} + \frac{\eta'_L(x_j)}{\eta_L(x_j)}, \\ S_{2,j} &= -\frac{1}{12} \left\{ \frac{(\alpha + 1 + k')(\alpha + 5 + k')}{x_j^2} - \frac{2(2n + \alpha + 1 + k' - 2k'_1 - 2u_{\mathscr{F}}^L + 2\frac{\eta'_L(x_j)}{\eta_L(x_j)})}{x_j} + 1 + 4\frac{\eta''_L(x_j)}{\eta_L(x_j)} - 4\left(\frac{\eta'_L(x_j)}{\eta_L(x_j)}\right)^2 \right\}. \end{split}$$

Let x_1, \dots, x_n denote the *n* zeros of the exceptional Jacobi polynomial of degree *n*, then the Stieltjes-Calogero type relations of x_1, \dots, x_n follow

$$S_{1,j} = -\frac{\alpha - \beta + 2k'_2 + (\alpha + \beta + 2 + 2k'_1)x_j}{2(1 - x_j^2)} + \frac{\eta'_J(x_j)}{\eta_J(x_j)}.$$

Remark 2.3.1. Only the first several terms of these relations are listed here, the other terms, which tend to be more complicated (although some special terms may have elegant forms like $S_{3,j}$ for the zeros of exceptional Hermite polynomials), can be easily computed using this method. Notice that in the case of classical orthogonal polynomials all the terms containing k, k', k_1 , k'_1 , k'_2 , $u^a_{\mathscr{F}}$, $\eta'_a(x_j)/\eta_a(x_j)$ and $\eta''_a(x_j)/\eta_a(x_j)$ (a = H, L, J) disappear automatically.

2.4 The electrostatic properties of zeros of the exceptional extensions of the very classical polynomials

The zeros of the exceptional extensions of the very classical polynomials can be divided into two groups: regular zeros which lie in the domain of orthogonality, and exceptional zeros (usually complex) which lie in the exterior of the domain. A conjecture considering the location of zeros of these exceptional orthogonal polynomials was drafted as follow:

Conjection 2.4.1 (A. B. Kuijlaars and R. Milson, [49]). The regular zeros of exceptional orthogonal polynomials have the same asymptotic behavior as the zeros of their classical counterpart. The exceptional zeros converge to the zeros of the denominator polynomial $\eta(x)$.

Moreover, properties like the location and asymptotic behavior of zeros of exceptional Hermite polynomials are described by A. B. Kuijlaars and R. Milson [49], of exceptional Laguerre and Jacobi

polynomials by C. L. Ho, R. Sasaki [36] and D. Gómez-Ullate, M. García-Ferrero, R. Milson [28]. It concludes that the zeros of exceptional orthogonal polynomials usually share similar properties as their classical counterparts, especially for the regular zeros.

Below we revisit an energy problem by making use of properties of exceptional orthogonal polynomials. Considering the maximum of the following energy function

$$T_{\omega}(x_1, \cdots, x_n) = \prod_{j=1}^n \omega(x_j) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} |x_i - x_j|^2,$$
(2.4.1)

where the *n* points x_1, \dots, x_n lie on a compact set *E*. In the case of $\omega(x) = 1$, I. Schur showed that the maximum of T_{ω} is obtained at the zeros of certain orthogonal polynomials [70]. If $\omega(x)$ takes a classical weight, namely with Hermite weight $\omega(x) = e^{-x^2}$, with Laguerre weights $\omega_{\alpha}(x) = x^{\alpha}e^{-x}$, with Jacobi weights $\omega_{\alpha,\beta}(x) = (1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta}$, then the maximum of T_{ω} is attained at the zeros of orthogonal polynomials corresponding to ω , $\omega_{\alpha-1}$, $\omega_{\alpha-1,\beta-1}$, respectively [37]. Results for the zeros of general orthogonal polynomials can be found in [40]. In addition, Á. P. Horváth proved that the set of regular zeros of exceptional Hermite polynomials is the solution of the maximum problem with respect to the weight $\hat{\omega}(x)P_m^2(x)$, where $\hat{\omega}(x)$ is the weight of exceptional Hermite polynomials, $P_m(x)$ is a polynomial whose zeros are the exceptional zeros of an exceptional Hermite polynomial of codimension *m* [38]. Similar results have also been reported in the cases of the so-called X_m -Laguerre polynomials and X_m -Jacobi polynomials [39].

Remark 2.4.1. As is pointed out in [40], T_{ω} is called an energy function in light of its potential theoretic background. In fact, taking the logarithm in (1.1), the maximization problem of (1.1) is equivalent to the minimization problem of the following function

$$-\ln(T_{\omega}) = \sum_{j=1}^{n} \ln \frac{1}{\omega(x_i)} + \sum_{1 \le i < j \le n} \ln \frac{1}{|x_i - x_j|^2}.$$

The second summation in the right-hand side can be interpreted as the energy of a system of n likecharged particles located at the points $\{x_i\}_{i=1}^n$, where the repelling force between two particles is proportional to the reciprocal of the square of the distance between them. The first summation refers to the total external potential of this system. Thus, $-\ln(T_{\omega})$ is the total energy of this n-particle system.

In what follows, we investigate the maximum of the energy function (2.4.1) with respect to $\omega(x) = \hat{\omega}(x)p(x)$, where p(x) is the coefficient of the following second-order differential equation satisfied by the exceptional orthogonal polynomials with respect to $\hat{\omega}(x)$

$$p(x)y''(x) + q(x)y'(x) + r(x)y(x) = \lambda y(x), \qquad (2.4.2)$$

the prime denotes derivative with respect to x, y'(x) = dy(x)/dx.

Before proving the main result of this section we shall introduce some lemmas.

Lemma 2.4.1. An Hermitian strictly diagonally dominant matrix with real positive diagonal entries is positive definite.

Proof. Let *A* denote an Hermitian strictly diagonally dominant matrix with real positive diagonal entries, then it follows from the Gershgorin circle theorem that all the eigenvalues of *A* are positive, which implies that *A* is positive definite. \Box

Lemma 2.4.2 (Uniqueness of the maximum point of T_{ω}). Let $\omega(x)$ be a non-nagative, continuous weight on $I \subset \mathbb{R}$ such that $\ln \omega(x)$ is concave, i.e. $(\ln \omega(x))'' \leq 0$, $\forall x \in I$, then the maximum point of T_{ω} is unique.

Proof. Assume that $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^n$ and $\{b_i\}_{i=1}^n$ are maximum points of T_{ω} enumerated in increasing order, let $c_i = (a_i + b_i)/2$. We consider the value of T_{ω} at the point $\{c_i\}_{i=1}^n$. Rewrite T_{ω} as

$$T_{\omega}(x_1, \cdots, x_n) = \prod_{j=1}^n \omega(x_j) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} |x_i - x_j|^2 = \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} |x_i - x_j|^2 [\omega(x_i)\omega(x_j)]^{\frac{4}{n(n-1)}},$$

then because of the ordering of the points $\{a_i\}_{i=1}^n, \{b_i\}_{i=1}^n$ and the log-concavity of $\omega(x)$, we have

$$\ln\left(|c_{i}-c_{j}|^{2}(\omega(c_{i})\omega(c_{j}))^{\frac{4}{n(n-1)}}\right) = \ln|c_{i}-c_{j}|^{2} + \frac{4}{n(n-1)}\left(\ln\omega(c_{i}) + \ln\omega(c_{j})\right)$$
$$= \ln\left(|\frac{a_{i}-a_{j}}{2}| + |\frac{b_{i}-b_{j}}{2}|\right)^{2} + \frac{4}{n(n-1)}\left[\ln\omega(\frac{a_{i}+b_{i}}{2}) + \ln\omega(\frac{a_{j}+b_{j}}{2})\right]$$
$$\geq \ln|a_{i}-a_{j}||b_{i}-b_{j}| + \frac{2}{n(n-1)}\left(\ln\omega(a_{i}) + \ln\omega(b_{i}) + \ln\omega(a_{j}) + \ln\omega(b_{j})\right)$$
$$= \frac{1}{2}\ln\left(|a_{i}-a_{j}|^{2}(\omega(a_{i})\omega(a_{j}))^{\frac{4}{n(n-1)}}\right) + \frac{1}{2}\ln\left(|b_{i}-b_{j}|^{2}(\omega(b_{i})\omega(b_{j}))^{\frac{4}{n(n-1)}}\right)$$

where the arithmetic-geometric mean inequality was used, and the equality holds if and only if $a_i = b_i$, $i = 1, \dots, n$, which establishes the uniqueness.

As pointed out in [81], Stieltjes showed that (when $\omega(x)$ is a classical weight) $-\ln T_{\omega}(x_1, \dots, x_n)$ attains a minimum when x_1, \dots, x_n are the zeros of the corresponding classical orthogonal polynomial. However, Stieljes did not explicitly show that this position is a minimum (even though he explicitly mentions that it is a minimum). Here we reformulate these results as the following theorem and give an explicit proof.

Theorem 2.4.1. Let $\omega(x) = \hat{\omega}(x)p(x)$, where $\hat{\omega}(x)$ takes a classical weight, p(x) is the coefficient in (2.4.2), namely, $\omega(x) = e^{-x^2}$ for Hermite polynomials, or $\omega(x) = x \cdot x^{\alpha} e^{-x}$ for Laguerre polynomials, or $\omega(x) = (1 - x^2) \cdot (1 - x)^{\alpha} (1 + x)^{\beta}$ for Jacobi polynomials. Then in the domain I with respect to $\hat{\omega}(x)$, the energy function T_{ω} attains its maximum at the set of zeros of the corresponding orthogonal polynomials.

Proof. Let x_1, \dots, x_n denote the zeros of a classical orthogonal polynomial of degree *n* with respect to the weight $\hat{\omega}(x)$ (with $\eta(x) = 1$). By differentiating $\ln T_{\omega}(y_1, \dots, y_n)$ in $y_i, i = 1, 2, \dots, n$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \ln T_{\omega}(y_1, \cdots, y_n)}{\partial y_i} &= \left(\frac{\omega'}{\omega}\right)(y_i) + \sum_{k=1, k \neq i}^n \frac{2}{y_i - y_k}, \\ &= \frac{\hat{\omega}'(y_i)}{\hat{\omega}(y_i)} + \frac{p'(y_i)}{p(y_i)} + \sum_{k=1, k \neq i}^n \frac{2}{y_i - y_k}, \end{aligned}$$

It follows from Pearson equation (2.2.1) and the Stieltjes-Calogero type relation (2.3.5) that

$$\frac{\hat{\omega}'(x)}{\hat{\omega}(x)} + \frac{p'(x)}{p(x)} = \frac{q(x)}{p(x)}, \quad S_{1,i} = \sum_{k=1, k \neq i}^n \frac{1}{x_i - x_k} = -\frac{q(x_i)}{2p(x_i)}.$$

which imply that

$$\frac{\partial \ln T_{\omega}(x_1,\cdots,x_n)}{\partial x_i}=0.$$

Thus, $X = (x_1, \dots, x_n)$ is a critical point of the energy function T_{ω} , which means T_{ω} has a local extremum at *X*. Next we consider the Hessian matrix *H* of $(-\ln T_{\omega})$, if *H* is positive definite at *X*, then T_{ω} has a local maximum at *X*. The off-diagonal and diagonal elements of *H* are given by

$$\begin{split} H_{ij} &= \frac{\partial^2 (-\ln(T_{\omega}(y_1, \cdots, y_n)))}{\partial y_i \partial y_j} = -\frac{2}{(y_i - y_j)^2}, \quad i \neq j \\ H_{ii} &= \frac{\partial^2 (-\ln(T_{\omega}(y_1, \cdots, y_n)))}{\partial y_i^2} = (-\frac{\omega'}{\omega})'(y_i) + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n \frac{2}{(y_i - y_j)^2} \\ &= \frac{q(y_i)p'(y_i) - p(y_i)q'(y_i)}{p(y_i)^2} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n \frac{2}{(y_i - y_j)^2}. \end{split}$$

Since q(x)p'(x) - p(x)q'(x) > 0, $\forall x \in \mathbb{R}$, it follows that *H* is Hermitian, strictly diagonally dominant, and has real positive diagonal entries, thus *H* is positive definite. This means that T_{ω} has a maximum value at the point (x_1, \dots, x_n) . In fact, q(x)p'(x) - p(x)q'(x) > 0 is always true in the case of classical orthogonal polynomials. Denote the left hand side of the inequality by F(x). For Hermite polynomials, p(x) = 1, q(x) = -2x, F(x) = 2 > 0; for Laguerre polynomials, $p(x) = x, q(x) = \alpha + 1 - x$, $F(x) = \alpha + 1 > 0$ (since $\alpha > -1$); for Jacobi polynomials, $p(x) = 1 - x^2, q(x) = \beta - \alpha - (\alpha + \beta + 2)x$, $F(x) = (\alpha + \beta + 2)(1 + x^2) - (\beta - \alpha)2x > 0$ (since $\alpha, \beta > -1$).

The uniqueness of the maximum point follows from the fact that each weight $\omega(x)$ is log-concave in the related domain *I*. Moreover, T_{ω} tends to zero at the boundary of the domain related to $\hat{\omega}(x)$, thus it attains a unique maximum at (x_1, \dots, x_n) .

Note that the zeros of classical orthogonal polynomials are all real, simple and distinct [74, chapter 6.2], which guarantees that T_{ω} dose not vanish at these zeros. However, the exceptional orthogonal polynomials have complex zeros and were conjectured to have simple zeros except possibly for the zeros at z = 0 [49]. Here we assume an exceptional orthogonal polynomial $P_{n+m}(z)$ of degree n+m has n+m simple zeros , and we denote the set consisting of these zeros by

$$Z = \{z_1, \cdots, z_n, z_{n+1}, \cdots, z_{n+m}\}$$

where $z_1 = x_1, \dots, z_n = x_n$ are the *n* real zeros and $z_{n+1} = x_{n+1} + i\mu_1, \dots, z_{n+m} = x_{n+m} + i\mu_m$ are the *m* complex zeros. Here we consider the function $T_{\omega}(Y) := T_{\omega}(y_1, \dots, y_n, y_{n+1} + i\mu_1, \dots, y_{n+m} + i\mu_m)$ with n + m real variables. $T_{\omega}(Y)$ is a complex-valued function as long as $m \ge 1$, so we check the maximum value of $|T_{\omega}(Y)|^2 = T_{\omega}(Y)\overline{T_{\omega}(Y)}$ instead. First, rewrite $T_{\omega}(Y)$ as

$$T_{\omega}(Y) = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \omega(y_i) \cdot \prod_{j=1}^{m} \omega(y_{n+j} + i\mu_j) \cdot \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} |y_i - y_j|^2 \cdot \prod_{1 \le k < l \le m} |y_{n+k} + i\mu_k - (y_{n+l} + i\mu_l)|^2$$
$$\cdot \prod_{\substack{1 \le s \le n \\ 1 \le t \le m}} |y_s - (y_{n+t} + i\mu_t)|^2,$$

then we have

$$T_{\omega}(Y)|^{2} = \prod_{i=1}^{n} \omega^{2}(y_{i}) \cdot \prod_{j=1}^{m} \omega(y_{n+j} + i\mu_{j}) \omega(y_{n+j} - i\mu_{j}) \cdot \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} |y_{i} - y_{j}|^{4}$$
$$\cdot \prod_{1 \le k < l \le m} |(y_{n+k} - y_{n+l})^{2} + (\mu_{k} - \mu_{l})^{2}|^{2} \cdot \prod_{\substack{1 \le s \le n \\ 1 \le t \le m}} |(y_{s} - y_{n+t})^{2} + \mu_{t}^{2})|^{2}.$$

For $1 \le i \le n$, we have

$$\frac{\partial \overline{\ln} |\overline{T}_{\omega}(Y)|^2}{\partial y_i} = 2 \frac{\omega'(y_i)}{\omega(y_i)} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n \frac{4}{y_i - y_j} + \sum_{t=1}^m \frac{4(y_i - y_{n+t})}{(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2},$$
$$= 2 \frac{\omega'(y_i)}{\omega(y_i)} + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n \frac{4}{y_i - y_j} + \sum_{t=1}^m \frac{4}{y_i - (y_{n+t} + i\mu_t)} - \sum_{t=1}^m \frac{4i\mu_t}{(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2}.$$

Notice that the sum of the first three terms on the right-hand side of the last equation equals 0 at the point (x_1, \dots, x_{n+m}) due to (2.2.1) and (2.3.4). This together with the fact that the left-hand side of the above equations is real implies that

$$\sum_{t=1}^{m} \frac{\mu_t}{(x_i - x_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2} = 0.$$
(2.4.3)

For $n + 1 \le i \le n + m$, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \frac{\partial \ln |T_{\omega}(Y)|^2}{\partial y_i} &= \frac{\omega'(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})} + \frac{\omega'(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})} + \sum_{l=1, l \neq i-n}^m \frac{4(y_i - y_{n+l})}{(y_i - y_{n+l})^2 + (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)^2} + \sum_{s=1}^n \frac{4(y_i - y_s)}{(y_i - y_s)^2 + \mu_{i-n}^2} \\ &= 2\frac{\omega'(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})} + \sum_{l=1, l \neq i-n}^m \frac{4}{(y_i + i\mu_{i-n}) - (y_{n+l} + i\mu_l)} + \sum_{s=1}^n \frac{4}{(y_i - i\mu_{i-n}) - y_s} \\ &+ \frac{\omega'(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})} - \frac{\omega'(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})} + \sum_{l=1, l \neq i-n}^m \frac{4i(\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)}{(y_i - y_{n+l})^2 + (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)^2} + \sum_{s=1}^n \frac{4i\mu_{i-n}}{(y_i - y_s)^2 + \mu_{i-n}^2}. \end{aligned}$$

Again, we find that the sum of the first three terms on the right-hand side of the last equation equals 0 at the point (x_1, \dots, x_{n+m}) , thus implies

$$\frac{\omega'(x_{i}-i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(x_{i}-i\mu_{i-n})} - \frac{\omega'(x_{i}+i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(x_{i}+i\mu_{i-n})} + \sum_{l=1, l\neq i-n}^{m} \frac{4i(\mu_{i-n}-\mu_{l})}{(x_{i}-x_{n+l})^{2} + (\mu_{i-n}-\mu_{l})^{2}} + \sum_{s=1}^{n} \frac{4i\mu_{i-n}}{(x_{i}-x_{s})^{2} + \mu_{i-n}^{2}} = 0.$$
(2.4.4)

Therefore we have shown that (x_1, \dots, x_{n+m}) is a critical point of $|T_{\omega}(Y)|^2$. The Hessian matrix H of $(-\ln |T_{\omega}(Y)|^2)$ has four types off-diagonal elements and two types diagonal elements:

$$\begin{split} H_{ij} &= -\frac{4}{(y_i - y_j)^2}, \quad 1 \le i \le n, 1 \le j \le n, i \ne j, \\ H_{ij} &= -\frac{4[(y_i - y_j)^2 - \mu_{j-n}^2]}{[(y_i - y_j)^2 + \mu_{j-n}^2]^2}, \quad 1 \le i \le n, n+1 \le j \le n+m, \\ H_{ij} &= -\frac{4[(y_i - y_j)^2 - \mu_{i-n}^2]}{[(y_i - y_j)^2 + \mu_{i-n}^2]^2}, \quad n+1 \le i \le n+m, 1 \le j \le n, \\ H_{ij} &= -\frac{4[(y_i - y_j)^2 - (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_{j-n})^2]}{[(y_i - y_j)^2 + (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_{j-n})^2]^2}, \quad n+1 \le i \le n+m, n+1 \le j \le n+m, i \ne j, \end{split}$$

and

$$\begin{split} H_{ii} &= \left(-\frac{2\omega'(y_i)}{\omega(y_i)} \right)' + \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^n \frac{4}{(y_i - y_j)^2} + \sum_{t=1}^m \frac{4[(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 - \mu_t^2]}{[(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2]^2}, \quad 1 \le i \le n, \\ H_{ii} &= \left(-\frac{\omega'(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})} \right)' + \left(-\frac{\omega'(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})} \right)' + \sum_{l=1, l \neq i}^m \frac{4[(y_i - y_{n+l})^2 - (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)^2]}{[(y_i - y_{n+l})^2 + (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)^2]^2} \\ &+ \sum_{s=1}^n \frac{4[(y_i - y_s)^2 - \mu_{i-n}^2]}{[(y_i - y_s)^2 + \mu_{i-n}^2]^2}, \quad n+1 \le i \le n+m. \end{split}$$

In order to find the condition for H to be positive definite, the following should be satisfied

$$H_{ii} > 0$$
 and $H_{ii} > \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n+m} |H_{ij}|, \quad 1 \le i \le n+m,$

which is equivalent to

$$H_{ii} > \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n+m} |H_{ij}|, \quad 1 \le i \le n+m.$$

For $1 \le i \le n$, we have

$$\begin{split} H_{ii} - \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n+m} |H_{ij}| &= \left(-\frac{2\omega'(y_i)}{\omega(y_i)} \right)' + \sum_{t=1}^{m} \frac{4[(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 - \mu_t^2]}{[(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2]^2} - \sum_{t=1}^{m} \left| \frac{4[(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 - \mu_t^2]}{[(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2]^2} \right| \\ &= \left(-\frac{2\omega'(y_i)}{\omega(y_i)} \right)' + \sum_{t=1}^{m} \left[\frac{4}{(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2} - \frac{8\mu_t^2}{[(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2]^2} \right] \\ &- \sum_{t=1}^{m} \left| \frac{4}{(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2} - \frac{8\mu_t^2}{[(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2]^2} \right| \\ &\geq \left(-\frac{2\omega'(y_i)}{\omega(y_i)} \right)' - \sum_{t=1}^{m} \frac{16\mu_t^2}{[(y_i - y_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2]^2} \\ &\geq \left(-\frac{2\omega'(y_i)}{\omega(y_i)} \right)' - \sum_{t=1}^{m} \frac{4}{(y_i - y_{n+t})^2}, \end{split}$$

for $n+1 \le i \le n+m$, we have

$$\begin{split} H_{ii} - \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n+m} |H_{ij}| &= \left(-\frac{\omega'(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})} \right)' + \left(-\frac{\omega'(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})} \right)' + \sum_{l=1, l \neq i-n}^{m} \frac{4[(y_i - y_{n+l})^2 - (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)^2]}{[(y_i - y_{n+l})^2 + (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)^2]^2} \\ &+ \sum_{s=1}^{n} \frac{4[(y_i - y_s)^2 - \mu_{i-n}^2]}{[(y_i - y_s)^2 + \mu_{i-n}^2]^2} - \sum_{l=1, l \neq i-n}^{m} \left| \frac{4[(y_i - y_{n+l})^2 - (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)^2]}{[(y_i - y_{n+l})^2 + (\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)^2]^2} \right| - \sum_{s=1}^{n} \left| \frac{4[(y_i - y_s)^2 - \mu_{i-n}^2]}{[(y_i - y_s)^2 + \mu_{i-n}^2]^2} \right| \\ &\geq \left(-\frac{\omega'(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})} \right)' + \left(-\frac{\omega'(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})} \right)' - \sum_{l=1, l \neq i-n}^{m} \frac{4}{(y_i - y_{n+l})^2} - \sum_{s=1}^{n} \frac{4}{(y_i - y_s)^2} \\ &= \left(-\frac{\omega'(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i + i\mu_{i-n})} \right)' + \left(-\frac{\omega'(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(y_i - i\mu_{i-n})} \right)' - \sum_{j=1, j \neq i}^{n+m} \frac{4}{(y_i - y_j)^2}. \end{split}$$

The above inequalities imply that if

$$\left(-\frac{2\omega'(x_i)}{\omega(x_i)}\right)' > \sum_{j=n+1, j \neq i}^{n+m} \frac{4}{(x_i - x_j)^2}$$
(2.4.5)

and

$$\left(-\frac{\omega'(x_{i}+i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(x_{i}+i\mu_{i-n})}\right)' + \left(-\frac{\omega'(x_{i}-i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(x_{i}-i\mu_{i-n})}\right)' > \sum_{j=1, j\neq i}^{n+m} \frac{4}{(x_{i}-x_{j})^{2}}$$
(2.4.6)

hold, then $|T_{\omega}(Y)|^2$ has a (local) maximum value at $X = (x_1, \dots, x_n, x_{n+1}, \dots, x_{n+m})$. According to these discussions below we provide a sufficient condition for $|T_{\omega}(Y)|^2$ to obtain its maximum value at the point X.

Theorem 2.4.2. Let $\omega(x) = \hat{\omega}(x)p(x)$, where $\hat{\omega}(x)$ takes an exceptional weight, p(x) is the coefficient in (2.4.2), namely, $\omega(x) = e^{-x^2}/\eta_H^2(x)$ for exceptional Hermite polynomials, or $\omega(x) = x \cdot x^{\alpha} e^{-x}/\eta_L^2(x)$ for exceptional Laguerre polynomials, or $\omega(x) = (1 - x^2) \cdot (1 - x)^{\alpha}(1 + x)^{\beta}/\eta_J^2(x)$ for exceptional Jacobi polynomials. Let $P_{n+m}(x)$ be an exceptional polynomial of degree n + m corresponding to the weight $\hat{\omega}(x)$. Assume that the zeros of $P_{n+m}(x)$ are all simple, and denote x_i , i = 1, 2, ..., n + m, the the real parts of the zeros of $P_{n+m}(x)$. If the denominators $\eta_H(x)$, $\eta_L(x)$, $\eta_J(x)$ satisfy the following conditions

$$\left(\ln \eta_{\alpha}(x)\right)'' + k_{\alpha} \ge 0, \ x \in I, \tag{2.4.7}$$

$$\left(\ln \eta_{\alpha}(x)\right)^{\prime\prime}|_{x=z_{i}}+k_{\alpha}>\sum_{j=n+1, j\neq i}^{n+m}\frac{1}{(x_{i}-x_{j})^{2}}, \quad 1\leq i\leq n+m,$$
(2.4.8)

then in the domain I with respect to $\hat{\omega}(x)$, the real-valued function $|T_{\omega}(Y)|^2$ attains its maximum value at X, where the subscript α can be replaced by H, L, J, respectively, $k_H = 1$, $k_L = k_J = 0$.

Proof. Till now it has been known that if (2.4.5) and (2.4.6) are satisfied then $|T_{\omega}(Y)|^2$ has a (local) maximum value at X. The uniqueness requires that $(\ln \omega(x))'' = (q(x)/p(x))' \le 0, \forall x \in I$, provided the information of p(x), q(x) are given in (2.2.3), (2.2.4), (2.2.5), respectively, we check case by case using the same notations as we did in the proof of Theorem 4.3. Assuming it satisfies that

$$(\ln \eta_H(x))'' + 1 \ge 0, \ x \in (-\infty, \infty),$$
 (2.4.9)

$$(\ln \eta_L(x))'' \ge 0, \ x \in (0,\infty),$$
 (2.4.10)

$$(\ln \eta_J(x))'' \ge 0, \ x \in (-1,1),$$
 (2.4.11)

then for exceptional Hermite polynomials, it holds that

$$F(x) = 2 + 2(\ln \eta_H(x))'' \ge 0,$$

as well as for exceptional Laguerre polynomials ($\alpha > -1, k' > 0$) we have

$$F(x) = \alpha + k' + 1 + 2x^2 \left(\ln \eta_L(x) \right)'' \ge 0,$$

and for exceptional Jacobi polynomials ($\alpha, \beta > -1, k'_1 + k'_2 > 0$) we have

$$F(x) = (\alpha + \beta + 2k_1' + 2)(1 + x^2) - (\beta - \alpha - 2k_2')2x + 2(1 - x^2)^2 (\ln \eta_J(x))'' \ge 0.$$

Moreover, since it holds respectively for the weight functions of exceptional Hermite, Laguerre, Jacobi polynomial that

$$\left(-\frac{\omega'(x)}{\omega(x)}\right)' = \begin{cases} 2+2\left(\ln\eta_H(x)\right)'', \\ \frac{\alpha+k'+1}{x^2} + 2\left(\ln\eta_L(x)\right)'' > 2\left(\ln\eta_L(x)\right)'', \\ \frac{(\alpha+\beta+2k'_1+2)(1+x^2)-(\beta-\alpha-2k'_2)2x}{(1-x^2)^2} + 2\left(\ln\eta_J(x)\right)'' > 2\left(\ln\eta_J(x)\right)'', \end{cases}$$

we then rewrite (2.4.5) and (2.4.6) into the following conditions which can be implied by (2.4.8):

$$\begin{cases} 1 + \left(\ln \eta_H(x_i)\right)'' \\ \left(\ln \eta_L(x_i)\right)'' \\ \left(\ln \eta_J(x_i)\right)'' \end{cases} > \sum_{j=n+1, j \neq i}^{n+m} \frac{1}{(x_i - x_j)^2}, \quad 1 \le i \le n \end{cases}$$
(2.4.12)

and

$$\begin{cases} 2 + \left(\ln\eta_H(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})\right)'' + \left(\ln\eta_H(x_i - i\mu_{i-n})\right)'' \\ \left(\ln\eta_L(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})\right)'' + \left(\ln\eta_L(x_i - i\mu_{i-n})\right)'' \\ \left(\ln\eta_J(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})\right)'' + \left(\ln\eta_J(x_i - i\mu_{i-n})\right)'' \end{cases} > \sum_{j=1, j\neq i}^{n+m} \frac{2}{(x_i - x_j)^2}, \quad n+1 \le i \le n+m.$$
(2.4.13)

Recall that $\omega(x)$ decays quickly at the boundary, thus $|T_{\omega}(Y)|^2$ tends to zero at the boundary. Concludingly, $|T_{\omega}(Y)|^2$ has a unique maximum at X if (2.4.7), (2.4.8) are satisfied.

Notice that in the equations (2.4.3) and (2.4.4) we have

$$\frac{\mu_t}{(x_i - x_{n+t})^2 + \mu_t^2} = \frac{1}{2i} \left[\frac{1}{(x_i - x_{n+t}) - i\mu_t} - \frac{1}{(x_i - x_{n+t}) + i\mu_t} \right],$$

and

$$\frac{4i(\mu_{i-n}-\mu_l)}{(x_i-x_{n+l})^2+(\mu_{i-n}-\mu_l)^2} = 2\left[\frac{1}{(x_i-x_{n+l})-i(\mu_{i-n}-\mu_l)} - \frac{1}{(x_i-x_{n+l})+i(\mu_{i-n}-\mu_l)}\right],$$
$$\frac{4i\mu_{i-n}}{(x_i-x_s)^2+\mu_{i-n}^2} = 2\left[\frac{1}{(x_i-x_s)-i\mu_{i-n}} - \frac{1}{(x_i-x_s)+i\mu_{i-n}}\right],$$

which lead to the following result.

Corollary 2.4.1. If an exceptional orthogonal polynomial $P_{n+m}(z)$ has n+m simple zeros consisting of *n* real zeros and *m* complex zeros:

$$z_1 = x_1, \ldots, z_n = x_n, z_{n+1} = x_{n+1} + i\mu_1, \ldots, z_{n+m} = x_{n+m} + i\mu_m,$$

where $x_i \in \mathbb{R}, i = 1, ..., n + m, \mu_j \in \mathbb{R}, j = 1, ..., m$, then it holds that

$$\sum_{t=1}^{m} \frac{1}{(x_i - x_{n+t}) + i\mu_t} = \sum_{t=1}^{m} \frac{1}{(x_i - x_{n+t}) - i\mu_t}, \quad 1 \le i \le n,$$
(2.4.14)

and

$$\frac{\omega'(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})} + \sum_{l=1, l \neq i-n}^m \frac{2}{(x_i - x_{n+l}) + i(\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)} + \sum_{s=1}^n \frac{2}{(x_i - x_s) + i\mu_{i-n}}$$
(2.4.15)

$$=\frac{\omega'(x_{i}-i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(x_{i}-i\mu_{i-n})}+\sum_{l=1,l\neq i-n}^{m}\frac{2}{(x_{i}-x_{n+l})-i(\mu_{i-n}-\mu_{l})}+\sum_{s=1}^{n}\frac{2}{(x_{i}-x_{s})-i\mu_{i-n}},\quad n+1\leq i\leq n+m.$$

In particular, notice that

$$\frac{\omega'(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})} = \frac{\hat{\omega}'(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{\hat{\omega}(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})} + \frac{p'(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})}{p(x_i + i\mu_{i-n})} = -2S_{1,i},$$

it follows that the left-hand side of (2.4.15) is 0, consequently implies

$$\frac{\omega'(x_i - i\mu_{i-n})}{\omega(x_i - i\mu_{i-n})} + \sum_{l=1, l \neq i-n}^m \frac{2}{(x_i - x_{n+l}) - i(\mu_{i-n} - \mu_l)} + \sum_{s=1}^n \frac{2}{(x_i - x_s) - i\mu_{i-n}} = 0, \quad n+1 \le i \le n+m.$$

2.4.1 Examples

Here we provide some examples which give evidence for our main result considering the case of exceptional Hermite polynomials. The exceptional Hermite polynomials are defined upon Wronskian determinants whose entries are Hermite polynomials according to a double partition [24]. Let $\lambda = (\lambda_1, \dots, \lambda_r)$ be a non-decreasing sequence of non-negative integers

$$0 \leq \lambda_1 \leq \lambda_2 \leq \cdots \leq \lambda_r,$$

we call λ a double (or even) partition if *r* is even and $\lambda_{2i-1} = \lambda_{2i}$, $i = 1, \dots, r/2$. The exceptional Hermite polynomials with respect to λ are defined as

$$H_n^{(\lambda)} = \operatorname{Wr}[H_{\lambda_1}, H_{\lambda_2+1}, \cdots, H_{\lambda_r+r-1}, H_{n-|\lambda|+r}], \quad n-|\lambda|+r \in \mathbb{N} \setminus \{\lambda_1, \lambda_2+1, \cdots, \lambda_r+r-1\},$$

where Wr denotes the Wronskian determinant, H_j is the *j*th Hermite polynomial and $|\lambda| = \sum_i^r \lambda_i$. From this definition it is clear that $\deg H_n^{(\lambda)}(z) = n$. Recall from table 1 the weight function of exceptional Hermite polynomials is $\hat{\omega}_H(z) = e^{-z^2}/\eta_H^2(z)$, where we can now give η_H as

$$\eta_H := \eta_H^{(\lambda)} = \operatorname{Wr}[H_{\lambda_1}, H_{\lambda_2+1}, \cdots, H_{\lambda_r+r-1}].$$

It is known that η_H has no zeros on the real line when λ is a double partition [24], hence $\hat{\omega}_H$ is a welldefined weight function on the real line. Since deg $\eta_H = |\lambda|$, η_H has $|\lambda|$ complex zeros. According to theorem 2.3 of [49], if all the zeros of $H_n^{(\lambda)}$ are simple then the exceptional (complex) zeros converge to the zeros of η_H .

The problem described in the introduction is to find the maximum value of

$$T_{\boldsymbol{\omega}}(x_1,\cdots,x_n) = \prod_{j=1}^n \boldsymbol{\omega}(x_j) \prod_{1 \le i < j \le n} |x_i - x_j|^2$$

where $\omega = \hat{\omega}p$, specifically $\omega(x) = e^{-x^2}/\eta_H^2(x)$ in the current case. Let $Z = \{z_1, \dots, z_n\}$ be the set of zeros of $H_n^{(\lambda)}(z)$. In order to check whether $|T_{\omega}|$ has a maximum value at Z or not, let us define

$$f(z) = \left| \frac{T_{\omega}(z_1 + z, \cdots, z_n + z)}{T_{\omega}(z_1, \cdots, z_n)} \right|$$

for different partition λ we observe the value of f(z) around z = 0.

Example 2.4.1. When $\lambda = (1, 1, 1, 1)$, $\eta_H = Wr[H_1, H_2, H_3, H_4]$, the associated exceptional Hermite polynomials are

$$H_n^{(\lambda)} = Wr[H_1, H_2, H_3, H_4, H_n], \quad n \notin \{1, 2, 3, 4\}.$$

Let n = 8, then $H_n^{(\lambda)}(z)$ has 4 complex zeros and 4 real zeros, $Z = \{z_1, \dots, z_8\}$. Numerical results show that z = 0 is a saddle point of f(z) when $z \in \mathbb{C}$ (since $T_{\omega}(z_1 + z, \dots, z_n + z)$ is a holomorphic function, according to the maximum modulus principle the modulus $|T_{\omega}(z_1 + z, \dots, z_n + z)|$ cannot exhibit a true local maximum within the domain). Nevertheless, if $z \in \mathbb{R}$, f(z) attains its maximum at z = 0.

Example 2.4.2. For $\lambda = (1, 1, 3, 3)$, $\eta_H = Wr[H_1, H_2, H_5, H_6]$, the associated exceptional Hermite polynomials are

$$H_n^{(\lambda)} = Wr[H_1, H_2, H_5, H_6, H_{n-4}], \quad n-4 \notin \{1, 2, 5, 6\}.$$

Let n = 8, then $H_n^{(\lambda)}(z)$ has 6 complex zeros and 2 real zeros, $Z = \{z_1, \dots, z_8\}$. Again, it follows numerically that z = 0 is a saddle point of f(z) when $z \in \mathbb{C}$ and a maximum point of f(z) if $z \in \mathbb{R}$.

Remark 2.4.2. The above two examples show that in some cases Z is a saddle point of $|T_{\omega}|$ while at the same time a maximum point of $|T_{\omega}|$ if all the imaginary parts of z_i 's are fixed. However, this phenomenon does not arise for all cases.

Example 2.4.3. For $\lambda = (2, 2, 3, 3)$, $\eta_H = Wr[H_2, H_3, H_5, H_6]$, the associated exceptional Hermite polynomials are

$$H_n^{(\lambda)} = Wr[H_2, H_3, H_5, H_6, H_{n-6}], \quad n \notin \{2, 3, 5, 6\}.$$

Let n = 10, then $H_n^{(\lambda)}(z)$ has 8 complex zeros and 2 real zeros, $Z = \{z_1, \dots, z_{10}\}$. In this case one can observe from the numerical simulation of f(z) that z = 0 is neither a maximum point nor a saddle point of f(z), hence $|T_{\omega}|$ has no maximum at Z.

Chapter 3

Exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials

In this chapter, we derive the exceptional extensions of the Bannai-Ito polynomials.

3.1 Bannai-Ito polynomials

First, let us introduce the definition and some basic properties of the Bannai-Ito polynomials. The Bannai-Ito polynomials, originally introduced in [3], are recently classified as a new kind of "classical" orthogonal polynomials [79] since they are identified to be the eigenfunctions of the difference operator

$$H = \alpha(x)(R - I) + \beta(x)(TR - I).$$
(3.1.1)

H is a Dunkl shift operator, where R is the reflection operator, T is the forward shift operator, and I is the identity operator acting as

$$R[f(x)] = f(-x), \quad T[f(x)] = f(x+1), \quad I[f(x)] = f(x).$$

Throughout this paper the operators R, T and I only influence x, for example, R[f(x+1)] = f(-x+1) not f(-x-1), and T[f(-x)] = f(-x-1) not f(-x+1). It is known that the Dunkl shift operator has polynomial eigenfunctions of all degrees if and only if its coefficients are given by

$$\alpha(x) = \frac{(x - \rho_1)(x - \rho_2)}{-2x}, \quad \beta(x) = \frac{(x - r_1 + 1/2)(x - r_2 + 1/2)}{2x + 1},$$
(3.1.2)

where r_1 , r_2 , ρ_1 , ρ_2 are real numbers. In this setting the Dunkl shift operator is called the Bannai-Ito operator. The eigenfunctions of the Bannai-Ito operator are the Bannai-Ito polynomials $B_n(x)$,

$$H[B_n(x)] = \alpha(x)(B_n(-x) - B_n(x)) + \beta(x)(B_n(-x-1) - B_n(x)) = \lambda_n B_n(x),$$

where $B_n(x)$ is of degree *n*, and the eigenvalues are given by

$$\lambda_n = \begin{cases} \frac{n}{2}, & \text{if } n \text{ is even,} \\ r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - \frac{n+1}{2} & \text{if } n \text{ is odd} \end{cases}$$
(3.1.3)

 $\left(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - \frac{1}{2}\right), \quad \text{if } n \text{ is odd.} \tag{3.1.4}$ One should notice that the Bannai-Ito polynomials are defined upon four parameters, i.e. $B_n(x) :=$

Solid should notice that the Balmar-no polynomials are defined upon rour parameters, i.e. $B_n(x) := B_n(x; \rho_1, \rho_2, r_1, r_2)$, we use the former for simplicity.

The Bannai-Ito polynomials are discrete orthogonal polynomials. They are orthogonal with respect to a discrete, positive measure of weight function $\omega(x)$ on the Bannai-Ito grid $\{x_s\}_{s=0}^{N-1}$:

$$\sum_{s=0}^{N-1} \omega(x_s) B_n(x_s) B_m(x_s) = h_n \delta_{nm} \quad (h_n > 0; \ 0 \le n, m < N),$$

where x_s (s = 0, 1, ..., N - 1) are the simple roots of $B_N(x)$ [79].

3.2 Generalized Darboux transformation of Dunkl shift operator

It has been addressed before that the DT is one of the most powerful tools for constructing XOPs. The rational DTs (or the Darboux-Crum transformations) factorize a second-order differential or difference operator into two first-order differential or difference operators, hence the exceptional operator can be obtained by exchanging the two 1st-order operators. Unfortunately, in our case the Dunkl shift operator is a 1st-order difference operator, which makes it difficult to apply the rational DTs directly. In this section we present a generalized DT of the Dunkl shift operator, and then give exceptional Bannai-Ito operators explicitly.

Consider the eigenvalue problem of the Dunkl shift operator

$$H[\phi(x)] = \alpha(x)(R-I)[\phi(x)] + \beta(x)(TR-I)[\phi(x)] = \mu\phi(x),$$

where $\alpha(x)$, $\beta(x)$ are functions in x. Then we choose an eigenfunction $\phi(x)$ (not necessarily to be polynomial) of H as a seed solution and let

$$\chi(x) = (I - R)[\phi(x)] = \phi(x) - \phi(-x), \tag{3.2.1}$$

$$\tilde{\chi}(x) = (I + TR)[\beta(-x - 1)\phi(x)] = \beta(-x - 1)\phi(x) + \beta(x)\phi(-x - 1).$$
(3.2.2)

The functions $\chi(x)$ and $\tilde{\chi}(x)$ satisfy the following properties

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}(-x) = -\boldsymbol{\chi}(x), \quad \tilde{\boldsymbol{\chi}}(-x-1) = \tilde{\boldsymbol{\chi}}(x),$$

and the eigenvalue problem $H[\phi(x)] = \mu \phi(x)$ can be written as

$$-\alpha(x)\chi(x) + \tilde{\chi}(x) = (\mu + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1))\phi(x).$$
(3.2.3)

Substituting x by -x - 1, the above equation becomes

$$-\alpha(-x-1)\chi(-x-1) + \tilde{\chi}(x) = (\mu + \beta(-x-1) + \beta(x))\phi(-x-1), \qquad (3.2.4)$$

the operation $(3.2.3) \cdot \beta(-x-1) + (3.2.4) \cdot \beta(x)$ then implies

$$\alpha(x)\beta(-x-1)\chi(x) + \alpha(-x-1)\beta(x)\chi(-x-1) + \mu\tilde{\chi}(x) = 0.$$
(3.2.5)

After substituting x by -x in (3.2.3) and then subtracting the result by (3.2.3) we have

$$\tilde{\chi}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}(x) = -\chi(x)(\mu + \alpha(x) + \alpha(-x) + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1)), \qquad (3.2.6)$$

which holds under the condition

$$\beta(-x) + \beta(x-1) = \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1).$$
(3.2.7)

The properties of $\chi(x)$ and $\tilde{\chi}(x)$ are very important, as well as the equations (3.2.3), (3.2.4), (3.2.5), (3.2.6) and the condition (3.2.7), which will be used frequently in the DT with respect to the Dunkl shift operator *H*.

Now we define the operator

$$\mathscr{F}_{\phi} = \frac{1}{\chi(x)}(R-I) + \frac{1}{\tilde{\chi}(x)}(TR+I)\beta(-x-1)$$
(3.2.8)

such that $\mathscr{F}_{\phi}[\phi(x)] = 0$. It is easily seen that if the intertwining relation

$$\mathscr{F}_{\phi} \circ H = H^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{F}_{\phi} \tag{3.2.9}$$

holds for a new Dunkl shift operator $H^{(1)}$, then for any eigenfunction $\psi(x) \ (\neq \phi(x))$ of H with eigenvalue $\nu \ (\neq \mu)$), one has

$$H^{(1)}\big[\mathscr{F}_{\phi}[\psi(x)]\big] = \mathscr{F}_{\phi} \circ H[\psi(x)] = \mathbf{v} \cdot \mathscr{F}_{\phi}[\psi(x)].$$

The equation with respect to the most left and the most right terms means that $\mathscr{F}_{\phi}[\psi(x)]$ is the eigenfunction of $H^{(1)}$ with eigenvalue v. Before deriving the explicit expression of the operator $H^{(1)}$ we first give the following lemma for the convenience of calculation.

Lemma 3.2.1. The operators R, T and I satisfy

$$RR = I$$
, $TRTR = I$, $RTRT = I$

Moreover, for any function f(x)*, it holds that*

$$\begin{split} &(R-I)f(x)(R-I) = (f(x) + f(-x))(I-R), \\ &(TR+I)f(x)(TR+I) = (f(x) + f(-x-1))(TR+I), \\ &(TR+I)f(x)(TR-I) = (f(x) - f(-x-1))(TR-I), \\ &(TR-I)f(x)(TR+I) = (f(-x-1) - f(x))(TR+I), \\ &(R-I)f(x)(TR-I) = f(-x)RTR - f(x)TR - f(-x)R + f(x)I, \\ &(R-I)f(x)(TR+I) = f(-x)RTR - f(x)TR + f(-x)R - f(x)I, \\ &(TR-I)f(x)(R-I) = f(-x-1)T - f(-x-1)TR - f(x)R + f(x)I, \\ &(TR+I)f(x)(R-I) = f(-x-1)T - f(-x-1)TR + f(x)R - f(x)I. \end{split}$$

The above formulas follow from the definitions of R, T, I and elementary calculations, thus we may omit the proof.

Using the formulas in Lemma 3.2.1 we are able to derive the explicit expression of the operator $H^{(1)}$ from (3.2.9). Denote the coefficients of $H^{(1)}$ by $\alpha^{(1)}(x)$, $\beta^{(1)}(x)$ and $\gamma^{(1)}(x)$:

$$H^{(1)} = \alpha^{(1)}(x)(R-I) + \beta^{(1)}(x)(TR-I) + \gamma^{(1)}(x)$$

Proposition 3.2.1. The Dunkl shift operator $H^{(1)}$ which satisfies (3.2.9) with \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} given by (3.2.8) is

$$H^{(1)} = \frac{\tilde{\chi}(-x)}{\chi(x)}(R-I) + \frac{\alpha(-x-1)\beta(x)\chi(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)}(TR-I) + \frac{\tilde{\chi}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}(x)}{\chi(x)}.$$
 (3.2.10)

Proof. We derive $H^{(1)}$ directly from (3.2.9). According Lemma 2.1, the left-hand side of (3.2.9) is

$$\begin{aligned} \mathscr{F}_{\phi} \circ H &= \frac{\beta(-x)}{\chi(x)} RTR + \frac{\beta(x)\alpha(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)} T - \left(\frac{\beta(x)\alpha(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)} + \frac{\beta(x)}{\chi(x)}\right) TR \\ &+ \left(\frac{\beta(-x-1)\alpha(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)} - \frac{\alpha(x) + \alpha(-x) + \beta(-x)}{\chi(x)}\right) R \\ &- \left(\frac{\beta(-x-1)\alpha(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)} - \frac{\alpha(x) + \alpha(-x) + \beta(x)}{\chi(x)}\right) I, \end{aligned}$$

and the right-hand side of (3.2.9) is

$$H^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{F}_{\phi} = \frac{\alpha^{(1)}(x)\beta(-x)}{\tilde{\chi}(-x)}RTR + \frac{\beta^{(1)}(x)}{\chi(-x-1)}T - \left(\frac{(\alpha^{(1)}(x) - \gamma^{(1)}(x))\beta(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)} + \frac{\beta^{(1)}(x)}{\chi(-x-1)}\right)TR$$

$$+ \left(\frac{\alpha^{(1)}(x)\beta(x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(-x)} + \frac{\gamma^{(1)}(x) - \beta^{(1)}(x)}{\chi(x)}\right)R \\ + \left(\frac{(\gamma^{(1)}(x) - \alpha^{(1)}(x))\beta(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)} + \frac{\beta^{(1)}(x) - \gamma^{(1)}(x)}{\chi(x)}\right)I.$$

Then by comparing the coefficients of the operators RTR, T, TR, R and I one has

$$\alpha^{(1)}(x) = \frac{\tilde{\chi}(-x)}{\chi(x)}, \quad \beta^{(1)}(x) = \frac{\alpha(-x-1)\beta(x)\chi(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)}, \quad (3.2.11)$$

$$\gamma^{(1)}(x) = \frac{\tilde{\chi}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}(x)}{\chi(x)} = -(\mu + \alpha(x) + \alpha(-x) + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1)), \qquad (3.2.12)$$

where the second equation in (3.2.12) follows from (3.2.6).

If we add the intertwining relation $H \circ \mathscr{B}_{\phi} = \mathscr{B}_{\phi} \circ H^{(1)}$ where \mathscr{B}_{ϕ} is also a Dunkl shift operator, then it will be given by (we rearranged it for the convenience of checking (3.2.14) and (3.2.15))

$$\mathscr{B}_{\phi} = \alpha(x)(R-I)\tilde{\chi}(x) + (TR+I)\alpha(x)\beta(-x-1)\chi(x).$$
(3.2.13)

Further calculations imply that if the condition (3.2.7) holds then the products of \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} and \mathscr{B}_{ϕ} can be expressed in terms of *H* and $H^{(1)}$, respectively:

$$\mathscr{B}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{F}_{\phi} = (H - \mu) \circ (H + \beta(x) + \beta(-x - 1)), \tag{3.2.14}$$

$$\mathscr{F}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{B}_{\phi} = (H^{(1)} - \mu) \circ (H^{(1)} + \beta(x) + \beta(-x - 1)).$$
(3.2.15)

The above equations can be considered as a generalized DT of the Dunkl shift operator H, and $H^{(1)}$ is the 1-step Darboux transformed Dunkl shift operator.

Remark 3.2.1. In order to make sure that this generalized DT can be applied on $H^{(1)}$ in the same manner as before, the coefficients $\alpha^{(1)}(x)$, $\beta^{(1)}(x)$ and $\gamma^{(1)}(x)$ should satisfy the same properties as those of H. Again, we denote the 2-step Darboux transformed Dunkl shift operator by $H^{(2)}$ with the form

$$H^{(2)} = \alpha^{(2)}(x)(R-I) + \beta^{(2)}(x)(TR-I) + \gamma^{(2)}(x),$$

and similarly with (3.2.8) we define the operator

$$\mathscr{F}^{(2)} = \frac{1}{\chi^{(2)}(x)} (R - I) + \frac{1}{\tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(x)} (TR + I) \beta^{(1)}(-x - 1),$$

where $\chi^{(2)}(x) = (I - R)[\phi_2^{(2)}(x)], \ \tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(x) = (I + TR)[\beta^{(1)}(-x - 1)\phi_2^{(2)}(x)], \ \phi_2^{(2)}(x)$ is the second-step seed solution which is an eigenfunction of $H^{(1)}$ with eigenvalue μ_2 : $\phi_2^{(2)}(x) = \mathscr{F}_{\phi}[\phi_2^{(1)}(x)]$ (we may denote \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} by $\mathscr{F}^{(1)}$ and the first-step seed solution $\phi(x)$ by $\phi_1^{(1)}(x)$ such that $\phi_2^{(2)}(x) = \mathscr{F}^{(1)}[\phi_2^{(1)}(x)], \ \phi_2^{(1)}(x) \neq \phi_1^{(1)}(x)$). Then it again follows from the following intertwining relation

$$\mathscr{F}^{(2)} \circ H^{(1)} = H^{(2)} \circ \mathscr{F}^{(2)}$$

that

$$\alpha^{(2)}(x) = \frac{\tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(-x)}{\chi^{(2)}(x)}, \ \beta^{(2)}(x) = \frac{\alpha^{(1)}(-x-1)\beta^{(1)}(x)\chi^{(2)}(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(x)},$$

and

$$\begin{split} \gamma^{(2)}(x) &= \frac{\tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(x)}{\chi^{(2)}(x)} + \gamma^{(1)}(-x-1) = \frac{\tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(x)}{\chi^{(2)}(x)} + \gamma^{(1)}(-x) \\ &= \frac{\tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}^{(2)}(x)}{\chi^{(2)}(x)} + \gamma^{(1)}(x). \end{split}$$

The three expressions of $\gamma^{(2)}(x)$ imply $\gamma^{(1)}(-x-1) = \gamma^{(1)}(-x) = \gamma^{(1)}(x)$, which further requires $\alpha(x) + \alpha(-x) = \alpha(-x-1) + \alpha(x+1)$ and (3.2.7) according to (3.2.12). In the second and the third equation with respect to $\gamma^{(2)}(x)$ we have assumed that $\beta^{(1)}(x)$ satisfies the condition (3.2.7). Note that these three expressions did not appear in the calculation of $\gamma^{(1)}(x)$ since $\gamma^{(0)}(x) = 0$ in H. Therefore, by repeating this procedure we can conclude as follow.

Lemma 3.2.2. Denote the n-step Darboux transformed Dunkl shift operator by $H^{(n)}$ (n = 1, 2, ...) with the form

$$H^{(n)} = \alpha^{(n)}(x)(R-I) + \beta^{(n)}(x)(TR-I) + \gamma^{(n)}(x).$$
(3.2.16)

If the condition

$$\alpha(x) + \alpha(-x) = \alpha(-x-1) + \alpha(x+1)$$
(3.2.17)

and (3.2.7) are satisfied, then the generalized DT can be applied on each $H^{(n)}$ (n = 1, 2, ...) in the same manner as we did on H.

Proof. By repeating the procedure in Remark 3.2.1 one finds that the conditions

$$\alpha^{(n)}(x) + \alpha^{(n)}(-x) = \alpha^{(n)}(-x-1) + \alpha^{(n)}(x+1), \qquad (3.2.18)$$

$$\beta^{(n)}(-x) + \beta^{(n)}(x-1) = \beta^{(n)}(x) + \beta^{(n)}(-x-1), \qquad (3.2.19)$$

$$\gamma^{(n)}(-x-1) = \gamma^{(n)}(-x) = \gamma^{(n)}(x).$$
(3.2.20)

are sufficient for deriving the coefficients $\alpha^{(n+1)}(x)$, $\beta^{(n+1)}(x)$, $\gamma^{(n+1)}(x)$. On the other hand, from the calculations of $H^{(1)}$ and $H^{(2)}$ it is easy to conclude that for n = 1, 2, ...,

$$\alpha^{(n)}(x) = \frac{\tilde{\chi}^{(n)}(-x)}{\chi^{(n)}(x)}, \quad \beta^{(n)}(x) = \frac{\alpha^{(n-1)}(-x-1)\beta^{(n-1)}(x)\chi^{(n)}(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}^{(n)}(x)}, \quad (3.2.21)$$

$$\gamma^{(n)}(x) = -(\mu^{(n)} + \alpha^{(n-1)}(x) + \alpha^{(n-1)}(-x) + \beta^{(n-1)}(x) + \beta^{(n-1)}(-x-1))$$
(3.2.22)

where the properties $\chi^{(n)}(-x) = -\chi^{(n)}(x)$, $\tilde{\chi}^{(n)}(-x-1) = \tilde{\chi}^{(n)}(x)$ always hold. Then inductively one can see that the conditions (3.2.18), (3.2.19), (3.2.20) hold for n = 1, 2, ... if (3.2.17) and (3.2.7) are satisfied.

Let us notice that the conditions (3.2.17) and (3.2.7) are already satisfied by the coefficients of the Bannai-Ito operator, thus a multiple-step DT can be performed on the Bannai-Ito operator smoothly. In the next subsection, we will derive the 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator and the corresponding eigenfunctions. Some important expressions about the eigenfunctions of the *n*-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator will also be given thereafter.

3.2.1 Generalized Darboux transformation of the Bannai-Ito operator

If *H* is a Bannai-Ito operator where $\alpha(x)$, $\beta(x)$ are defined by (3.1.2), then $H^{(1)}$ can be called the 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator. In this case, it holds that

$$\alpha(x) + \alpha(-x) = \rho_1 + \rho_2 := \alpha, \quad \beta(x) + \beta(-x - 1) = -(r_1 + r_2) := -\beta, \quad (3.2.23)$$

hence

$$\gamma^{(1)}(x) = -(\mu + \alpha(x) + \alpha(-x) + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1)) = -(\mu + \alpha - \beta).$$
(3.2.24)

Therefore, the 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator becomes

$$H^{(1)} = \frac{\tilde{\chi}(-x)}{\chi(x)}(R-I) + \frac{\alpha(-x-1)\beta(x)\chi(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)}(TR-I) - (\mu + \alpha - \beta).$$
(3.2.25)

For normalization purpose we may rewrite the operators $\mathscr{F}_{\phi}, \mathscr{B}_{\phi}$ and $H^{(1)}$ into

$$\hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi} = r(x)\mathscr{F}_{\phi}, \quad \hat{\mathscr{B}}_{\phi} = \mathscr{B}_{\phi}r^{-1}(x), \quad \hat{H}^{(1)} = r(x)H^{(1)}r^{-1}(x), \quad (3.2.26)$$

where r(x) is a decoupling coefficient whose explicit expression will be given in Lemma 3.4.1.

Adopting the notations of [77] here we may call $\hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi}$ a "dressing" operator and $\hat{\mathscr{B}}_{\phi}$ an "undressing" operator in view of their acting as dressing and undressing of a superscript ⁽¹⁾:

$$\psi^{(1)}(x) := \int \hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi}[\psi(x)], \quad \text{if } \hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi}[\psi(x)] \neq 0 \quad (3.2.27)$$

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}^{(1)}(x) := \begin{cases} \boldsymbol{\sigma}(x)\boldsymbol{r}(x) \\ \boldsymbol{\tilde{\chi}}(x)\boldsymbol{\chi}(x)\boldsymbol{\alpha}(x)\boldsymbol{\omega}(x) \end{cases}, \text{ otherwise} \end{cases}$$
(3.2.28)

$$\hat{\mathscr{B}}_{\phi}[\boldsymbol{\psi}^{(1)}(\boldsymbol{x})] = (\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{\mu})(\boldsymbol{v} - \boldsymbol{\beta})\boldsymbol{\psi}(\boldsymbol{x}),$$

where $\sigma(x)$ satisfies $\sigma(x+1) = \sigma(x)$ and $\sigma(-x) = -\sigma(x)$, for example, $\sigma(x) = \sin(2\pi x)$, and $\omega(x)$ is the weight function associated with the Bannai-Ito operator *H*. It can be easily checked by using the results in Section 3.4 (Lemma 3.4.3) that

$$\hat{H}^{(1)}\left[\frac{\sigma(x)r(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)}\right] = \mu \frac{\sigma(x)r(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)},$$
(3.2.29)

thus $\psi^{(1)}(x)$ is the eigenfunction of the normalized 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $\hat{H}^{(1)}$. Therefore, the DT

$$(H, \{\psi(x)\}) \mapsto (\hat{H}^{(1)}, \{\psi^{(1)}(x)\})$$

is an isospectral transformation:

$$H[\psi(x)] = v\psi(x), \quad \hat{H}^{(1)}[\psi^{(1)}(x)] = v\psi^{(1)}(x).$$

In fact, the equation (3.2.29) is equivalent with

$$H^{(1)}\left[\frac{\sigma(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)}\right] = \mu \frac{\sigma(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)}$$
(3.2.30)

in view of (3.2.26). Here we briefly check (3.2.30) using the expression (3.2.10).

$$\begin{split} H^{(1)}\bigg[\frac{\sigma(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)}\bigg] &= \frac{\tilde{\chi}(-x)}{\chi(x)}\bigg(\frac{1}{\tilde{\chi}(-x)} - \frac{1}{\tilde{\chi}(x)}\bigg)\frac{\sigma(x)}{\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)} + \frac{\tilde{\chi}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}(x)}{\chi(x)}\frac{\sigma(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)} \\ &+ \frac{\alpha(-x-1)\beta(x)\chi(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)}\bigg(\frac{-\beta(-x-1)}{\chi(-x-1)\alpha(-x-1)} - \frac{\beta(x)}{\chi(x)\alpha(x)}\bigg)\frac{\sigma(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\beta(x)\omega(x)} \\ &= \frac{\sigma(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\omega(x)}\bigg(\frac{-\beta(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)} - \frac{\beta(x)\alpha(-x-1)\chi(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)}\bigg) \\ &= \frac{\sigma(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\omega(x)}\bigg(-\frac{\beta(-x-1)\alpha(x)\chi(x) + \beta(x)\alpha(-x-1)\chi(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)}\bigg). \end{split}$$

In the first equation, the properties $\chi(-x) = -\chi(x)$, $\tilde{\chi}(-x-1) = \tilde{\chi}(x)$, $\sigma(-x) = -\sigma(x)$, $\sigma(-x-1) = \sigma(-x) = -\sigma(x)$ and (3.4.18), (3.4.19) in Lemma 4.7 have been used. Then the first 2 terms in the right-hand side of the first equation annihilate immediately, the third term can be simplified as the right-hand side of the second equation. Finally, with the help of (3.2.5) we arrive at (3.2.30).

In the same way it turns out that (see (3.2.13))

$$\mathscr{B}_{\phi}\left[\frac{\sigma(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)}\right] = 0, \qquad (3.2.31)$$

since

$$(R-I)\left[\frac{\sigma(x)}{\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)}\right] = 0, \quad (TR+I)\left[\frac{\beta(-x-1)\sigma(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\omega(x)}\right] = 0$$

hold for the same properties as we listed in the previous paragraph.

To summarize the above results we give the following theorem which serves as the formulation of the generalized Darboux transformation for the Bannai-Ito operator.

Theorem 3.2.1. The 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $H^{(1)}$ and the Bannai-Ito operator H satisfy the following intertwining relations:

$$\mathscr{F}_{\phi} \circ H = H^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{F}_{\phi}, \quad H \circ \mathscr{B}_{\phi} = \mathscr{B}_{\phi} \circ H^{(1)} \tag{3.2.32}$$

where \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} , \mathscr{B}_{ϕ} are both Dunkl shift operators (see (3.2.8), (3.2.13)). The operator \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} satisfies the condition $\mathscr{F}_{\phi}[\phi(x)] = 0$, where $\phi(x)$ is an eigenfunction of H called a seed solution. Moreover, the products of \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} and \mathscr{B}_{ϕ} can be expressed in terms of H and $H^{(1)}$:

$$\mathscr{B}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{F}_{\phi} = (H - \mu) \circ (H - \beta), \tag{3.2.33}$$

$$\mathscr{F}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{B}_{\phi} = (H^{(1)} - \mu) \circ (H^{(1)} - \beta). \tag{3.2.34}$$

The relations (3.2.33), (3.2.34) follow from (3.2.14), (3.2.15) and (3.2.23).

Later in Section 3.4 we will show that with a well selected seed solution $\phi(x)$ and the related decoupling coefficient r(x), the 1-step Darboux transformed eigenfunctions $\{\hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi}[B_n(x)]\}$ $(B_n(x)$ are the Bannai-Ito polynomials) possess the "exceptional" feature (gaps in their degree sequences) and are orthogonal with respect to a discrete measure on the exceptional Bannai-Ito grid.

As an immediate result of the intertwining relations (3.2.32), we have

$$\begin{split} H \circ (\mathscr{B}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{F}_{\phi}) &= (\mathscr{B}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{F}_{\phi}) \circ H, \\ (\mathscr{F}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{B}_{\phi}) \circ H^{(1)} &= H^{(1)} \circ (\mathscr{F}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{B}_{\phi}), \end{split}$$

which indicate that H and $H^{(1)}$ are commutable with $(\mathscr{B}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{F}_{\phi})$ and $(\mathscr{F}_{\phi} \circ \mathscr{B}_{\phi})$, respectively. In a more generic setting, if we denote H by $H^{(0)}$, and the exceptional operator obtained after n steps of DT by $H^{(n)}$ as we did before, while the same notations adopting to the operators $\mathscr{F}^{(n)}$ and $\mathscr{B}^{(n)}$ with $\mathscr{F}^{(1)} = \mathscr{F}_{\phi}, \mathscr{B}^{(1)} = \mathscr{B}_{\phi}$, then we can give the intertwining relations with respect to the multiple-step Darboux transformed Bannai-Ito operators.

Corollary 3.2.1. The exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $H^{(n+1)}$ and the Bannai-Ito operator $H^{(0)}$ satisfy the following intertwining relations for n = 1, 2, ...,

$$(\mathscr{F}^{(n)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}) \circ H^{(0)} = H^{(n+1)} \circ (\mathscr{F}^{(n)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}), \tag{3.2.35}$$

$$H^{(0)} \circ (\mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \dots \circ \mathscr{B}^{(n)}) = (\mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \dots \circ \mathscr{B}^{(n)}) \circ H^{(n+1)}.$$
(3.2.36)

Proof. This corollary follows inductively from the construction of the multiple-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operators $H^{(n)}$ (n = 1, 2, ...). According to Theorem 3.2.1 we know that the exceptional Bannai-Ito operators $H^{(1)}$, $H^{(2)}$, $H^{(3)}$, ... can be obtained through the following intertwining relations

$$\begin{split} \mathscr{F}^{(1)} \circ H^{(0)} &= H^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}, & H^{(0)} \circ \mathscr{B}^{(1)} &= \mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ H^{(1)}, \\ \mathscr{F}^{(2)} \circ H^{(1)} &= H^{(2)} \circ \mathscr{F}^{(2)}, & H^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{B}^{(2)} &= \mathscr{B}^{(2)} \circ H^{(2)}, \\ \mathscr{F}^{(3)} \circ H^{(2)} &= H^{(3)} \circ \mathscr{F}^{(3)}, & H^{(2)} \circ \mathscr{B}^{(3)} &= \mathscr{B}^{(3)} \circ H^{(3)}, \\ & : \end{split}$$

By applying $\mathscr{F}^{(2)}$ on the left-hand side of the first equation and then rewriting the result using the third equation we have

$$\mathscr{F}^{(2)} \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)} \circ H^{(0)} = \mathscr{F}^{(2)} \circ H^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)} = H^{(2)} \circ \mathscr{F}^{(2)} \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}.$$

Similarly, by applying $\mathscr{B}^{(2)}$ on the right-hand side of the second equation and then rewriting the result using the fourth equation we have

$$H^{(0)} \circ \mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{B}^{(2)} = \mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ H^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{B}^{(2)} = \mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{B}^{(2)} \circ H^{(2)}.$$

Repeating this procedure finally one will arrive at (3.2.35) and (3.2.36).

Again, we can deduce

$$H^{(0)} \circ (\mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{B}^{(n)}) \circ (\mathscr{F}^{(n)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}) = (\mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{B}^{(n)}) \circ (\mathscr{F}^{(n)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}) \circ H^{(0)},$$
$$(\mathscr{F}^{(n)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}) \circ (\mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{B}^{(n)}) \circ H^{(n+1)} = H^{(n+1)} \circ (\mathscr{F}^{(n)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}) \circ (\mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{B}^{(n)}),$$

which indicate that H and $H^{(n+1)}$ are commutable with $(\mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{B}^{(n)}) \circ (\mathscr{F}^{(n)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)})$ and $(\mathscr{F}^{(n)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}) \circ (\mathscr{B}^{(1)} \circ \cdots \circ \mathscr{B}^{(n)})$, respectively.

3.2.2 Determinant expression of multiple-step exceptional eigenfunctions

From the intertwining relations in Corollary 3.2.1 one knows that the eigenfunctions of the *n*-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $H^{(n)}$ can be given by

$$\phi_m^{(n)}(x) = \mathscr{F}^{(n-1)} \circ \dots \circ \mathscr{F}^{(1)}[\phi_m^{(1)}(x)] \quad (n \ge 1),$$
(3.2.37)

where $\phi_m^{(1)}(x)$ is an eigenfunction of $H^{(0)}$ (or *H*, the original Bannai-Ito operator) with eigenvalue μ_m . Please do not mistake $\phi_m^{(k)}(x)$ and $\phi_n^{(k)}(x)$ by the eigenfunctions of order *m* and order *n*, here we use the subscripts *m*, *n* only to indicate they are different. Recall that

$$\mathscr{F}^{(n)} = \frac{1}{\chi^{(n)}(x)} (R - I) + \frac{1}{\tilde{\chi}^{(n)}(x)} (TR + I) \beta^{(n-1)}(-x - 1), \qquad (3.2.38)$$

where $\beta^{(n)}(x)$ is given by (3.2.21), and

$$\boldsymbol{\chi}^{(n)}(x) := \boldsymbol{\chi}_n^{(n)}(x) = (I - R)[\phi_n^{(n)}(x)], \qquad (3.2.39)$$

$$\tilde{\chi}^{(n)}(x) := \tilde{\chi}_n^{(n)}(x) = (I + TR)[\beta^{(n-1)}(-x-1)\phi_n^{(n)}(x)].$$
(3.2.40)

Namely, the left-hand sides of (3.2.1) and (3.2.2) are represented by $\chi^{(1)}(x)$ and $\tilde{\chi}^{(1)}(x)$, $\phi_n^{(n)}(x)$ is the *n*th-step seed solution:

$$H^{(n-1)}[\phi_n^{(n)}(x)] = \mu_n \phi_n^{(n)}(x), \quad \phi_n^{(n)}(x) = \mathscr{F}^{(n-1)}[\phi_n^{(n-1)}(x)].$$
(3.2.41)

For the simplicity of calculation we introduce the following notations (whose special cases are (3.2.39) and (3.2.40))

$$\chi_m^{(n)}(x) = (I - R)[\phi_m^{(n)}(x)], \quad \tilde{\chi}_m^{(n)}(x) = (I + TR)[\beta^{(n-1)}(-x - 1)\phi_m^{(n)}(x)]. \quad (3.2.42)$$

It then follows from the definition that, for $n \ge 2$ we have

$$\chi_m^{(n)}(x) = \frac{\tilde{\chi}_m^{(n-1)}(x)}{\tilde{\chi}^{(n-1)}(x)} - \frac{\tilde{\chi}_m^{(n-1)}(-x)}{\tilde{\chi}^{(n-1)}(-x)},$$
(3.2.43)

and

$$\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(n)}(x) = (\mu_{m} - \mu_{n-1}) \frac{\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(n-1)}(x)}{\tilde{\chi}^{(n-1)}(x)},$$
(3.2.44)

where the expression

$$\phi_m^{(n)}(x) = \mathscr{F}^{(n-1)}[\phi_m^{(n-1)}(x)] = \frac{\tilde{\chi}_m^{(n-1)}(x)}{\tilde{\chi}^{(n-1)}(x)} - \frac{\chi_m^{(n-1)}(x)}{\chi^{(n-1)}(x)}$$
(3.2.45)

and the eigenvalue equation of $\phi_m^{(n-1)}(x)$ (specifically, the (n-1)-step version of (3.2.5)) have been used for deriving (3.2.43) and (3.2.44).

As it has been shown in [16–18, 24, 29, 59], multiple-step exceptional orthogonal polynomials can be expressed in Wronskian determinants whose entries are the classical orthogonal polynomials and their derivatives. Similarly, in the exceptional Bannai-Ito case, for example, the eigenfunctions of the 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $H^{(1)}$ are the following determinant.

$$\phi_m^{(2)}(x) = \frac{1}{\tilde{\chi}^{(1)}(x)\chi^{(1)}(x)} \begin{vmatrix} \tilde{\chi}_m^{(1)}(x) & \chi_m^{(1)}(x) \\ \tilde{\chi}^{(1)}(x) & \chi^{(1)}(x) \end{vmatrix}$$

For the eigenfunctions of the *n*-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $H^{(n)}$ $(n \ge 2)$, we show in the next theorem that they can always be expressed in a 3×3 determinant.

Theorem 3.2.2. The eigenfunctions of the n-th step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $H^{(n)}$ $(n \ge 2)$ can be expressed as the 3×3 determinant

$$\phi_{m}^{(n+1)}(x) = \prod_{j=1}^{n-2} \frac{(\mu_{m} - \mu_{j})}{(\mu_{n} - \mu_{j})} \begin{vmatrix} \mu_{m} \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(-x) \\ \mu_{n} \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(-x) \\ \mu_{n-1} \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) \end{vmatrix}$$

$$\cdot \left[(\mu_{n} - \mu_{n-1}) \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x) \begin{vmatrix} \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) \\ \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) \end{vmatrix} \right]^{-1}$$
(3.2.46)

where μ_n is the eigenvalue of $\phi_n^{(1)}(x)$: $H[\phi_n^{(1)}(x)] = \mu_n \phi_n^{(1)}(x)$, and

$$\tilde{\chi}_n^{(1)}(x) = \beta(-x-1)\phi_n^{(1)}(x) + \beta(x)\phi_n^{(1)}(-x-1).$$

Proof. First, it is easily seen from (3.2.43) and (3.2.44) that, for $n \ge 2$ we have

$$\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(n)}(x) = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n-1} (\mu_{m} - \mu_{j})}{\prod_{k=1}^{n-2} (\mu_{n-1} - \mu_{k})} \frac{\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x)}{\tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x)}, \quad \chi_{m}^{(n)}(x) = \frac{\prod_{j=1}^{n-2} (\mu_{m} - \mu_{j})}{\prod_{k=1}^{n-2} (\mu_{n-1} - \mu_{k})} \left(\frac{\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x)}{\tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x)} - \frac{\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(-x)}{\tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x)}\right).$$

Then from (3.2.45) it follows that

$$\begin{split} \phi_{m}^{(n+1)}(x) &= \frac{\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(n)}(x)}{\tilde{\chi}^{(n)}(x)} - \frac{\chi_{m}^{(n)}(x)}{\chi^{(n)}(x)} \\ &= \prod_{j=1}^{n-1} \frac{(\mu_{m} - \mu_{j})}{(\mu_{n} - \mu_{j})} \frac{\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x)}{\tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x)} - \prod_{j=1}^{n-2} \frac{(\mu_{m} - \mu_{j})}{(\mu_{n} - \mu_{j})} \frac{\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x) \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(-x) \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x)}{\tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x)} \\ &= \prod_{j=1}^{n-2} \frac{(\mu_{m} - \mu_{j})}{(\mu_{n} - \mu_{j})} \left[\frac{(\mu_{m} - \mu_{n-1}) \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x)}{(\mu_{n} - \mu_{n-1}) \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x)} - \frac{\tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x) \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(-x) \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x)}{\tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) - \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x)} \right] \end{split}$$

Finally, the formula in the square brackets can be rewritten into

$$\begin{vmatrix} \mu_{m} \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{m}^{(1)}(-x) \\ \mu_{n} \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(-x) \\ \mu_{n-1} \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) \end{vmatrix} \cdot \left[(\mu_{n} - \mu_{n-1}) \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x) \begin{vmatrix} \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n}^{(1)}(-x) \\ \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(x) & \tilde{\chi}_{n-1}^{(1)}(-x) \end{vmatrix} \right]^{-1}.$$

Let us observe the right-hand side of (3.2.46), $\phi_m^{(n+1)}(x)$ vanishes if m = i for i = 1, 2, ..., n. The cases m = n and m = n - 1 are due to the 3×3 determinant part, while the cases $m \in \{1, 2, ..., n - 2\}$ are due to the prefactor $\prod_{j=1}^{n-2} (\mu_m - \mu_j)$. In this way, there are in total *n* eigenfunctions been deleted from the eigenfunction sequence of the *n*-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $H^{(n)}$.

3.3 Quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions of Bannai-Ito operator

In this section we consider a special class of eigenfunctions of the Bannai-Ito operator, which are called quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions. A quasi-polynomial eigenfunction is the product of a gauge factor and a polynomial part:

$$H[\xi(x)p(x)] = \lambda\xi(x)p(x),$$

where $\xi(x)$ is a function in x and p(x) is a polynomial in x, λ is the corresponding eigenvalue. The Bannai-Ito operator may have several sequences of quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions. From these quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions, in the next section, we will choose the seed solutions of the DT. This plays an important role in the construction of exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials.

From the definition of the quasi-polynomial eigenfunction, we will derive all possible gauge factors $\xi(x)$. First, let us consider the conjugated operator $\tilde{H} = \xi^{-1}H\xi$:

$$\begin{split} \tilde{H} &= \frac{1}{\xi(x)} \left[\alpha(x)(R-I)\xi(x) + \beta(x)(TR-I)\xi(x) \right] \\ &= \alpha(x) \frac{\xi(-x)}{\xi(x)}(R-I) + \beta(x) \frac{\xi(-x-1)}{\xi(x)}(TR-I) + \alpha(x) \left[\frac{\xi(-x)}{\xi(x)} - 1 \right] + \beta(x) \left[\frac{\xi(-x-1)}{\xi(x)} - 1 \right]. \end{split}$$

The operator \tilde{H} has polynomial eigenfunctions if and only if \tilde{H} is also a Bannai-Ito operator, i.e. there exist real numbers ρ'_1 , ρ'_2 , r'_1 , r'_2 and ρ''_1 , ρ''_2 , r''_1 , r''_2 such that both (3.3.1) and one of (3.3.2), (3.3.3) are satisfied

$$\alpha(x)\left[\frac{\xi(-x)}{\xi(x)} - 1\right] + \beta(x)\left[\frac{\xi(-x-1)}{\xi(x)} - 1\right] = const.$$
(3.3.1)

$$\alpha(x)\frac{\xi(-x)}{\xi(x)} = \frac{(x-\rho_1')(x-\rho_2')}{-2x}, \quad \beta(x)\frac{\xi(-x-1)}{\xi(x)} = \frac{(x-r_1'+\frac{1}{2})(x-r_2'+\frac{1}{2})}{2x+1}, \quad (3.3.2)$$

$$\alpha(x)\frac{\xi(-x)}{\xi(x)} = \frac{(x-\rho_1'')(x-\rho_2'')}{2x}, \quad \beta(x)\frac{\xi(-x-1)}{\xi(x)} = -\frac{(x-r_1''+\frac{1}{2})(x-r_2''+\frac{1}{2})}{2x+1}.$$
 (3.3.3)

Further calculations lead to the following lemma.

Lemma 3.3.1. Let $H = \alpha(x)(R - I) + \beta(x)(TR - I)$ be a Bannai-Ito operator, then the conjugated operator $\tilde{H} = \xi^{-1}H\xi$ has polynomial eigenfunctions if and only if $\xi(x)$ satisfies

$$\frac{\xi(-x)}{\xi(x)} = \frac{(x-\rho_1')(x-\rho_2')}{(x-\rho_1)(x-\rho_2)}, \quad \frac{\xi(-x-1)}{\xi(x)} = \frac{(x-r_1'+\frac{1}{2})(x-r_2'+\frac{1}{2})}{(x-r_1+\frac{1}{2})(x-r_2+\frac{1}{2})},$$
(3.3.4)

where $\rho'_1 \rho'_2 = \rho_1 \rho_2$ and $r'_1 r'_2 = r_1 r_2$; or $\xi(x)$ satisfies

$$\frac{\xi(-x)}{\xi(x)} = -\frac{(x-\rho_1'')(x-\rho_2'')}{(x-\rho_1)(x-\rho_2)}, \quad \frac{\xi(-x-1)}{\xi(x)} = -\frac{(x-r_1''+\frac{1}{2})(x-r_2''+\frac{1}{2})}{(x-r_1+\frac{1}{2})(x-r_2+\frac{1}{2})},$$
(3.3.5)

where $\rho_1'' \rho_2'' = -\rho_1 \rho_2$ and $r_1'' r_2'' = -r_1 r_2$.

Proof. It is easily seen that (3.3.4) and (3.3.5) follow from (3.3.2) and (3.3.3), respectively. Thus, (3.3.1) can be rewritten into

$$const. = \frac{(x - \rho_1')(x - \rho_2') - (x - \rho_1)(x - \rho_2)}{-2x} + \frac{(x - r_1' + \frac{1}{2})(x - r_2' + \frac{1}{2}) - (x - r_1 + \frac{1}{2})(x - r_2 + \frac{1}{2})}{2x + 1}$$
$$= -\frac{\rho_1 + \rho_2 - \rho_1' - \rho_2'}{2} + \frac{r_1 + r_2 - r_1' - r_2'}{2} - \frac{\rho_1' \rho_2' - \rho_1 \rho_2}{2x} + \frac{r_1' r_2' - r_1 r_2}{2x + 1}$$

which implies $\rho'_1 \rho'_2 - \rho_1 \rho_2 = 0$ and $r'_1 r'_2 - r_1 r_2 = 0$; or

$$const. = \frac{(x - \rho_1'')(x - \rho_2'') + (x - \rho_1)(x - \rho_2)}{2x} - \frac{(x - r_1'' + \frac{1}{2})(x - r_2'' + \frac{1}{2}) + (x - r_1 + \frac{1}{2})(x - r_2 + \frac{1}{2})}{2x + 1}$$
$$= -\frac{\rho_1 + \rho_2 + \rho_1'' + \rho_2''}{2} + \frac{r_1 + r_2 + r_1'' + r_2''}{2} - \frac{1}{2} + \frac{\rho_1'' \rho_2'' + \rho_1 \rho_2}{2x} - \frac{r_1'' r_2'' + r_1 r_2}{2x + 1}$$
hich implies $\rho_1'' \rho_2'' + \rho_1 \rho_2 = 0$ and $r_1'' r_2'' + r_1 r_2 = 0$.

which implies $\rho_1'' \rho_2'' + \rho_1 \rho_2 = 0$ and $r_1'' r_2'' + r_1 r_2 = 0$.

It then follows that there are both 4 sets of parameterizations (σ_1 , σ_2 , σ_3 , σ_4) for ρ'_1 , ρ'_2 , r'_1 , r'_2 and $\rho_1'', \rho_2'', r_1'', r_2'' (\sigma_5, \sigma_6, \sigma_7, \sigma_8)$:

$$\begin{split} &\sigma_1 = \{\rho_1, \rho_2, r_1, r_2\}, \quad \sigma_2 = \{-\rho_1, -\rho_2, -r_1, -r_2\}, \\ &\sigma_3 = \{-\rho_1, -\rho_2, r_1, r_2\}, \quad \sigma_4 = \{\rho_1, \rho_2, -r_1, -r_2\}, \\ &\sigma_5 = \{-\rho_1, \rho_2, -r_1, r_2\}, \quad \sigma_6 = \{\rho_1, -\rho_2, r_1, -r_2\}, \\ &\sigma_7 = \{\rho_1, -\rho_2, -r_1, r_2\}, \quad \sigma_8 = \{-\rho_1, \rho_2, r_1, -r_2\}. \end{split}$$

Remark 3.3.1. One may ask why there are only 8 sets of parameterizations, for example, the condition $\rho'_1\rho'_2 = \rho_1\rho_2$ leads to $\rho'_1 = k\rho_1$ and $\rho'_2 = \rho_2/k$ where k can be any real number. We will show that the conditions (3.3.4) and (3.3.5) imply that only the choices $k = \pm 1$ are allowed. In fact, if we let $\rho'_1 = k\rho_1$ and $\rho'_2 = \rho_2/k$, then the first equation of (3.3.4) can be rewritten into

$$\frac{\xi(-x)}{\xi(x)} = \frac{(x-k\rho_1)(x-\rho_2/k)}{(x-\rho_1)(x-\rho_2)},$$
(3.3.6)

which becomes the next equation with x replaced by -x

$$\frac{\xi(x)}{\xi(-x)} = \frac{(x+k\rho_1)(x+\rho_2/k)}{(x+\rho_1)(x+\rho_2)}.$$
(3.3.7)

Then we have

$$1 = \frac{\xi(-x)}{\xi(x)} \cdot \frac{\xi(x)}{\xi(-x)} = \frac{(x-k\rho_1)(x-\rho_2/k)}{(x-\rho_1)(x-\rho_2)} \cdot \frac{(x+k\rho_1)(x+\rho_2/k)}{(x+\rho_1)(x+\rho_2)} = \frac{(x^2-k^2\rho_1^2)(x^2-\rho_2^2/k^2)}{(x^2-\rho_1^2)(x^2-\rho_2^2)}.$$

The above equation have 4 solutions: $k^2 = 1$ and $k^2 = \rho_2^2 / \rho_1^2$. However, the former two solutions lead to $(\rho'_1, \rho'_2) = (\rho_1, \rho_2)$ or $(-\rho_1, -\rho_2)$ while the latter two solutions lead to $(\rho'_1, \rho'_2) = (\rho_2, \rho_1)$ or $(-\rho_2, -\rho_1)$. One should notice that nothing changes if we exchange ρ'_1 with $\rho'_2(\rho''_1 \text{ with } \rho''_2)$ or r'_1 with $r'_2(r''_1 \text{ with } r''_2)$ due to the symmetry of the right-hand sides of (3.3.2) ((3.3.3)). In fact, the solutions $k^2 = \rho_2^2/\rho_1^2$ lead to the same gauge factors as the solutions $k^2 = 1$. Therefore, we drop the solutions $k^2 = \rho_2^2/\rho_1^2$ and keep $k^2 = 1$. This reasoning can also be applied to the remaining cases. In this way we conclude that there are in total 8 cases of parameterizations. These parameterizations correspond to the following 8 classes of quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions.

Theorem 3.3.1. The Bannai-Ito operator has 8 sequences of quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions: $\{\xi_d(x)p_m^{(d)}(x)\}_{m=0}^{\infty}, d \in \{1, 2, ..., 8\}$. The 8 gauge factors are

$$\begin{split} \xi_1(x) &= 1, \\ \xi_2(x) &= \frac{\Gamma(1/2 + r_1 + x) \Gamma(1/2 + r_1 - x) \Gamma(1/2 + r_2 + x) \Gamma(1/2 + r_2 - x)}{\Gamma(\rho_1 - x) \Gamma(1 + \rho_1 + x) \Gamma(\rho_2 - x) \Gamma(1 + \rho_2 + x)}, \\ \xi_3(x) &= \frac{1}{\Gamma(\rho_1 - x) \Gamma(1 + \rho_1 + x) \Gamma(\rho_2 - x) \Gamma(1 + \rho_2 + x)}, \\ \xi_4(x) &= \Gamma(1/2 + r_1 + x) \Gamma(1/2 + r_1 - x) \Gamma(1/2 + r_2 - x), \\ \xi_5(x) &= \frac{\Gamma(1/2 + r_1 + x) \Gamma(1/2 + r_1 - x)}{\Gamma(\rho_1 - x) \Gamma(1 + \rho_1 + x)}, \\ \xi_6(x) &= \frac{\Gamma(1/2 + r_2 + x) \Gamma(1/2 + r_2 - x)}{\Gamma(\rho_2 - x) \Gamma(1 + \rho_2 + x)}, \\ \xi_7(x) &= \frac{\Gamma(1/2 + r_1 + x) \Gamma(1/2 + r_1 - x)}{\Gamma(\rho_1 - x) \Gamma(1 + \rho_1 + x)}, \\ \xi_8(x) &= \frac{\Gamma(1/2 + r_2 + x) \Gamma(1/2 + r_2 - x)}{\Gamma(\rho_1 - x) \Gamma(1 + \rho_1 + x)}. \end{split}$$

And the polynomials $p_m^{(d)}(x) = B_n(x; \sigma_d)$ for $m \in \{0, 1, 2, ...\}$, $d \in \{1, 2, ..., 8\}$. Moreover, the eigenvalues of the quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions $\{\xi_d(x)p_m^{(d)}(x)\}$ are

$$\mu_{d} = \mu_{d,m} = \begin{cases} \lambda_{m}(\sigma_{d}) + C_{d}, & \text{if } d \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}, \\ -\lambda_{m}(\sigma_{d}) + C_{d}, & \text{if } d \in \{5, 6, 7, 8\}, \end{cases}$$
(3.3.8)

where $\lambda_m(\sigma_d)$ is the eigenvalue of the Bannai-Ito polynomial $B_m(x)$ (refers to (3.1.3), (3.1.4)) with parameters given by σ_d , and the definition of the constant C_d is

$$C_{d} = \begin{cases} -\frac{\rho_{1} + \rho_{2} - \rho_{1}' - \rho_{2}'}{2} + \frac{r_{1} + r_{2} - r_{1}' - r_{2}'}{2}, & \text{if } \{\rho_{1}', \rho_{2}', r_{1}', r_{2}'\} = \sigma_{d} \text{ and } d \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}, \\ -\frac{\rho_{1} + \rho_{2} + \rho_{1}'' + \rho_{2}''}{2} + \frac{r_{1} + r_{2} + r_{1}'' + r_{2}'' - 1}{2}, & \text{if } \{\rho_{1}'', \rho_{2}'', r_{1}'', r_{2}''\} = \sigma_{d} \text{ and } d \in \{5, 6, 7, 8\}. \end{cases}$$

Proof. Here we derive the above quasi-polynomial eigenfunctions using Lemma 3.3.1. Notice that $\xi(-x)/\xi(-x-1) = F(x)$ leads to $\xi(x+1)/\xi(x) = F(-x-1)$ if one substitute x by -x-1, hence it is convenient to construct the gauge factors with the help of the Gamma function.

In the first case we have $\xi_1(x+1)/\xi_1(x) = 1$, which implies $\xi_1(x)$ is a constant. In the second case we have

$$\frac{\xi_2(x+1)}{\xi_2(x)} = \frac{(x-\rho_1+1)(x-\rho_2+1)(x+r_1+1/2)(x+r_2+1/2)}{(x+\rho_1+1)(x+\rho_2+1)(x-r_1+1/2)(x-r_2+1/2)}.$$

Recall that $\Gamma(x+1)/\Gamma(x) = x$, we can express $\xi_2(x)$ in terms of the Gamma functions

$$\xi_2(x) = c_2(x) \frac{\Gamma(x-\rho_1+1)\Gamma(x-\rho_2+1)\Gamma(x+r_1+1/2)\Gamma(x+r_2+1/2)}{\Gamma(x+\rho_1+1)\Gamma(x+\rho_2+1)\Gamma(x-r_1+1/2)\Gamma(x-r_2+1/2)}$$

where $c_2(x)$ is periodic function of period 1, $c_2(x+1) = c_2(x)$. The fact that $\xi_2(x)$ must be an eigenfunction of *H* implies that $c_2(x)$ cannot be a constant. If we let

$$c_2(x) = \frac{\sin[\pi(x-\rho_1+1)]\sin[\pi(x-\rho_2+1)]}{\sin[\pi(x-r_1+1/2)]\sin[\pi(x-r_2+1/2)]}$$

then the following expression of $\xi_2(x)$ satisfies $H[\xi_2(x)] = (r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2)\xi_2(x)$.

$$\xi_2(x) = \frac{\Gamma(x+r_1+1/2)\Gamma(-x+r_1+1/2)\Gamma(x+r_2+1/2)\Gamma(-x+r_2+1/2)}{\Gamma(x+\rho_1+1)\Gamma(-x+\rho_1)\Gamma(x+\rho_2+1)\Gamma(-x+\rho_2)}$$

In the derivation of the above expression of $\xi_2(x)$, Euler's reflection formula

$$\Gamma(x)\Gamma(1-x) = \pi/\sin(\pi x), \ x \notin \mathbb{Z}$$

has been used (assuming $x - \rho_1 + 1$, $x - \rho_2 + 1$, $x - r_1 + 1/2$, $x - r_2 + 1/2 \notin \mathbb{Z}$).

The remaining $\xi_k(x)$'s can be obtained in the same way by choosing suitable periodic function c(x)'s and applying Euler's reflection formula. We shall assume that the restriction $x \notin \mathbb{Z}$ is always satisfied wherever Euler's reflection formula was applied. This is not difficult since ρ_1, ρ_2, r_1, r_2 can be any real numbers.

According to (3.3.1), (3.3.2), (3.3.3) and Lemma 3.3.1, it is easily seen that the conjugated operator

$$\tilde{H} = \begin{cases} H(\sigma_d) + C_d, & \text{if } d \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}, \\ -H(\sigma_d) + C_d, & \text{if } d \in \{5, 6, 7, 8\}, \end{cases}$$

thus $p_n^{(d)}(x) = B_n(x; \sigma_d)$ and (3.3.8) follow immediately.

3.4 Exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials

Using the results of Section 3.2 and Section 3.3, we are now able to construct the exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials. We first show that there are missing degrees in the constructed exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomial sequences. Notably their missing degrees demonstrate different rules compared with the known 1-step XOPs. And then we prove that the exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials are orthogonal with respect to a discrete measure on the exceptional Bannai-Ito grid.

Define an index set $\mathbf{D} = \{1, 2, ..., 8\} \times \mathbb{Z}_{\geq 0}$. For the sake of simplicity, we assume that for any index $\mathbf{d} = (d, m) \in \mathbf{D}$, a quasi-polynomial eigenfunction $\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) = \xi_d(x) p_m^{(d)}(x)$ is uniquely determined upon the constant multiplier. Last but not least, we assume that the Bannai-Ito polynomials mentioned in this paper are always monic (i.e. the coefficient of the highest order term is 1), hence $p_n^{(d)}(x)$ are always monic too. One could refer to Theorem 3.3.1.

Now we take a quasi-polynomial eigenfunction $\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x)$ with $\mathbf{d} = (d, m)$ as a seed solution and show that the Darboux transformed eigenfunction $\hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi_{\mathbf{d}}}[B_n(x)]$ is just the exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomial we want. Firstly, a well selected decoupling coefficient r(x) is essential.

Lemma 3.4.1. Assume that the decoupling coefficient r(x) is given by

$$r(x) = \tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\frac{\eta_d(x)}{x\xi_d(x)},\tag{3.4.1}$$

where $\eta_d(x)$ is the polynomial of lowest degree such that

$$\frac{\xi_d(-x)}{\xi_d(x)} = \frac{\eta_d(-x)}{\eta_d(x)}$$

Then the Darboux transformed eigenfunction

$$\hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi_d}[B_n(x)] = \frac{r(x)}{\chi(x)\tilde{\chi}(x)} \begin{vmatrix} (I-R)[\phi_d(x)] & (I-R)[B_n(x)] \\ (I+TR)[\beta(-x-1)\phi_d(x)] & (I+TR)[\beta(-x-1)B_n(x)] \end{vmatrix}$$

is a polynomial.

Proof. Given the seed solution $\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) = \xi_d(x) p_m^{(d)}(x)$ whose eigenvalue is $\mu_{\mathbf{d}}$, we have

$$\begin{split} \frac{\chi(x)\tilde{\chi}(x)}{r(x)} \widehat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi_{\mathbf{d}}}[B_{n}(x)] &= (\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) - \phi_{\mathbf{d}}(-x))(\beta(-x-1)B_{n}(x) + \beta(x)B_{n}(-x-1)) \\ &\quad -(B_{n}(x) - B_{n}(-x))(\beta(-x-1)\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) + \beta(x)\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(-x-1)) \\ &= (\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) - \phi_{\mathbf{d}}(-x))[(\lambda_{n} + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1))B_{n}(x) + \alpha(x)(B_{n}(x) - B_{n}(-x))] \\ &\quad -(B_{n}(x) - B_{n}(-x))[(\mu_{\mathbf{d}} + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1))\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) + \alpha(x)(\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) - \phi_{\mathbf{d}}(-x))] \\ &= (\lambda_{n} + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1))B_{n}(x)(\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) - \phi_{\mathbf{d}}(-x)) \\ &\quad -(\mu_{\mathbf{d}} + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1))\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x)(B_{n}(x) - B_{n}(-x)) \\ &= \frac{x\xi_{\mathbf{d}}(x)}{\eta_{\mathbf{d}}(x)} \Big[(\lambda_{n} + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1))B_{n}(x) \Big(\frac{\eta_{\mathbf{d}}(x)p_{m}^{(d)}(x) - \eta_{\mathbf{d}}(-x)p_{m}^{(d)}(-x)}{x} \Big) \\ &\quad -(\mu_{\mathbf{d}} + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1))\eta_{\mathbf{d}}(x)p_{m}^{(d)}(x) \Big(\frac{B_{n}(x) - B_{n}(-x)}{x} \Big) \Big], \end{split}$$

where the second equation follows from equation (3.2.3) which can be used as

$$\beta(-x-1)\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) + \beta(x)\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(-x-1) = (\mu_{\mathbf{d}} + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1))\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) + \alpha(x)(\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x) - \phi_{\mathbf{d}}(-x)),$$

$$\beta(-x-1)B_n(x) + \beta(x)B_n(-x-1) = (\lambda_n + \beta(x) + \beta(-x-1))B_n(x) + \alpha(x)(B_n(x) - B_n(-x)).$$

The third equation is obtained after the elimination of

$$\alpha(x)(B_n(x)-B_n(-x))(\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(x)-\phi_{\mathbf{d}}(-x)).$$

Finally, by introducing the polynomial $\eta_d(x)$ we arrive at the fourth equation. Notice that the function in the square brackets is just the desired polynomial. Therefore, the decoupling coefficient should be

$$r(x) = \tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\frac{\eta_d(x)}{x\xi_d(x)}.$$

Here we give all the functions $\eta_d(x)$ explicitly for later convenience. This list is obtained via Lemma 3.3.1,

$$\begin{array}{ll} \eta_1(x) = 1, & \eta_2(x) = (x - \rho_1)(x - \rho_2), \\ \eta_3(x) = (x - \rho_1)(x - \rho_2), & \eta_4(x) = 1, \\ \eta_5(x) = (x - \rho_1), & \eta_6(x) = (x - \rho_2), \\ \eta_7(x) = (x - \rho_2), & \eta_8(x) = (x - \rho_1). \end{array}$$

With r(x) given by Lemma 3.4.1, let $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) = \hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi_{\mathbf{d}}}[B_n(x)]$, then $\{B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)\}$ are the polynomial eigenfunctions of $\hat{H}^{(1)}$: $\hat{H}^{(1)}[B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)] = \lambda_n B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$ ($\lambda_n \neq \mu_{\mathbf{d}}$). In what follows, we give an analysis of the degree of $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$ and show that there are missing degrees in their polynomial sequences. From the proof of Lemma 3.4.1, we have

$$B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) = (\lambda_n - \beta) \left(\frac{\eta_d(x) p_m^{(d)}(x) - \eta_d(-x) p_m^{(d)}(-x)}{x} \right) B_n(x)$$

$$-(\mu_{\mathbf{d}} - \beta) \left(\frac{B_n(x) - B_n(-x)}{x} \right) \eta_d(x) p_m^{(d)}(x),$$
(3.4.2)

where the constant $\beta = -(\beta(x) + \beta(-x-1)) = r_1 + r_2$ (refers to (3.2.22)).

Remark 3.4.1. Note that $\mu_{4,0} = r_1 + r_2 = \beta$ (refers to (3.3.8)), in this case the polynomials $B_{4,0,n}^{(1)}(x) = 0$ for n = 0, 1, 2, ..., which implies that $\mathbf{d} = (4, 0)$ cannot be chosen as the index of a seed solution.

In order to see the degree of $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$, let

$$B_n(x) = x^n + a_{n-1}x^{n-1} + \dots$$
(3.4.3)

then from Theorem 3.3.1 we have

$$p_n^{(d)}(x) = B_n(x; \sigma_d) = x^n + a_{n-1}(\sigma_d)x^{n-1} + \cdots$$

where $a_i(\sigma_d)$ (i = 0, 1, ..., n - 1) are the coefficients with respect to the parameterization σ_d . For d = 1, ..., 8, denote the degree of $\eta_d(x)$ by κ_d such that $\eta_d(x) = x^{\kappa_d} + b^{(d)}_{\kappa_d-1}x^{\kappa_d-1} + \cdots$. Then

$$\eta_d(x)p_m^{(d)}(x) = x^{m+\kappa_d} + (a_{m-1}(\sigma_d) + b_{\kappa_d-1}^{(d)})x^{m+\kappa_d-1} + \cdots,$$
(3.4.4)

where $\kappa_d = 0$ for $d \in \{1,4\}$; $\kappa_d = 2$ for $d \in \{2,3\}$; and $\kappa_d = 1$ for $d \in \{5,6,7,8\}$.

Proposition 3.4.1. Let S be the set of degrees of $\{B_{d,n}^{(1)}(x)\}$, where the index $d \in D \setminus \{(1,n), (4,0)\}$. If the conditions (4.14) and (4.15) are satisfied, then we have

- for m is odd,
 - $d = 1 : S = \{m 1, m, m + 1, \dots, 2m 2, 2m, \dots\};$
 - $d = 4: S = \{m 1, m, m + 1, m + 2, m + 3, \dots\};$
 - $d = 2,3: S = \{m+1, m+2, m+3, m+4, m+5, \cdots\};$
 - $d = 5, 6, 7, 8: S = \{m 1, m + 1, m + 1, m + 3, m + 3, \cdots\};$
- for m is even,
 - $d = 1: S = \{m 2, m, m, \dots, 2m 4, 2m 4, 2m 2, 2m, 2m, \dots\};$
 - $d = 4: S = \{m 2, m, m, m + 2, m + 2, \dots\};$
 - $d = 2,3: S = \{m, m+2, m+2, m+4, m+4, \dots\};$
 - $d = 5, 6, 7, 8: S = \{m, m+1, m+2, m+3, m+4, \cdots\}.$

Proof. According to (3.4.3) and (3.4.4), the right-hand side of (3.4.2) can be expanded as

$$B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) = (\lambda_n - \beta)[x^{m+\kappa_d - 1} + (-x)^{m+\kappa_d - 1} + (a_{m-1}(\sigma_d) + b_{\kappa_d - 1})(x^{m+\kappa_d - 2} + (-x)^{m+\kappa_d - 2}) + \cdots](x^n + a_{n-1}x^{n-1} + \cdots) \\ - (\mu_{\mathbf{d}} - \beta)[x^{n-1} + (-x)^{n-1} + a_{n-1}(x^{n-2} + (-x)^{n-2}) + \cdots][x^{m+\kappa_d} + (a_{m-1}(\sigma_d) + b_{\kappa_d - 1})x^{m+\kappa_d - 1} + \cdots] \\ = (\lambda_n - \beta)[x^{m+\kappa_d - 1} + (-x)^{m+\kappa_d - 1} + (a_{m-1}(\sigma_d) + b_{\kappa_d - 1})(x^{m+\kappa_d - 2} + (-x)^{m+\kappa_d - 2})]x^n \\ - (\mu_{\mathbf{d}} - \beta)[x^{n-1} + (-x)^{n-1} + a_{n-1}(x^{n-2} + (-x)^{n-2})]x^{m+\kappa_d} + \cdots.$$

Note that $x^k + (-x)^k = 2x^k$ if k is even, otherwise $x^k + (-x)^k = 0$. The degree of $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$ depends on the parities of $m + \kappa_d$ and n. Specifically, the leading term of $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$ is given by:

$$B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) = \begin{cases} 2(\lambda_n - \beta)x^{n+m+\kappa_d - 1} + \cdots, & \text{if } m + \kappa_d \text{ is odd and } n \text{ is even,} \\ 2(\lambda_n - \mu_{\mathbf{d}})x^{n+m+\kappa_d - 1} + \cdots, & \text{if } m + \kappa_d \text{ is odd and } n \text{ is odd,} \\ 2C_{d,m,n}x^{n+m+\kappa_d - 2} + \cdots, & \text{if } m + \kappa_d \text{ is even and } n \text{ is even,} \\ -2(\mu_{\mathbf{d}} - \beta)x^{n+m+\kappa_d - 1} + \cdots, & \text{if } m + \kappa_d \text{ is even and } n \text{ is odd,} \end{cases}$$

where $C_{n,m,d} = (\lambda_n - \beta)(a_{m-1}(\sigma_d) + b_{\kappa_d-1}^{(d)}) - (\mu_d - \beta)a_{n-1}$. Recall that in the case d = 1, the seed solution is $\phi_{(1,m)} = B_m(x)$, thus $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) = 0$ for d = 1, n = m since $\hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi_{(1,m)}}[B_m(x)] = 0$. In the other cases if we assume that the coefficient of the leading term of $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$ is always non-zero, i.e.

$$\lambda_n - \beta \neq 0$$
, if *n* is even, (3.4.5)

$$\mu_{\mathbf{d}} - \beta \neq 0$$
, if $d \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}$ and *m* is even; or $d \in \{5, 6, 7, 8\}$ and *m* is odd, (3.4.6)

$$\lambda_n - \mu_{\mathbf{d}} \neq 0$$
, if $d \in \{1, 2, 3, 4\}, m$ is odd and n is odd; (3.4.7)

or $d \in \{5, 6, 7, 8\}, m$ is even and n is odd,

$$C_{d,m,n} \neq 0, \quad \text{if } d \in \{1,2,3,4\}, m \text{ is even and } n \text{ is even;}$$

$$\text{or } d \in \{5,6,7,8\}, m \text{ is odd and } n \text{ is even,}$$

$$(3.4.8)$$

are satisfied, then for the degree of $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$ we have

$$\deg\left(B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)\right) = \begin{cases} n+m+\kappa_d-1, & \text{if } m+\kappa_d \text{ is odd; or } m+\kappa_d \text{ is even and } n \text{ is odd,} & (3.4.9)\\ n+m+\kappa_d-2, & \text{if } m+\kappa_d \text{ is even and } n \text{ is even.} & (3.4.10) \end{cases}$$

By analyzing the parity of m and n, it turns out that (3.4.9) leads to the first three cases for m is odd and the last case for m is even, while (3.4.10) leads to the other cases in Proposition 3.4.1.

Finally, let us consider under which conditions will (3.4.5)-(3.4.8) be satisfied. It follows from (3.1.3), (3.1.4) and (3.2.23) that

$$\lambda_n - \beta = \begin{cases} n/2 - (r_1 + r_2), & \text{if } n \text{ is even,} \end{cases}$$
(3.4.11)

$$\int -(\rho_1 + \rho_2) - (n+1)/2, \quad \text{if } n \text{ is odd},$$
 (3.4.12)

thus (3.4.5) holds under the condition

$$r_1 + r_2 \notin \mathbb{Z}. \tag{3.4.13}$$

In Section 3.6 we list the explicit expressions for $\mu_d - \beta$, $\lambda_n - \mu_d$ and $C_{d,m,n}$ in the corresponding cases. From (3.6.1)-(3.6.24) we can see that (3.4.6)-(3.4.8) are satisfied under the conditions

$$r_1 + r_2, \ \rho_1 + \rho_2, \ r_1 + r_2 + \rho_1 + \rho_2, \ r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 \notin \mathbb{Z},$$
 (3.4.14)

$$\frac{r_1 - r_2 - \rho_1 + \rho_2 + 1}{2}, \quad \frac{r_1 - r_2 + \rho_1 - \rho_2 + 1}{2}, \quad r_i - \rho_j + \frac{1}{2}, \quad r_i + \rho_j + \frac{1}{2} \notin \mathbb{Z}, \quad i, j \in \{1, 2\}, \quad (3.4.15)$$

and the index $\mathbf{d} = (d, m) \notin \{(1, n), (4, 0)\}.$

Remark 3.4.2. As we addressed in the proof of Proposition 3.4.1, in both cases d = 1 there are missing degrees (2m - 1 and 2m - 2, respectively) in the degree sequence of $\{B_{d,n}^{(1)}(x)\}$ when n = m, since the seed solutions $\phi_{(1,m)} = B_m(x)$ and the trivial eigenfunctions $\hat{\mathscr{F}}_{\phi_{(1,m)}}[B_m(x)] = 0$. On the other hand, the nontrivial eigenfunction given by (3.2.28) becomes

$$\phi_d^{(1)}(x) = \frac{\sigma(x)r(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)\omega(x)} = \frac{\sigma(x)\eta_d(x)}{x\alpha(x)\omega(x)\xi_d(x)}.$$

Here we may choose $\sigma(x) = x\alpha(x)\omega(x)\xi_1(x)/\eta_1(x)$. With this choice it holds that $\sigma(x+1) = \sigma(x)$ and $\sigma(-x) = -\sigma(x)$, then $\phi_d^{(1)}(x) = \eta_d(x)\xi_1(x)/\eta_1(x)\xi_d(x)$, such that only when d = 1 the nontrivial eigenfunction $\phi_d^{(1)}(x)$ is a polynomial and $\phi_{(1,m)}^{(1)}(x) = 1$. This eigenfunction should be added to the sequence $\{B_{(1,m),n}^{(1)}(x)\}\$, hence the polynomial sequence starts from degree 0. However, for the convenience of later discussion, we will not include this term into the XBI polynomial sequence.

Notice that in each case there are missing degrees in the degree sequence *S*, and the degrees of $\{B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)\}$ demonstrate exactly opposite features regarding the parity of *m*. Specifically, in the first three cases when *m* is odd and the in the last case when *m* is even, *S* behaves similarly as the known 1-step XOPs, where *S* is cofinite (the complement of *S* is finite). However, in the other cases *S* is not cofinite and only contains even degrees. This fact implies that in these cases, the normalized 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $\hat{H}^{(1)}$ only has even-order eigenpolynomials, and there are two different series of these eigenpolynomials. It would be better to say that the eigenpolynomials of odd degrees are not been deleted but are just replaced by the ones of even degrees. For example, in the case m = 2 and $d \in \{2,3\}$, the degree set of $\{B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)\}$ is $S = \{2,4,4,6,6,\ldots\}$. The polynomials $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$ are different from each other even when they have the same degree, and by no exception they are orthogonal according to Theorem 4.11.

The feature that *S* is not cofinite naturally conflicts with the definition of XOPs which satisfy a second-order differential (difference) equation. This is not surprising, the constraint that *S* should be cofinite is just the consequence of the way XOPs in [16–18, 23–27, 69] are presented, the reflection operator *R* has not appeared in their eigenvalue equations. Taking this opportunity, we would like to modify the definition of XOPs as the generalization of COPs where the only condition to be removed is that it contains polynomials of all degrees. By this means, the XOPs are characterized by orthogonality and forming the polynomial eigenfunctions of certain differential (difference) operators. From now on, we call $\{B_{d,n}^{(1)}(x)\}$ the 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito (XBI) polynomials.

Proposition 3.4.2. The exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials $B_{d,n}^{(1)}(x)$ can be expressed as the linear combination of the Bannai-Ito polynomials $B_n(x)$ and $B_n(-x) - B_n(x)$,

$$B_{d,n}^{(1)}(x) = C_{d,n}^{(1)}(x)B_n(x) + C_d^{(2)}(x)(B_n(x) - B_n(-x)),$$

where

$$C_{d,n}^{(1)}(x) = (\lambda_n - \beta) \left(\frac{\hat{\phi}_d^{(0)}(x) - \hat{\phi}_d^{(0)}(-x)}{x} \right), \quad C_d^{(2)}(x) = -(\mu_d - \beta) \frac{\hat{\phi}_d^{(0)}(x)}{x}$$

and $\hat{\phi}_{d}^{(0)}(x)$ is the normalized seed solution which is a polynomial:

$$\hat{\phi}_{d}^{(0)}(x) = \eta_{d}(x)p_{m}^{(d)}(x) = \phi_{d}(x)\frac{\eta_{d}(x)}{\xi_{d}(x)}.$$
(3.4.16)

Proof. The above result follows directly from (3.4.2).

Corollary 3.4.1. The exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials $B_{d,n}^{(1)}(x)$ satisfy

$$B_{d,n}^{(1)}(x) - B_{d,n}^{(1)}(-x) = \frac{1}{x} (\lambda_n - \mu_d) (\hat{\phi}_d^{(0)}(x) - \hat{\phi}_d^{(0)}(-x)) (B_n(x) - B_n(-x)).$$
(3.4.17)

Proof. From Proposition 4.5, we have

$$B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) - B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(-x) = C_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)B_n(x) - C_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(-x)B_n(-x) + (C_{\mathbf{d}}^{(2)}(x) + C_{\mathbf{d}}^{(2)}(-x))(B_n(-x) - B_n(x)).$$

Since $C_{d,n}^{(1)}(x) = C_{d,n}^{(1)}(-x)$, it turns out that

$$B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) - B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(-x) = (C_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) + C_{\mathbf{d}}^{(2)}(x) + C_{\mathbf{d}}^{(2)}(-x))(B_n(-x) - B_n(x))$$

= $\frac{1}{x}(\lambda_n - \mu_{\mathbf{d}})(\hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{d}}^{(0)}(x) - \hat{\phi}_{\mathbf{d}}^{(0)}(-x))(B_n(-x) - B_n(x)).$

3.4.1 Orthogonality

A finite difference operator *L* is said to be symmetric with respect to an inner product $\langle , \rangle_{\omega(x)}$ if it satisfies $\langle L[p(x)], q(x) \rangle_{\omega(x)} = \langle p(x), L[q(x)] \rangle_{\omega(x)}$ for any functions p(x) and q(x), where the inner product is defined by $\langle p(x), q(x) \rangle_{\omega(x)} = \sum_{x \in \chi} \omega(x) p(x) q(x)$. It is known from the Lemma 2.4 of [16] that if a difference operator is symmetric with respect to an inner product $\langle , \rangle_{\omega(x)}$, then its eigenfunctions are orthogonal with respect to $\omega(x)$.

Assume that the operator \mathscr{L} has polynomial eigenfunctions $\{p_n(x)\}$

$$\mathscr{L}[p_n(x)] = \lambda_n p_n(x) \ (\lambda_n \neq \lambda_m, n \neq m),$$

the linearity of the inner product $\langle , \rangle_{\omega(x)}$ implies

$$\langle \mathscr{L}[p_n(x)], p_m(x) \rangle_{\omega(x)} = \lambda_n \langle p_n(x), p_m(x) \rangle_{\omega(x)}, \langle p_n(x), \mathscr{L}[p_m(x)] \rangle_{\omega(x)} = \lambda_m \langle p_n(x), p_m(x) \rangle_{\omega(x)}.$$

Then if \mathscr{L} is symmetric with respect to $\langle , \rangle_{\omega(x)}$, it holds that

$$\langle p_n(x), p_m(x) \rangle_{\boldsymbol{\omega}(x)} = 0 \ (n \neq m),$$

which demonstrate the orthogonality of $\{p_n(x)\}$ with respect to $\omega(x)$. In light of this conclusion we need first to derive the conditions for \mathscr{L} to be symmetric.

Lemma 3.4.2. Let $\omega(x)$ be a weight function supported on a countable set $\chi \subset \mathbb{R}$. \mathscr{L} is a Dunkl shift operator of the form $\mathscr{L} = F(x)R + G(x)TR + C(x)$. Assume that the functions F(x), G(x) and $\omega(x)$ satisfy the following relations

$$\omega(x)F(x) = \omega(-x)F(-x), \qquad (3.4.18)$$

$$\omega(x)G(x) = \omega(-x-1)G(-x-1), \qquad (3.4.19)$$

for $x \in \mathbb{R}$ *, and the boundary conditions*

$$F(x) = 0 \quad \text{for } x \in \chi \setminus (-\chi), \tag{3.4.20}$$

$$G(x) = 0 \quad \text{for } x \in \chi \setminus (-\chi - 1), \tag{3.4.21}$$

then \mathscr{L} is symmetric with respect to $\omega(x)$. Here we denote by $-\chi$ and $-\chi - 1$ the sets $-\chi = \{-x : x \in \chi\}$ and $-\chi - 1 = \{-x - 1 : x \in \chi\}$, respectively.

Proof. According to the conditions, it holds for any functions p(x) and q(x) that

$$\sum_{x \in \chi} \omega(x) F(x) p(-x) q(x) = \sum_{x \in -\chi} \omega(-x) F(-x) p(x) q(-x)$$
$$= \sum_{x \in (-\chi) \cap \chi} \omega(x) F(x) p(x) q(-x) = \sum_{x \in \chi} \omega(x) F(x) p(x) q(-x),$$

and

$$\begin{split} \sum_{x\in\chi} \omega(x)G(x)p(-x-1)q(x) &= \sum_{x\in(-\chi-1)} \omega(-x-1)G(-x-1)p(x)q(-x-1) \\ &= \sum_{x\in(-\chi-1)\cap\chi} \omega(x)G(x)p(x)q(-x-1) = \sum_{x\in\chi} \omega(x)G(x)p(x)q(-x-1). \end{split}$$

These equations imply that

$$\sum_{x\in\chi}\omega(x)\big[F(x)p(-x)+G(x)p(-x-1)\big]q(x)=\sum_{x\in\chi}\omega(x)p(x)\big[F(x)q(-x)+G(x)q(-x-1)\big].$$

The above equation is equivalent to $\langle \mathscr{L}[p(x)], q(x) \rangle_{\omega(x)} = \langle p(x), \mathscr{L}[q(x)] \rangle_{\omega(x)}$, thus \mathscr{L} is symmetric with respect to $\omega(x)$.

Lemma 3.4.3. Assume that $\omega(x)$ is the weight function associated with a Dunkl-shift operator $\mathscr{L} = F(x)R + G(x)TR + C(x)$ such that (3.4.18), (3.4.19), (3.4.20) and (3.4.21) hold, then it satisfies

$$\frac{\omega(x+1)}{\omega(x)} = \frac{F(-x-1)G(x)}{F(x+1)G(-x-1)}$$

Proof. The equations

$$\omega(x)F(x) = \omega(-x)F(-x), \quad \omega(x)G(x) = \omega(-x-1)G(-x-1)$$

imply that

$$\frac{\omega(-x)}{\omega(-x-1)} = \frac{F(x)G(-x-1)}{F(-x)G(x)},$$

after substituting x by -x - 1 then we get the desired result.

Now we are able to give the weight functions of the exceptional Bannai-Ito operator by using the properties of the Gamma function as we did in Section 3.3. However, it takes less steps if the relationship between the weight functions of the exceptional Bannai-Ito operator and the Bannai-Ito operator is available, since the weight functions of the Bannai-Ito polynomials are already known in [79]. Below we give the weight function of the exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials $\{B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)\}$ and show their orthogonality explicitly. These results can be extended to the multiple-step exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials.

Theorem 3.4.1. Let $\hat{\omega}^{(1)}(x)$ be the weight function associated with the exceptional Bannai-Ito operator $\hat{H}^{(1)}$, and $\omega(x)$ be the weight function of the Bannai-Ito operator H, then it holds that

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}}^{(1)}(x) = c(x) \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\chi}}(x) \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(x)}{r^2(x)} \boldsymbol{\omega}(x), \qquad (3.4.22)$$

where c(x) is a 1-periodic function c(x+1) = c(x), and it satisfies c(-x) = c(x).

Proof. According to (3.2.25), (3.2.26), the normalized 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator is

$$\hat{H}^{(1)} = \frac{r(x)\tilde{\chi}(-x)}{r(-x)\chi(x)}(R-I) + \frac{r(x)\alpha(-x-1)\beta(x)\chi(-x-1)}{r(-x-1)\tilde{\chi}(x)}(TR-I) + \frac{\alpha(-x-1)\beta(x)\chi(-x-1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)}\left(\frac{r(x)}{r(-x-1)}-1\right).$$

Then from Lemma 3.4.3, we have

$$\frac{\hat{\omega}^{(1)}(x+1)}{\hat{\omega}^{(1)}(x)} = \frac{\tilde{\chi}(x+1)\chi(x+1)r^2(x)\alpha(-x-1)\beta(x)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)r^2(x+1)\alpha(x)\beta(-x-1)} = \frac{\tilde{\chi}(x+1)\chi(x+1)r^2(x)\alpha(x+1)\omega(x+1)}{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)r^2(x+1)\alpha(x)\omega(x)},$$

hence

$$\hat{\boldsymbol{\omega}}^{(1)}(x) = c(x) \frac{\tilde{\boldsymbol{\chi}}(x) \boldsymbol{\chi}(x) \boldsymbol{\alpha}(x) \boldsymbol{\omega}(x)}{r^2(x)},$$

where c(x) is a periodic function of period 1, c(x+1) = c(x). Moreover, if we check the relations (3.4.18) and (3.4.19) with respect to the coefficients of $\hat{H}^{(1)}$, it turns out that

$$c(-x) = c(x), \ c(-x-1) = c(x).$$

Notice that c(-x-1) = c(x) follows from the conditions c(x+1) = c(x) and c(-x) = c(x), thus only the latter two conditions are essential. In view of these properties, it may sometimes be convenient to choose c(x) as a constant.

It remains to derive the exceptional Bannai-Ito grid (from the simple roots of exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials), which varies in the choice of the seed solution. It is known that the Bannai-Ito polynomials have simple and distinct real roots [79] as the other COPs do [74]. Specifically, when *n* is odd, if we assume that $r_2 = \rho_2 + n/2$, then the Bannai-Ito polynomial $B_n(x)$ has *n* simple roots given by

$$\rho_2$$
, $-\rho_2 - 1$, $\rho_2 + 1$, \cdots , $-\rho_2 - \frac{n-1}{2}$, $\rho_2 + \frac{n-1}{2}$

when *n* is even, assume that $\rho_1 = -\rho_2 - n/2$, then the *n* simple roots of $B_n(x)$ are

$$\rho_2$$
, $-\rho_2 - 1$, $\rho_2 + 1$, $-\rho_2 - 2$, \cdots , $\rho_2 + \frac{n-2}{2}$, $-\rho_2 - \frac{n}{2}$.

These roots can be rewritten into a more elegant form which was called the Bannai-Ito grid: $x_s = -1/4 + (-1)^s (x_0 + s/2 + 1/4)$ (s = 0, 1, ..., n-1) with $x_0 = \rho_2$.

Remark 3.4.3. Note that in the case when n is odd there are 4 possible conditions: $r_i - \rho_j = n/2$, i, j = 1, 2, where we just restrict with the condition $r_2 = \rho_2 + n/2$ for the sake of simplicity. And in the case when n is even there are also 2 possible conditions: $\rho_1 + \rho_2 = -n/2$ and $r_1 + r_2 = n/2$, for the same reason we restrict with the condition $\rho_1 + \rho_2 = -n/2$. More details about Bannai-Ito grid can be found in [79].

It then follows from Proposition 3.4.2 and the above results that $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) = Q_{\mathbf{d},n}(x)B_n(x)$, where

$$Q_{\mathbf{d},n}(x) = \begin{cases} C_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) + 2xC_{\mathbf{d}}^{(2)}(x)/(x-\rho_2), & \text{if } n \text{ odd and } r_2 = \rho_2 + \frac{n}{2}, \\ C_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x) + nxC_{\mathbf{d}}^{(2)}(x)/((x-\rho_2)(x+\rho_2 + \frac{n}{2})), & \text{if } n \text{ even and } \rho_1 = -\rho_2 - \frac{n}{2}. \end{cases}$$

Note that $C_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$ is a polynomial in x, $2xC_{\mathbf{d}}^{(2)}(x)/(x-\rho_2)$ is a polynomial for d = 1, 2, 5, 6, and $nxC_{\mathbf{d}}^{(2)}(x)/(x-\rho_2)(x+\rho_2+\frac{n}{2})$ is a polynomial for d = 1, 2. In these cases, the roots of $B_n(x)$ belong to the simple roots of $B_{\mathbf{d},n}^{(1)}(x)$. In other cases only a part of the former belong to the latter.

Let $\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)}$ be the set whose elements come from the exceptional Bannai-Ito grid, thus these elements are the simple roots of $B_{\mathbf{d},N}^{(1)}(x)$. For simplicity's sake, we rewrite the normalized exceptional Bannai-Ito operator into

$$\hat{H}^{(1)} = \hat{\alpha}^{(1)}(x)(R-I) + \hat{\beta}^{(1)}(x)(TR-I) + \hat{\gamma}^{(1)}(x),$$

and consider the eigenvalue equation $\hat{H}^{(1)}[B^{(1)}_{\mathbf{d},N}(x)] = \lambda_N B^{(1)}_{\mathbf{d},N}(x)$. Assume that $x_s^{(1)} \in \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)}$, then this eigenvalue equation becomes

$$\hat{\alpha}^{(1)}(x_s^{(1)})B_{\mathbf{d},N}^{(1)}(-x_s^{(1)}) + \hat{\beta}^{(1)}(x_s^{(1)})B_{\mathbf{d},N}^{(1)}(-x_s^{(1)}-1) = 0.$$

If $x_s^{(1)} \in \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \setminus (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)})$ and $x_s^{(1)} \in \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \cap (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} - 1)$, which means $B_{\mathbf{d},N}^{(1)}(-x_s^{(1)}) \neq 0$ and $B_{\mathbf{d},N}^{(1)}(-x_s^{(1)} - 1) = 0$, then $\hat{\alpha}^{(1)}(x_s^{(1)}) = 0$. On the other hand, if $x_s^{(1)} \in \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \setminus (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} - 1)$ and $x_s^{(1)} \in \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \cap (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)})$, which means $B_{\mathbf{d},N}^{(1)}(-x_s^{(1)} - 1) \neq 0$ and $B_{\mathbf{d},N}^{(1)}(-x_s^{(1)}) = 0$, then $\hat{\beta}^{(1)}(x_s^{(1)}) = 0$. Using these results together with the boundary conditions in Lemma 3.4.2, we can conclude that

$$\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \setminus (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)}) \subseteq \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \cap (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} - 1), \quad \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \setminus (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} - 1) \subseteq \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \cap (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)}),$$

hence $\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} = \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \cap (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)}) \cap (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} - 1) + \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \setminus (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)}) + \chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} \setminus (-\chi_{\mathbf{d}}^{(1)} - 1)$. The first set in the right-hand side consists of part of the roots of $B_N(x)$, while the remaining 2 sets can be obtained from the simple roots of $\hat{\alpha}^{(1)}(x)$ and $\hat{\beta}^{(1)}(x)$.

Theorem 3.4.2. The exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials $\{B_{d,n}^{(1)}(x)\}$ satisfy the discrete orthogonality relation

$$\sum_{x \in \chi_d^{(1)}} \hat{\omega}^{(1)}(x) B_{d,n}^{(1)}(x) B_{d,m}^{(1)}(x) = h_{d,n}^{(1)} \delta_{nm} \quad (0 \le n, m < N),$$
(3.4.23)

where $h_{d,n}^{(1)}$ is constant. If N is odd and $r_2 = \rho_2 + N/2$,

$$d = 1,5: \chi_d^{(1)} = \{x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}\}, \quad d = 2,6: \chi_d^{(1)} = \{x_0, \dots, x_N\}, d = 3,7: \chi_d^{(1)} = \{x_0, \dots, x_{N-1}\}, \quad d = 4,8: \chi_d^{(1)} = \{x_1, \dots, x_N\};$$

if N *is even and* $\rho_1 = -\rho_2 - N/2$ *,*

$$d = 1, 4: \chi_d^{(1)} = \{x_1, \dots, x_{N-2}\}, \quad d = 2, 3: \chi_d^{(1)} = \{x_0, \dots, x_{N-1}\}, \\ d = 5, 8: \chi_d^{(1)} = \{x_1, \dots, x_{N-1}\}, \quad d = 6, 7: \chi_d^{(1)} = \{x_0, \dots, x_{N-2}\},$$

where $x_s = -1/4 + (-1)^s (\rho_2 + s/2 + 1/4)$.

Remark 3.4.4. It should be noted that the weight $\hat{\omega}^{(1)}(x_s)$ is not always positive. From the formula (3.4.22) we know that the positivity of $\hat{\omega}^{(1)}(x_s)$ depends on that of $\tilde{\chi}(x_s)\chi(x_s)\alpha(x_s)/r^2(x_s)$. In fact, we can choose a positive 1-periodic function c(x), besides, the Bannai-Ito weight $\omega(x_s)$ is positive by construction [79]. Let us rewrite this expression into

$$\frac{\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)\alpha(x)}{r^{2}(x)} = \frac{x^{2}\xi_{d}^{2}(x)\alpha(x)}{\eta_{d}^{2}(x)\tilde{\chi}(x)\chi(x)}$$
$$= \frac{x}{\eta_{d}(x)p_{m}^{(d)}(x) - \eta_{d}(-x)p_{m}^{(d)}(-x)} \cdot \frac{x\alpha(x)}{\eta_{d}(x)(\beta(-x-1)p_{m}^{(d)}(x) + \beta(x)\frac{\xi_{d}(-x-1)}{\xi_{d}(x)}p_{m}^{(d)}(-x-1))}$$

It is convenient to discuss the positivity of $E_d(x) := E_d^{(1)}(x)E_d^{(2)}(x)E_d^{(3)}(x)$ instead:

$$E_d^{(1)}(x) := \frac{x\alpha(x)}{\eta_d(x)}, \quad E_d^{(2)}(x) := \frac{\eta_d(x)p_m^{(d)}(x) - \eta_d(-x)p_m^{(d)}(-x)}{x},$$

$$E_d^{(3)}(x) := \beta(-x-1)p_m^{(d)}(x) + \beta(x)\frac{\xi_d(-x-1)}{\xi_d(x)}p_m^{(d)}(-x-1).$$

That is, the positivity of the weight $\hat{\omega}^{(1)}(x_s)$ is equivalent with that of $E_d(x_s)$. Consider the case m = 1, N is odd and $r_2 = \rho_2 + N/2$, the expressions of $E_d(x)$ follow as:

$$E_{1,1}(x) = (x - \rho_1)(x - \rho_2) \left[(x + \frac{1}{2})^2 + \frac{(\rho_1 + \frac{1}{2})(\rho_2 + \frac{1}{2}) - (\rho_1 + \rho_2 + 1)r_1}{2r_1 - 2\rho_1 + N - 2} N + \frac{\rho_2(2\rho_2 + 1)(2\rho_1 + 1) - r_1(2\rho_2(2\rho_2 + 1) - (2\rho_1 + 1))}{2(2r_1 - 2\rho_1 + N - 2)} \right],$$
(3.4.24)

$$E_{2,1}(x) = (x + r_1 + \frac{1}{2})(x + \rho_2 + \frac{N+1}{2}) \left[x^2 + \frac{\rho_1 \rho_2 - (r_1 + \frac{1}{2})(\rho_1 + \rho_2)}{2r_1 - 2\rho_1 + N + 2} N + \frac{\rho_1 (2\rho_2 (2\rho_2 + 1) - (2r_1 + 1)) - \rho_2 (2\rho_2 + 1)(2r_1 + 1)}{2(2r_1 - 2\rho_1 + N + 2)} \right],$$
(3.4.25)

$$E_{3,1}(x) = \left[x^2 + \frac{\rho_1 \rho_2 + (r_1 - \frac{1}{2})(\rho_1 + \rho_2)}{2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2} N + \frac{\rho_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2r_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2r_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)} \right] \\ \cdot \left[(x + \frac{1}{2})^2 + \frac{(\rho_1 - \frac{1}{2})(\rho_2 - \frac{1}{2}) + r_1(\rho_1 + \rho_2 - 1)}{2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2} N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)} \right],$$
(3.4.26)

$$E_{4,1}(x) = (x - \rho_1)(x - \rho_2)(x + r_1 + \frac{1}{2})(x + \rho_2 + \frac{N+1}{2}), \qquad (3.4.27)$$

$$E_{5,1}(x) = \frac{(N-1)(2\rho_1 + 2\rho_2 + N - 1)^2(2r_1 - 2\rho_1 + 1)}{4(2\rho_1 - 2r_1 + N - 2)^2}(x - \rho_2)(x + r_1 + \frac{1}{2}), \qquad (3.4.28)$$

$$E_{6,1}(x) = \frac{(N+1)(2r_1 + 2\rho_2 - 1)^2(2r_1 - 2\rho_1 - 1)}{4(2\rho_1 - 2r_1 + N + 2)^2}(x - \rho_1)(x + \rho_2 + \frac{N+1}{2}),$$
(3.4.29)

$$E_{7,1}(x) = \frac{(4\rho_2 + N - 1)^2(2r_1 - 2\rho_2 + 1)(2\rho_2 - 2\rho_1 + N - 1)}{4(4\rho_2 - 2\rho_1 - 2r_1 + N - 2)^2}(x - \rho_1)(x + r_1 + \frac{1}{2}), \quad (3.4.30)$$

$$E_{8,1}(x) = \frac{(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 - 1)^2(2r_1 - 2\rho_2 - 1)(2\rho_2 - 2\rho_1 + N + 1)}{4(4\rho_2 - 2\rho_1 - 2r_1 + N + 2)^2}(x - \rho_2)(x + \rho_2 + \frac{N+1}{2}). \quad (3.4.31)$$

It is not difficult to derive some sufficient conditions for $E_{d,1}(x) > 0$, where $x \in \chi_{d,1}^{(1)}$. Let us take the case d = 3 for an example, from (3.4.26) we know that $E_{3,1}(x) > 0$ if

$$\frac{\rho_1\rho_2 + (r_1 - \frac{1}{2})(\rho_1 + \rho_2)}{2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2}N + \frac{\rho_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2r_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2r_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}$$

and

$$\frac{(\rho_1 - \frac{1}{2})(\rho_2 - \frac{1}{2}) + r_1(\rho_1 + \rho_2 - 1)}{2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2}N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 + 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2) + \rho_2(2\rho_2 - 1)(2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 - 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}N + \frac{r_1((4\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 - 2\rho_1 - 1) - \rho_2)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 + 4\rho_2 + N - 2)}N + \frac{r_1(\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 - 2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 - 1)}N + \frac{r_1(\rho_2 - 1)(\rho_2 - 2\rho_1 - 1)}{2(2r_1 + 2\rho_1 - 1)}N + \frac{r_1(\rho_2 - 2\rho_1 - 1)}{2($$

are both positive. These conditions are immediately satisfied if we assume that

$$r_1, \rho_1, \rho_2 > \frac{1}{2}.$$
 (3.4.32)

For the other cases, we list some sufficient conditions below. These conditions are obtained similarly by observing the right-hand sides of (3.4.24), (3.4.25), and (3.4.27)-(3.4.31).

$$\begin{aligned} d &= 1: 0 < r_1 < \frac{(\rho_1 + \frac{1}{2})(\rho_2 + \frac{1}{2})}{\rho_1 + \rho_2 + 1}, -\frac{1}{2} < \rho_1 < \rho_2 + 1 \text{ and } \rho_2 > -\frac{1}{2}; \\ d &= 2: \frac{N-3}{2} < r_1 < \frac{N-2}{2}, \rho_1 < 0 \text{ and } -\frac{1}{2} < \rho_2 < r_1 - \frac{N-2}{2}; \\ d &= 4: r_1 > \frac{N-3}{2}, \rho_1 < \frac{1}{2} \text{ and } \rho_2 > -\frac{1}{2}; \\ d &= 5: -1 < r_1 < 0, \rho_1 < r_1 + \frac{1}{2} \text{ and } \rho_2 > -\frac{1}{2}; \\ d &= 6: r_1 > -\frac{N-3}{4}, \rho_1 < \rho_2 \text{ and } -\frac{N+1}{4} < \rho_2 < -\frac{N-1}{4}; \\ d &= 7: r_1 > 0, -\frac{1}{2} < \rho_1 < \rho_2 \text{ and } r_1 - \frac{1}{2} < \rho_2 < r_1 + \frac{1}{2}; \\ d &= 8: r_1 > \rho_2 + \frac{1}{2}, \rho_1 < \rho_2 + \frac{N+1}{2} \text{ and } -\frac{N+3}{4} < \rho_2 < -\frac{N-1}{4}. \end{aligned}$$

Example 3.4.1. In this example we demonstrate the orthogonality of the exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials explicitly. Consider the case d = (3,1), where the seed solution is given by $\phi_{(3,1)} = \xi_3(x)p_1^{(3)}(x) = \xi_3(x)B_1(x; -\rho_1, -\rho_2, r_1, r_2)$, and its eigenvalue is $\mu_{(3,1)} = r_1 + r_2 - 1$. According to Proposition 3.4.2, we can give the related exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials:

$$B_{(3,1),n}^{(1)}(x) = (\lambda_n - \beta) \frac{\hat{\phi}_{(3,1)}^{(0)}(x) - \hat{\phi}_{(3,1)}^{(0)}(-x)}{x} B_n(x) - (\mu_{(3,1)} - \beta) \frac{\hat{\phi}_{(3,1)}^{(0)}(x)}{x} (B_n(x) - B_n(-x)),$$

where $\hat{\phi}_{(3,1)}^{(0)}(x) = \eta_3(x)p_1^{(3,1)}(x) = (x - \rho_1)(x - \rho_2)B_1(x; -\rho_1, -\rho_2, r_1, r_2)$. Assume that N is odd and $r_2 = \rho_2 + \frac{N}{2}$, then $\chi_{(3,1)}^{(1)} = \{\rho_2, -\rho_2 - 1, \rho_2 + 1, \dots, -\rho_2 - \frac{N-1}{2}, \rho_2 + \frac{N-1}{2}\}$ is the corresponding exceptional Bannai-Ito grid. The discrete orthogonality (3.4.23) holds for the weight function

$$\hat{\omega}^{(1)}(x) = \frac{\sin(2\pi x)\Gamma(x-r_1+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(-x-r_1+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(x+\rho_1+1)\Gamma(-x+\rho_1)}{\Gamma(x+r_2+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(-x+r_2+\frac{1}{2})\Gamma(x-\rho_2+1)\Gamma(-x-\rho_2)y_1(x)y_2(x)},$$

where $y_1(x)$, $y_2(x)$ are the polynomials

$$y_{1}(x) = (r_{1} + r_{2} + \rho_{1} + \rho_{2} - 1)x^{2} + r_{1}\rho_{1}\rho_{2} + r_{2}\rho_{1}\rho_{2} + r_{1}r_{2}\rho_{1} + r_{1}r_{2}\rho_{2} - \rho_{1}\rho_{2}$$
$$-\frac{r_{1}\rho_{1} + r_{1}\rho_{2} + r_{2}\rho_{1} + r_{2}\rho_{2}}{2} + \frac{\rho_{1} + \rho_{2}}{4},$$
$$y_{2}(x) = (r_{1} + r_{2} + \rho_{1} + \rho_{2} - 1)x^{2} + (r_{1} + r_{2} + \rho_{1} + \rho_{2} - 1)x + r_{1}\rho_{1}\rho_{2} + r_{2}\rho_{1}\rho_{2} + r_{1}r_{2}\rho_{1} + r_{1}r_{2}\rho_{2}$$
$$-r_{1}r_{2} - \frac{r_{1}\rho_{1} + r_{1}\rho_{2} + r_{2}\rho_{1} + r_{2}\rho_{2} - r_{1} - r_{2}}{2} + \frac{\rho_{1} + \rho_{2} - 1}{4}.$$

The orthogonality constant in the right-hand side of (3.4.23) is given by $h_{(3,1),n}^{(1)} = h_{(3,1),0}^{(1)} u_1^{(1)} \cdots u_n^{(1)}$, where $h_{(3,1),0}^{(1)} = \sum_{x \in \chi_{(3,1)}^{(1)}} \hat{\omega}^{(1)}(x) B_{(3,1),0}^{(1)}(x)^2$, and

$$u_n^{(1)} = \begin{cases} -\frac{n(2r_1 + 2\rho_2 + N - n)^2(2r_1 - 2\rho_1 + N - n)(2r_1 + 2\rho_2 + N - n - 2)}{8(2r_1 - 2\rho_1 + N - 2n)^2(\rho_1 + \rho_2 + \frac{n}{2} - 1)}, & \text{if n is even,} \\ \frac{2(N - n)(2r_1 - 2\rho_1 - n)(2r_1 - 2\rho_2 - n)(\rho_1 + \rho_2 + \frac{n-1}{2})(\rho_1 + \rho_2 + \frac{n+1}{2})(\rho_1 - \rho_2 - \frac{N-n}{2})}{(2r_1 - 2\rho_1 + N - 2n)^2(2r_1 + 2\rho_2 + N - n + 1)(2r_1 + 2\rho_2 + N - n - 1)}, \text{if n is odd.} \end{cases}$$

3.5 Some notes on the generalized Darboux transformation

This paper starts from the original idea that exceptional Dunkl shift operators can be obtained from the intertwining relations which always appear in the Darboux transformations. We call this method a generalized Darboux transformation (on first-order difference operators). After the 1-step and the multiple-step exceptional Dunkl shift operators being successfully obtained through this method, we are able to give the exceptional Bannai-Ito operators with the restriction on certain coefficients. Especially, in this paper we mainly focus on the 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials, which form the eigenpolynomials of the normalized 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito operator.

In this generalized Darboux transformation the crucial role is played by the operator \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} which annihilates the seed solution $\phi(x)$. In fact, we should realize that the choice of the operator \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} in Section 3.2 is not unique. The only restriction we have used is that \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} is also a Dunkl shift operator. Without loss of generality, we may define \mathscr{F} as

$$\mathscr{F} = -\frac{R - I + f_1(x)}{\phi(-x) - \phi(x) + f_1(x)\phi(x)} + \frac{TR - I + f_2(x)}{\phi(-x - 1) - \phi(x) + f_2(x)\phi(x)}$$
(3.5.1)

such that $\mathscr{F}[\phi(x)] = 0$, and correspondingly,

$$\chi(x) = \phi(x) - \phi(-x) - f_1(x)\phi(x), \quad \tilde{\chi}(x) = \phi(-x-1) - \phi(x) + f_2(x)\phi(x).$$

In the case regarding \mathscr{F}_{ϕ} , we have let

$$f_1(x) = 0, \quad f_2(x) = (\beta(-x-1) + \beta(x))/\beta(x).$$
 (3.5.2)

Recall that the 1-step exceptional Dunkl shift operator has the form

$$H^{(1)} = \alpha^{(1)}(x)(R-I) + \beta^{(1)}(x)(TR-I) + \gamma^{(1)}(x),$$

then from the intertwining relation $\mathscr{F} \circ H = H^{(1)} \circ \mathscr{F}$ one can obtain the coefficients of $H^{(1)}$ by comparing the coefficients of the operators *RTR*, *T*, *TR*, *R*, *I* appeared in each side. Specifically, from the coefficients of *RTR* and *T* we have

$$\alpha^{(1)}(x) = \frac{\beta(-x)[\phi(x-1) - \phi(-x) + f_2(-x)\phi(-x)]}{\phi(x) - \phi(-x) - f_1(x)\phi(x)},$$
(3.5.3)

$$\beta^{(1)}(x) = \frac{\alpha(-x-1)[\phi(-x-1) - \phi(x+1) - f_1(-x-1)\phi(-x-1)]}{\phi(-x-1) - \phi(x) + f_2(x)\phi(x)}.$$
(3.5.4)

After substituting (3.5.3), (3.5.4) into the remaining three equations with respect to the coefficients of *TR*, *R*, *I* we can derive three different expressions of $\gamma^{(1)}(x)$ (which are omitted in view of their length). Of course, these three expressions of $\gamma^{(1)}(x)$ must be equal to each other, hence one can derive the restrictions regarding $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$ from this fact. However, this is not an easy task as it seems to be, since the equations with respect to $\gamma^{(1)}(x)$ are complicated and difficult to solve. Three other feasible cases we have found are:

$$f_1(x) = 0, f_2(x) = 0;$$
 (3.5.5)

$$f_1(x) = (\alpha(-x) + \alpha(x))/\alpha(x), f_2(x) = 0;$$

$$f_1(x) = (\alpha(-x) + \alpha(x))/\alpha(x), f_2(x) = (\beta(-x-1) + \beta(x))/\beta(x).$$
(3.5.6)
(3.5.7)

As for the general cases of $f_1(x)$ and $f_2(x)$, we shall leave it as an open problem for the readers of interest.

If one look at the 1-step exceptional eigenfunction $\mathscr{F}[B_n(x)]$, the following two expressions can be obtained similarly as we did in the proof of Lemma 3.4.1:

$$\begin{split} \beta(x)\chi(x)\tilde{\chi}(x)\mathscr{F}[B_{n}(x)] &= (\lambda_{n} + \alpha(x)f_{1}(x) + \beta(x)f_{2}(x))B_{n}(x)(\phi(-x) - \phi(x)) \\ &- (\mu + \alpha(x)f_{1}(x) + \beta(x)f_{2}(x))\phi(x)(B_{n}(-x) - B_{n}(x)) \\ &+ (\lambda_{n} - \mu)f_{1}(x)B_{n}(x)\phi(x), \\ \alpha(x)\chi(x)\tilde{\chi}(x)\mathscr{F}[B_{n}(x)] &= (\mu + \alpha(x)f_{1}(x) + \beta(x)f_{2}(x))\phi(x)(B_{n}(-x-1) - B_{n}(x)) \\ &- (\lambda_{n} + \alpha(x)f_{1}(x) + \beta(x)f_{2}(x))B_{n}(x)(\phi(-x-1) - \phi(x)) \\ &+ (\mu - \lambda_{n})f_{2}(x)B_{n}(x)\phi(x). \end{split}$$

Recall that for the coefficients $\alpha(x)$, $\beta(x)$ of the Bannai-Ito operator, $\alpha(-x) + \alpha(x)$ and $\beta(-x - 1) + \beta(x)$ are both constants (see (3.2.23)), hence $\alpha(x)f_1(x) + \beta(x)f_2(x)$ is always constant in the four cases with respect to (3.5.2), (3.5.5)-(3.5.7). Thus, one can derive 1-step exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials from the normalizations of these expressions. It turns out (3.5.2), (3.5.5)-(3.5.7) actually lead to different exceptional polynomials. Discussions on the orthogonality with respect to (3.5.5)-(3.5.7) can be made in the same manner as that of (3.5.2). In view of this fact, there are more than one type of exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials. This is the nontrivial aspect of our "generalized" Darboux transformation, due to the non-uniqueness of \mathscr{F} .

3.6 Supplymentary data

For readers' convenience, we list some data for the coefficients $\mu_{d,m} - \beta$, $\lambda_n - \mu_{d,m}$ and $C_{d,m,n}$, which have been used in the proof of Proposition 3.4.1.

For *m* is even, we have

$$\mu_{1,m} - \beta = \frac{m}{2} - r_1 - r_2, \tag{3.6.1}$$

$$\mu_{2,m} - \beta = \frac{m}{2} - \rho_1 - \rho_2, \qquad (3.6.2)$$

$$\mu_{3,m} - \beta = \frac{m}{2} - r_1 - r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2, \tag{3.6.3}$$

$$\mu_{4,m} - \beta = \frac{m}{2},\tag{3.6.4}$$

for *m* is odd, we have

$$\mu_{5,m} - \beta = \frac{m}{2} - r_2 - \rho_1, \tag{3.6.5}$$

$$\mu_{6,m} - \beta = \frac{m}{2} - r_1 - \rho_2, \tag{3.6.6}$$

$$\mu_{7,m} - \beta = \frac{m}{2} - r_2 - \rho_2, \tag{3.6.7}$$

$$\mu_{8,m} - \beta = \frac{m}{2} - r_1 - \rho_1. \tag{3.6.8}$$

For m is odd and n is odd, we have

$$\lambda_n - \mu_{1,m} = \frac{m-n}{2},$$
(3.6.9)

$$\lambda_n - \mu_{2,m} = r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 + \frac{m - n}{2}, \qquad (3.6.10)$$

$$\lambda_n - \mu_{3,m} = -\rho_1 - \rho_2 + \frac{m-n}{2}, \tag{3.6.11}$$

$$\lambda_n - \mu_{4,m} = r_1 + r_2 + \frac{m - n}{2},\tag{3.6.12}$$

for *m* is even and *n* is odd, we have

$$\lambda_n - \mu_{5,m} = r_1 - \rho_1 + \frac{m - n}{2}, \qquad (3.6.13)$$

$$\lambda_n - \mu_{6,m} = r_2 - \rho_2 + \frac{m - n}{2},\tag{3.6.14}$$

$$\lambda_n - \mu_{7,m} = r_1 - \rho_2 + \frac{m - n}{2},\tag{3.6.15}$$

$$\lambda_n - \mu_{8,m} = r_2 - \rho_1 + \frac{m - n}{2}.$$
(3.6.16)

For m is even and n is even, we have

$$C_{1,m,n} = -\frac{(r_1 + r_2 - \frac{m}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \frac{n}{2})(\frac{m-n}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2)}{(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - m)(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - n)},$$
(3.6.17)

$$C_{2,m,n} = \frac{(\rho_1 + \rho_2 - \frac{m}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \frac{n}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 + \frac{m-n}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2)}{(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 + m)(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - n)},$$
 (3.6.18)

$$C_{3,m,n} = \frac{(r_1 + r_2 + \rho_1 + \rho_2 - \frac{m}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \frac{n}{2})(\rho_1 + \rho_2 - \frac{m-n}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2)}{(r_1 + r_2 + \rho_1 + \rho_2 - m)(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - n)},$$
 (3.6.19)

$$C_{4,m,n} = \frac{\left(-\frac{m}{2}\right)\left(r_1 + r_2 - \frac{n}{2}\right)\left(r_1 + r_2 + \frac{m-n}{2}\right)\left(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2\right)}{\left(r_1 + r_2 + \rho_1 + \rho_2 + m\right)\left(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - n\right)},$$
(3.6.20)

for *m* is odd and *n* is even, we have

$$C_{5,m,n} = \frac{(r_2 + \rho_1 - \frac{m}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \frac{n}{2})(r_1 - \rho_1 + \frac{m-n}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2)}{(r_1 - r_2 - \rho_1 + \rho_2 + m)(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - n)},$$
(3.6.21)

$$C_{6,m,n} = -\frac{(r_1 + \rho_2 - \frac{m}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \frac{n}{2})(r_2 - \rho_2 + \frac{m-n}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2)}{(r_1 - r_2 - \rho_1 + \rho_2 - m)(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - n)},$$
(3.6.22)

$$C_{7,m,n} = \frac{(r_2 + \rho_2 - \frac{m}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \frac{n}{2})(r_1 - \rho_2 + \frac{m-n}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2)}{(r_1 - r_2 + \rho_1 - \rho_2 + m)(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - n)},$$
(3.6.23)

$$C_{8,m,n} = -\frac{(r_1 + \rho_1 - \frac{m}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \frac{n}{2})(r_2 - \rho_1 + \frac{m-n}{2})(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2)}{(r_1 - r_2 + \rho_1 - \rho_2 - m)(r_1 + r_2 - \rho_1 - \rho_2 - n)}.$$
(3.6.24)

Chapter 4

Dunkl-Supersymmetric orthogonal functions

In this chapter, we introduce a new type of orthogonal functions related with the theory of supersymmetry.

4.1 A supersymmetric quantum mechanics model with Dunkl-type supercharges

Supersymmetric quantum mechanics (SUSY QM) has been useful in the study of exactly solvable quantum mechanical models [13, 86]. In [65], the authors presented supersymmetric quantum mechanical models in one dimension involving differential operators of Dunkl-type (see also [63, 64]). In this realization, the reflection operator appears in both the supersymmetric Hamiltonian and the supercharge. The wave functions for two such systems have been obtained in [65] and seen to define orthogonal polynomials that are themselves expressed in terms of Hermite and little -1 Jacobi polynomials respectively. We here propose to pursue the exploration of the orthogonal functions that occur as eigenfunctions of such Dunkl-type supercharges, specifically of the operator

$$\mathscr{L} = \partial_x R + v(x), \tag{4.1.1}$$

where v(-x) = -v(x), *R* is the reflection operator acts on the variable *x*, Rf(x) = f(-x).

A Hamiltonian H is said to be supersymmetric if there are supercharges Q, Q^{\dagger} such that the following superalgebra relations are satisfied

$$[Q,H] = 0, \quad [Q^{\dagger},H] = 0, \quad H = \{Q,Q^{\dagger}\}.$$
(4.1.2)

The brackets [,] and $\{,\}$ are called the commutator and the anticommutator, respectively:

$$[A,B] = AB - BA, \quad \{A,B\} = AB + BA.$$

If the supercharge Q is self-adjoint, i.e., $Q^{\dagger} = Q$, it follows from (4.1.2) that the $H = 2Q^2$, and the model is said to be N = 1/2 supersymmetric. Realizations of N = 1/2 supersymmetric systems have been obtained in [65] by taking the supercharge as the following Dunkl-type differential operator:

$$Q = 2^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\partial_x R + u(x)R + v(x)), \tag{4.1.3}$$

where u(x) is even, v(x) is odd (i.e., u(-x) = u(x), v(-x) = -v(x)), and the operator *R* is the reflection operator which acts on *x* as Rf(x) = f(-x). It is clear that *Q* is self-adjoint, $Q^{\dagger} = Q$, and the

Hamiltonian H is then

$$H = -\partial_x^2 + (u^2(x) + v^2(x) + u'(x)) - v'(x)R.$$
(4.1.4)

Notice that if u(x) = 0, then the supercharge Q and the Hamiltonian H become

$$Q = 2^{-\frac{1}{2}} (\partial_x R + v(x)), \quad H = -\partial_x^2 + v^2(x) - v'(x)R,$$
(4.1.5)

and they satisfy

$$\{Q,R\} = 0, \quad [H,R] = 0.$$
 (4.1.6)

The assumption that v(x) is odd is essential for the relations (4.1.6) to be achieved. Consequently, these relations together with (4.1.2) imply that, for *Q* and *H* given in (4.1.5):

- (a) the operators Q and H share the same eigenfunctions: $Q\psi(x) = v\psi(x)$, $H\psi(x) = E\psi(x)$, where $E = 2v^2$;
- (b) their eigenfunctions appear in pairs $\psi(x), \psi(-x)$:

$$Q\psi(x) = v\psi(x), \quad Q\psi(-x) = -v\psi(-x);$$

$$H\psi(x) = E\psi(x), \quad H\psi(-x) = E\psi(-x).$$
(4.1.7)

We shall focus on models described by (4.1.5) in this chapter and will assume that the operator \mathcal{L} is non-degenerate, i.e., all that eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} are distinct. For results on the eigenvalue problem related with the most general first-order Dunkl-type differential operator

$$L = F_0(x) + F_1(x)R + G_0(x)\partial_x + G_1(x)\partial_x R$$

with arbitrary functions $F_0(x)$, $F_1(x)$, $G_0(x)$, $G_1(x)$ one can refer to [83].

4.2 The eigenvalue problem of a Hamiltonian with reflection

In this section, we give an analysis on the eigenvalue problem related to the Hamiltonian

$$H = -\partial_x^2 + v^2(x) - v'(x)R$$
(4.2.1)

where v(x) is odd, v(-x) = -v(x). First, let us notice that *H* can be rewritten into the following two Hamiltonians

$$H_1 = -\partial_x^2 + v^2(x) - v'(x) := -\partial_x^2 + V_1(x),$$

$$H_2 = -\partial_x^2 + v^2(x) + v'(x) := -\partial_x^2 + V_2(x),$$
(4.2.2)

by restricting *H* on even or odd functions, respectively. In this way, we can avoid coping with the reflection *R* directly. The potentials $V_1(x)$ and $V_2(x)$ are **even** under the assumption that v(x) is odd, and the relation $V_2(x) = V_1(x) + 2v'(x)$ holds. In this case the function v(x) plays the role of the superpotential, the potentials $V_1(x)$ and $V_2(x)$ are known as a pair of supersymmetric partner potentials [13].

In view of the property (4.1.7), let us assume that *H* has a discrete sequence of eigenfunctions:

$$H\psi_n(x) = E_n\psi_n(x), \quad n = 0, \pm 1, \pm 2, ...$$

where $E_0 = 0$, $E_{-n} = E_n$, $\psi_{-n}(x) = \psi_n(-x)$, n = 1, 2, ... If we apply the decompositions

$$\Psi_{\pm n}(x) = e_n(x) \pm o_n(x),$$
(4.2.3)

where $e_n(x)$ and $o_n(x)$ are the even and odd components of $\psi_{\pm n}(x)$, respectively, then the eigenvalue equation of *H* can be rewritten into

$$H\psi_{\pm n}(x) = H_1 e_n(x) \pm H_2 o_n(x) = E_n(e_n(x) \pm o_n(x))$$

which lead to the following eigenvalue equations

$$H_1e_n(x) = E_ne_n(x), \quad H_2o_n(x) = E_no_n(x).$$
 (4.2.4)

Lemma 4.2.1. If there exist a sequence of eigenfunctions of H_1 which are all even and a sequence of eigenfunctions of H_2 which are all odd, and their eigenvalues satisfy the condition (4.2.5), then the eigenfunctions of H can be expressed as linear combinations of those of H_1 and H_2 .

Proof. Denote the eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of H_1 and H_2 by $\psi_n^{(1)}(x)$, $E_n^{(1)}$ and $\psi_n^{(2)}(x)$, $E_n^{(2)}$, respectively. Let $\psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x)$ be the even eigenfunctions of H_1 and $\psi_{M(n)}^{(2)}(x)$ be the odd eigenfunctions of H_2 , where the indices N(n) and M(n) are both increasing, namely,

$$0 \le N(0) < N(1) < \cdots; \quad 0 \le M(0) < M(1) < \cdots.$$

Then, by defining

$$e_n(x) = C^{(e)} \psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x), \quad o_n(x) = C^{(o)} \psi_{M(n)}^{(2)}(x)$$

with arbitrary constants $C^{(e)}$, $C^{(o)}$ which are not identically zero, and imposing the condition

$$E_{N(n)}^{(1)} = E_{M(n)}^{(2)}$$
(4.2.5)

one can solve the eigenvalue problem of *H* as follow:

$$\psi_n(x) = C^{(e)} \psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x) + C^{(o)} \psi_{M(n)}^{(2)}(x), \quad E_n = E_{N(n)}^{(1)} = E_{M(n)}^{(2)}.$$
(4.2.6)

Remark 4.2.1. Recall that the eigenvalue problem of the operator $H_1(H_2)$ on some interval (a,b) with boundary conditions is a Sturm-Liouville problem. For example, the eigenvalue problem

$$\mathscr{H}\phi(x) = (-\partial_x^2 + V(x))\phi(x) = \lambda\phi(x), \quad x \in (a,b)$$
$$c_a\phi(a) + d_a\phi'(a) = 0,$$
$$c_b\phi(b) + d_b\phi'(b) = 0$$

is a regular Sturm-Liouville problem. According to the Sturm-Liouville theory, if V(x) is continuous and regular in (a,b), then

(1) Eigenvalues of the operator \mathscr{H} are real, simple and non-degenerate (eigenvalues of different eigenfunctions are distinct, $\lambda_m \neq \lambda_n$, $\forall m \neq n$). Further, the eigenvalues form an infinite sequence, and can be ordered according to increasing magnitude so that $\lambda_0 < \lambda_1 < \cdots$ and $\lim_{n\to\infty} \lambda_n = \infty$. (2) The eigenfunctions of \mathcal{H} are orthogonal:

$$\int_a^b \phi_m(x)\phi_n(x)dx = 0, \quad m \neq n.$$

Remark 4.2.2. Since the reflection R is involved in H, the range of the coordinate x must be invariant under R, namely, it should be (-a,a) (a can be finite or infinite). Thus, the range of the coordinate x in H₁ and H₂ should both be (-a,a). From the construction of H₁ and H₂ it is easily seen that once H₁ satisfies this condition, then the same holds for H₂. We shall distinguish the following two cases: (A) a "genuine" (-a,a) model and (B) two copies of (0,a) model. Note that the potential V₁(x) (V₂(x)) is even here.

In case (A), let us consider the operator H_1 on (-a,a). Assume that H_1 has an infinite sequence of eigenfunctions, $H_1\psi_n^{(1)}(x) = E_n^{(1)}\psi_n^{(1)}(x)$ (n = 0, 1, ...) with $0 = E_0 < E_1 < \cdots$, then the eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of H_2 follow from the relations (4.3.1) and (4.3.2) automatically. Thus those of H can be derived using Lemma 4.2.1.

In case (B), let us consider the operator H_1 on (0,a). In this case, we assume that the potentials $V_1(x)$, v(x) are singular at x = 0, and H_1 has an infinite sequence of eigenfunctions, $H_1\psi_n^{(1)}(x) = E_n^{(1)}\psi_n^{(1)}(x)$ (n = 0, 1, 2, ...) with $0 = E_0 < E_1 < \cdots$. In particular, we assume that $\psi_n^{(1)}(x)$ satisfies $\psi_n^{(1)}(0) = (\psi_n^{(1)})'(0) = 0$. Define the Hamiltonian \tilde{H}_1 of a new model on (-a, a) by $\tilde{H}_1 = H_1$, which is singular at x = 0. We will see in Section 4.3 that H_1 can be factorized as $H_1 = A^{\dagger}A$, where A and its conjugation A^{\dagger} are first order differential operators, thus by defining the operators \tilde{A} and \tilde{A}^{\dagger} of new model on (-a, a) as $\tilde{A} = A$ and $\tilde{A}^{\dagger} = A^{\dagger}$, we have $\tilde{H} = \tilde{A}^{\dagger}\tilde{A}$. Let us define $\tilde{\psi}_n^{(1)}(x)$ on (-a, a) as follows:

$$\tilde{\psi}_{2n}^{(1)}(x) = \begin{cases} \psi_n^{(1)}(x) & (0 \le x < a) \\ \psi_n^{(1)}(-x) & (-a < x < 0) \end{cases}, \quad \tilde{\psi}_{2n+1}^{(1)}(x) = \begin{cases} \psi_n^{(1)}(x) & (0 \le x < a) \\ -\psi_n^{(1)}(-x) & (-a < x < 0) \end{cases}$$
(4.2.7)

which satisfy

$$\tilde{\psi}_n^{(1)}(-x) = (-1)^n \tilde{\psi}_n^{(1)}(x). \tag{4.2.8}$$

Then we have

$$\tilde{H}_1 \tilde{\psi}_n^{(1)}(x) = \tilde{E}_n \tilde{\psi}_n^{(1)}(x), \quad \tilde{E}_{2n} = \tilde{E}_{2n+1} = E_n \quad (n \ge 0).$$

The energy eigenvalues are doubly degenerate, which is allowed by the singularity of x = 0. The eigenfunctions $\tilde{\psi}_{2n}^{(1)}(x)$ and $\tilde{\psi}_{2m+1}^{(1)}(x)$ are orthogonal: $\int_{-a}^{a} \tilde{\psi}_{2n}^{(1)}(x) \tilde{\psi}_{2m+1}^{(1)}(x) dx = 0$. Again, using the relations (4.3.1), (4.3.2) and Lemma 4.2.1 one can obtain the eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of H.

4.3 Supersymmetric quantum mechanics and shape invariant even potentials

In the theory of SUSY QM [13], the Hamiltonians H_1 and H_2 can be factorized as follow:

$$H_1 = A^{\dagger}A + E_0^{(1)}, \quad H_2 = AA^{\dagger} + E_0^{(1)},$$

where A^{\dagger} is the conjugation of A,

$$A = \partial_x + v(x), \quad A^{\dagger} = -\partial_x + v(x).$$

If we consider the unbroken SUSY where the ground state energy is zero, namely, $E_0^{(1)} = 0$, then we can choose $v(x) = -(\ln \psi_0^{(1)}(x))'$ such that $H\psi_0^{(1)}(x) = A^{\dagger}A\psi_0^{(1)}(x) = 0$. This follows from the fact that *A* annihilates the ground state wave function $\psi_0^{(1)}(x)$.

Again, let us denote the eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of H_1 and H_2 by $\psi_n^{(1)}(x)$, $E_n^{(1)}$ and $\psi_n^{(2)}(x)$, $E_n^{(2)}$, respectively. They satisfy the equations

$$H_{1}\psi_{n}^{(1)}(x) = A^{\dagger}A\psi_{n}^{(1)}(x) = E_{n}^{(1)}\psi_{n}^{(1)}(x), \quad H_{2}A\psi_{n}^{(1)}(x) = AA^{\dagger}A\psi_{n}^{(1)}(x) = E_{n}^{(1)}A\psi_{n}^{(1)}(x),$$

$$H_{2}\psi_{n}^{(2)}(x) = AA^{\dagger}\psi_{n}^{(2)}(x) = E_{n}^{(2)}\psi_{n}^{(2)}(x), \quad H_{1}A^{\dagger}\psi_{n}^{(2)}(x) = A^{\dagger}AA^{\dagger}\psi_{n}^{(2)}(x) = E_{n}^{(2)}A^{\dagger}\psi_{n}^{(2)}(x),$$

from which it follows that

$$E_n^{(2)} = E_{n+1}^{(1)}, \quad E_0^{(1)} = 0,$$
 (4.3.1)

$$\psi_n^{(2)}(x) = (C_n^{(1)})^{-1} A \psi_{n+1}^{(1)}(x), \tag{4.3.2}$$

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{n+1}^{(1)}(x) = (C_{n+1}^{(2)})^{-1} A^{\dagger} \boldsymbol{\psi}_{n}^{(2)}(x), \tag{4.3.3}$$

where the coefficients $C_n^{(1)}$ and $C_n^{(2)}$ satisfy the condition $C_n^{(1)}C_{n+1}^{(2)} = E_{n+1}^{(1)}$. Note that the relations (4.3.2), (4.3.3) and the definitions of A, A^{\dagger} imply that $\psi_{n+1}^{(1)}(x)$ and $\psi_n^{(2)}(x)$ have different parity, namely, if $\psi_{n+1}^{(1)}(x)$ is even, then $\psi_n^{(2)}(x)$ is odd; if $\psi_{n+1}^{(1)}(x)$ is odd, then $\psi_n^{(2)}(x)$ is even.

In what follows we adopt the assumption in the proof of Lemma 4.2.1 that $\psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x)$ are even and $\psi_{M(n)}^{(2)}(x)$ are odd for n = 0, 1, ... This can be achieved through some minor trick. (In fact, if $\psi_n^{(1)}(x)$ and $\psi_n^{(2)}(x)$ do not have definite parity, we can redefine them by

$$\tilde{\psi}_n^{(1)}(x) := \frac{1}{2} (\psi_n^{(1)}(x) + \psi_n^{(1)}(-x)), \quad \tilde{\psi}_n^{(2)}(x) := \frac{1}{2} (\psi_n^{(2)}(x) - \psi_n^{(2)}(-x))$$

which are still eigenfunctions of H_1 and H_2 with eigenvalues $E_n^{(1)}$ and $E_n^{(2)}$, respectively. This is because $\psi_n^{(1)}(-x)$ and $\psi_n^{(2)}(-x)$ are also eigenfunctions of H_1 and H_2 with eigenvalues $E_n^{(1)}$ and $E_n^{(2)}$, respectively. Obviously, the new defined eigenfunctions are even and odd, respectively.)

If we let v(x) in the operator \mathscr{L} be defined by $v(x) = -(\ln \psi_0^{(1)}(x))'$, then the operators A and A^{\dagger} turn out to be the restrictions of \mathscr{L} on even and odd functions, respectively. It follows that

$$\mathscr{L}\psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x) = A\psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x) = C_{N(n)-1}^{(1)}\psi_{N(n)-1}^{(2)}(x),$$
(4.3.4)

$$\mathscr{L}\psi_{M(n)}^{(2)}(x) = A^{\dagger}\psi_{M(n)}^{(2)}(x) = C_{M(n)+1}^{(2)}\psi_{M(n)+1}^{(1)}(x).$$
(4.3.5)

From these relations we can derive the eigenfunctions of \mathcal{L} .

Lemma 4.3.1. Let
$$C_{N(n)-1}^{(1)} = C_{N(n)}^{(2)} = \sqrt{E_{N(n)}^{(1)}}$$
, $n = 0, 1, ..., and$

$$\psi_{N(n)-1}^{(2)}(x) = \left(\sqrt{E_{N(n)}^{(1)}}\right)^{-1} A \psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x).$$
(4.3.6)

If we further assume that M(n) = N(n) - 1, n = 0, 1, ..., then the eigenvalue problem $\mathscr{L} \psi_{\pm n}(x) = \lambda_{\pm n} \psi_{\pm n}(x)$ can be solved as follow:

$$\psi_{\pm n}(x) = \psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x) \pm \psi_{N(n)-1}^{(2)}(x), \quad \lambda_{\pm n} = \pm \sqrt{E_{N(n)}^{(1)}}.$$
(4.3.7)

Proof. The condition M(n) = N(n) - 1 is equivalent with (4.2.5) in view of the relation (4.3.1), then it follows from Lemma 4.2.1 that the eigenfunctions of *H* as well as those of \mathcal{L} can be expressed in terms of the linear combination of $\psi_n^{(1)}(x)$ and $\psi_n^{(2)}(x)$. Using this condition and the relations (4.3.4), (4.3.5) one can easily check the following eigenvalue equations

$$\mathscr{L}\left(\psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x)\pm\sqrt{C_{N(n)-1}^{(1)}/C_{N(n)}^{(2)}}\psi_{N(n)-1}^{(2)}(x)\right)=\pm\sqrt{E_{N(n)}^{(1)}}\left(\psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x)\pm\sqrt{C_{N(n)-1}^{(1)}/C_{N(n)}^{(2)}}\psi_{N(n)-1}^{(2)}(x)\right)$$

Then (4.3.7) follows immediately from the assumption $C_{N(n)-1}^{(1)} = C_{N(n)}^{(2)} = \sqrt{E_{N(n)}^{(1)}}$.

4.3.1 Shape invariant even potentials

It is now clear that once the even potentials $V_1(x)$, $V_2(x)$ and their corresponding eigenfunctions and eigenvalues are known, then the eigenfunctions and eigenvalues of \mathcal{L} with v(x) given by the superpotential related to $V_1(x)$, $V_2(x)$ follow automatically from Lemma 4.3.1.

A good class of potentials are the shape invariant potentials which satisfy the condition

$$V_2(x;a_1) = V_1(x;a_2) + R(a_1), \tag{4.3.8}$$

where a_1 is a set of parameters, a_2 is a translation of a_1 , and it follows that

$$R(a_1) = V_2(x;a_1) - V_1(x;a_2) = V_1(x;a_1) - V_1(x;a_2) + 2v'(x;a_1).$$

Unless otherwise stated, for any function f(x) appear later we default f(x) stands for $f(x;a_1)$, in other words, a_1 and a_2 must appear simultaneously. The condition (4.3.8) implies that

$$H_2\psi_m^{(1)}(x;a_2) = [E_m^{(1)}(a_2) + R(a_1)]\psi_m^{(1)}(x;a_2).$$

By comparing this with the eigenvalue equation $H_2\psi_n^{(2)}(x;a_1) = E_n^{(2)}(a_1)\psi_n^{(2)}(x;a_1)$ we can conclude that if $E_n^{(2)}(a_1) = E_m^{(1)}(a_2) + R(a_1)$ holds for some indices *m* and *n*, then

$$\psi_n^{(2)}(x;a_1) \propto \psi_m^{(1)}(x;a_2).$$
 (4.3.9)

In particular, if m = n, then (4.3.9) becomes (4.3.12) and it means that the eigenfunctions of H_1 and H_2 coincide through a translation on certain parameters. Fortunately, it turns out that this is true for all the examples we shall consider in this paper (see Remark 4.3.1). Combining the relations (4.3.6) and (4.3.12), then we have

$$\boldsymbol{\psi}_{N(n)-1}^{(2)}(x;a_1) = \left(\sqrt{E_{N(n)}^{(1)}(a_1)}\right)^{-1} A \boldsymbol{\psi}_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x;a_1) \propto \boldsymbol{\psi}_{N(n)-1}^{(1)}(x;a_2).$$
(4.3.10)

Recall that $\psi_{N(n)-1}^{(2)}(x;a_1)$ is odd and $\psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x;a_1)$ is even, thus $\psi_{N(n)-1}^{(1)}(x;a_1)$ is odd too since the translation on the parameter(s) a_1 does not change the parity in x. So $\psi_n^{(1)}(x)$ is symmetric:

$$\psi_n^{(1)}(-x) = (-1)^n \psi_n^{(1)}(x). \tag{4.3.11}$$

And $\psi_n^{(2)}(x)$ should also be symmetric due to the relation (4.3.2).

A list of shape invariant potentials and of the corresponding wavefunctions related with supersymmetric quantum mechanics is presented in [13] (Table 4.1). We can readily obtain from this table the

even potentials by putting restrictions on certain parameters. The results are given in Table 1 (which is split in two parts). Specifically, the examples of **shifted oscillator**, **Scarf II or Rosen-Morse II** (hyperbolic) and **Scarf I** potentials belong to case (A) in Remark 4.2.2 while the examples of **3d oscillator**, **generalized Pöschl-Teller** and **Pöschl-Teller** potentials belong to case (B). For convenience we shall call them the type (A) examples and the type (B) examples, respectively.

Remark 4.3.1. From Table 1 one can see that in all the examples the relation

$$E_n^{(1)}(a_2) + R(a_1) = E_n^{(2)}(a_1),$$

holds, which leads to

$$\psi_n^{(2)}(x;a_1) \propto \psi_n^{(1)}(x;a_2).$$
 (4.3.12)

The above relation together with Lemma 4.3.1 implies that the eigenfunctions of \mathscr{L} with v(x) given by the superpotential in Table 4.1 can be written as:

$$\psi_{\pm n}(x;a_1) = \psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x;a_1) \pm \psi_{N(n)-1}^{(2)}(x;a_1) = \psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x;a_1) \pm \tilde{C}_n \psi_{N(n)-1}^{(1)}(x;a_2), \quad (4.3.13)$$

where it follows from (4.3.10) that

$$\tilde{C}_n = \left(\sqrt{E_{N(n)}^{(1)}(a_1)}\right)^{-1} \frac{A\psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x;a_1)}{\psi_{N(n)-1}^{(1)}(x;a_2)}.$$
(4.3.14)

Recall that the indices N(n), n = 0, 1, ..., are chosen in such a way that $\psi_{N(n)}^{(1)}(x)$ are even and $\psi_{N(n)-1}^{(1)}(x)$ are odd. Since the Hermite polynomials $H_n(x)$ are symmetric, and the Jacobi polynomials $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$ are symmetric when $\alpha = \beta$, we observe in Table 1 that all the eigenfunctions of the type (A) examples (the first three examples) are symmetric, and those of the type (B) examples can be constructed as symmetric functions using the method (4.2.7) introduced in Remark 4.2.2. Then it turns out that N(n) = 2n, n = 0, 1, ..., and (4.3.13) reads

$$\psi_{\pm n}(x;a_1) = \psi_{2n}^{(1)}(x;a_1) \pm \tilde{C}_n \psi_{2n-1}^{(1)}(x;a_2).$$
(4.3.15)

To summarize, we provide a list of these eigenfunctions in Table 4.2. For the explicit definitions and properties of these classical orthogonal polynomials (Hermite, Laguerre and Jacobi polynomials) one can refer to Section 4.6.

4.4 Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions in terms of classical orthogonal polynomials

In this section we shall give some examples of Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions explicitly. Before that we may apply a gauge transformation on the operator \mathscr{L} as follow:

$$Y := (\psi_0^{(1)}(x))^{-1} \mathscr{L} \psi_0^{(1)}(x) = \partial_x R + \nu(x)(I - R).$$
(4.4.1)

The eigenfunctions of the new operator *Y* are $Q_n(x) = (\psi_0^{(1)}(x))^{-1} \psi_n^{(1)}(x)$ (n = 0, 1, ...). We will show that these eigenfunctions also satisfy certain orthogonality relations, that will deem giving them the name of Dunkl-Supersymmetric (Dunkl-SUSY) orthogonal functions.

Table 4.1 Shape invariant even potentials derived from [13] (Table 4.1), where the parameters a_1 and a_2 are related by a translation $a_2 = a_1 + \alpha$. Here we replaced the parameter ω in [13] with $\omega = 2s^2$ for our convenience. Unless specified explicitly otherwise, the parameters A, B, α, s, l are all taken ≥ 0 , and the range of potentials is $-\infty \leq x \leq \infty$, $0 \leq r \leq \infty$.

Name of potentia	ıl	v(x)		$V_1(x;a_1)$	у	$\psi_n^{(1)}(y)$
shifted oscillator		s^2x		$s^2(s^2x^2-1)$	SX	$e^{-\frac{1}{2}y^2}H_n(y)$
Scarf II or Rosen-Morse II (hyperbolic)		$A \tanh(\alpha x)$	$A^2 - A$	$(A+\alpha)$ sech ² (αx)	$\sinh(\alpha x)$	$i^n(y^2+1)^{-rac{A}{2lpha}} \cdot P_n^{(-rac{A}{lpha}-rac{1}{2},-rac{A}{lpha}-rac{1}{2})}(iy)$
Scarf I		$A \tan(\alpha x)$	$-A^{2} + $	$A(A-\alpha)\sec^2(\alpha x)$	$\sin(\alpha x)$	$(1-y^2)^{\frac{A}{2\alpha}}$
(trigonometric)	($-\frac{\pi}{2\alpha} \le x \le \frac{\pi}{2\alpha}$)			$\cdot P_n^{(\frac{A}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2},\frac{A}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2})}(y)$
3d oscillator		$s^2r - \frac{l+1}{r}$	$s^4r^2 +$	$\frac{l(l+1)}{r^2} - (2l+3)s^2$	s^2r^2	$y^{\frac{l+1}{2}}e^{-\frac{y}{2}}L_n^{l+\frac{1}{2}}(y)$
generalized	A coth($(\alpha r) - B$ cosech((αr) $A^2 + (B^2 +$	$A^2 + A\alpha$)cosech ² (αr)	$\cosh(\alpha r)$	$(y-1)^{\frac{B-A}{2\alpha}}(y+1)^{-\frac{A+B}{2\alpha}}(y+1)^{-\frac{A+B}{2\alpha}}$
Pöschl-Teller		(A < B)	-B(2A+a)	$\alpha) \coth(\alpha r) \operatorname{cosech}(\alpha r)$		$\cdot P_n^{\left(\frac{B-A}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2},-\frac{A+B}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2}\right)}(y)$
Pöschl-Teller		$(\alpha r) - B\cot(\alpha r) < \frac{\pi}{2\alpha}$	/ / /	$A^2 + A(A - \alpha) \sec^2(\alpha r)$ $B - \alpha) \csc^2(\alpha r)$	$\cos(2\alpha r)$	$\frac{(1-y)^{\frac{B}{2\alpha}}(1+y)^{\frac{A}{2\alpha}}}{P^{(\frac{B}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2},\frac{A}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2})}(y)}$
Name of potential	a_1	<i>a</i> ₂	$E_n^{(1)}(a_1)$	$E_n^{(2)}(a_1)$		$E_m^{(1)}(a_2) + R(a_1)$
shifted oscillator	S	S	$2ns^2$	$2(n+1)s^2$		$2(m+1)s^2$
Scarf II or Rosen-Morse II (hyperbolic)	A	$A - \alpha$	$2nA\alpha - n^2\alpha^2$	$2(n+1)A\alpha - (n+1)\alpha$	$)^{2}\alpha^{2}$ 2($(m+1)A\alpha - (m+1)^2\alpha^2$
Scarf I (trigonometric)	A	$A + \alpha$	$2nA\alpha + n^2\alpha^2$	$2(n+1)A\alpha + (n+1)\alpha$	$)^{2}\alpha^{2}$ 2($(m+1)A\alpha + (m+1)^2\alpha^2$
3d oscillator	l	l+1	$4ns^2$	$4(n+1)s^2$		$4(m+1)s^2$
generalized Pöschl-Teller	A	$A - \alpha$	$2nA\alpha - n^2\alpha^2$	$2(n+1)A\alpha - (n+1)\alpha = 0$	$)^{2}\alpha^{2}$ 2($(m+1)A\alpha - (m+1)^2\alpha^2$
Pöschl-Teller	A, B	$A + \alpha, B + \alpha$	$\frac{4n\alpha(A+B+n\alpha)}{n\alpha}$	$\frac{4(n+1)\alpha(A+B+1)\alpha)}{4(n+1)\alpha}$	(n + 4)	$(m+1)\alpha(A+B+(m+1)\alpha)$

The weight function $\omega(x)$ associated with the operator Y satisfies to [13, 51]

$$\frac{\omega'(x)}{\omega(x)} = -2\nu(x) = 2\frac{\psi'_0(x)}{\psi_0(x)}$$

and hence $\omega(x) = (\psi_0^{(1)}(x))^2$. Therefore the orthogonality relation of $\{Q_n(x)\}_{n=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,...}$ are

$$\int_{I} (\Psi_0^{(1)}(x))^2 Q_n(x) Q_m(x) dx = 0, \quad n \neq m,$$
(4.4.2)

where the interval *I* will be determined from the weight function $(\psi_0^{(1)}(x))^2$.

With an eye to presenting a model-independent description of Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions, we now extract from Table 4.2 the following families of such orthogonal functions that are defined in terms of classical orthogonal polynomials. We assume that all the Hermite, Laguerre, Jacobi polyno-

v(x)	$ ilde{C}_n$	$\psi_{\pm n}(x)$
s^2x	$2\sqrt{n}$	$e^{-\frac{1}{2}s^2x^2}[H_{2n}(sx)\pm \tilde{C}_nH_{2n-1}(sx)]$
$A \tanh(\alpha x)$	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{A-n\alpha}{n\alpha}}$	$(-1)^n \cosh(\alpha x)^{-\frac{A}{\alpha}} \left[P_{2n}^{(-\frac{A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}), -\frac{A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2})}(i\sinh(\alpha x)) \right]$
	$\overline{2}\sqrt{-n\alpha}$	$\mp \tilde{C}_n i \cosh(\alpha x) P_{2n-1}^{\left(-\frac{A}{\alpha}+\frac{1}{2}\right),-\frac{A}{\alpha}+\frac{1}{2}\right)} (i \sinh(\alpha x))]$
$A \tan(\alpha x)$	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{A+n\alpha}{n\alpha}}$	$ \cos(\alpha x) ^{\frac{A}{\alpha}}[P_{2n}^{(\frac{A}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2},\frac{A}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2})}(\sin(\alpha x))\pm \tilde{C}_{n} \cos(\alpha x) P_{2n-1}^{(\frac{A}{\alpha}+\frac{1}{2},\frac{A}{\alpha}+\frac{1}{2})}(\sin(\alpha x)]$
$s^2r - \frac{l+1}{r}$	$-\frac{1}{\sqrt{n}}$	$ sr ^{l+1}e^{-\frac{1}{2}s^2r^2}[L_n^{(l+\frac{1}{2})}(s^2r^2)\pm\tilde{C}_nsrL_{n-1}^{(l+\frac{3}{2})}(s^2r^2)]$
$A \operatorname{coth}(\alpha r)$	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{2A-n\alpha}{n\alpha}}$	$(\cosh(\alpha r)-1)^{\frac{B-A}{2\alpha}}(\cosh(\alpha r)+1)^{-\frac{B+A}{2\alpha}}[P_n^{(\frac{B-A}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2},-\frac{B+A}{\alpha}-\frac{1}{2})}(\cosh(\alpha r)$
$-B$ cosech (αr)	$\overline{2}\sqrt{-n\alpha}$	$\pm \tilde{C}_n \sinh(\alpha r) P_{n-1}^{(\frac{B-A}{\alpha}+\frac{1}{2},-\frac{B+A}{\alpha}+\frac{1}{2})} (\cosh(\alpha r)]$
$A \tan(\alpha r)$	$\frac{1}{2}\sqrt{\frac{A+B+n\alpha}{n\alpha}}$	$(1 - \cos(2\alpha r))^{\frac{B}{2\alpha}} (1 + \cos(2\alpha r))^{\frac{A}{2\alpha}} [P_n^{(\frac{B}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}, \frac{A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2})}(\cos(2\alpha r))$
$-B\cot(\alpha r)$	$2\sqrt{n\alpha}$	$\pm \tilde{C}_n \sin(2\alpha r) P_n^{(\frac{B}{\alpha}+\frac{1}{2},\frac{A}{\alpha}+\frac{1}{2})}(\cos(2\alpha r))]$

Table 4.2 Eigenfunctions of the operator $\mathcal{L} = \partial_x R + v(x)$ with v(x) given by the superpotentials in table 1.

mials $(\hat{H}_n(x), \hat{L}_n^{(\alpha)}(x), \hat{P}_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x))$ involved are orthonormal:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} \hat{H}_m(x)\hat{H}_n(x)dx = \delta_{m,n}, \quad \int_0^{\infty} \hat{L}_m^{(\alpha)}(x)\hat{L}_n^{(\alpha)}(x)dx = \delta_{m,n}, \quad \int_{-1}^1 \hat{P}_m^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)\hat{P}_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)dx = \delta_{m,n}.$$

Specifically, let $H_n(x)$, $L_n^{(\alpha)}(x)$, $P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x)$ be defined as in Section 4.6, then

$$\hat{H}_{n}(x) = (2^{n}n!\sqrt{\pi})^{-\frac{1}{2}}H_{n}(x), \quad \hat{L}_{n}^{(\alpha)}(x) = \left(\frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}{n!}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}L_{n}^{(\alpha)}(x),$$
$$\hat{P}_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \left(\frac{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+n+1)\Gamma(\beta+n+1)}{n!\Gamma(\alpha+\beta+n+1)(\alpha+\beta+2n+1)}\right)^{-\frac{1}{2}}P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x).$$

Now we are ready to provide the following examples of Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions.

• Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions in terms of the orthonormal Hermite polynomials $\hat{H}_n(x)$, which is related with the **shifted oscillator** potential:

$$Q_{\pm n}^{(H)}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{H}_{2n}(sx) \pm \hat{H}_{2n-1}(sx) \right), \quad n \ge 1, \quad Q_0^{(H)}(x) = 1, \tag{4.4.3}$$

$$Y = \partial_x R + s^2 x, \quad Y Q_{\pm n}^{(H)}(x) = \pm \sqrt{E_{2n}} Q_{\pm n}^{(H)}(x), \quad E_n = 2ns^2, \tag{4.4.4}$$

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-s^2 x^2} Q_n^{(H)}(x) Q_m^{(H)}(x) dx = \delta_{nm}, \quad m, n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(4.4.5)

• Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions in terms of the orthonormal Laguerre polynomials $\hat{L}_n^{(\alpha)}(x)$, which is related with the **3d oscillator** potential $(l + \frac{1}{2} \rightarrow \alpha)$:

$$Q_{\pm n}^{(L)}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{L}_n^{(\alpha)}(s^2 x^2) \mp x \hat{L}_{n-1}^{(\alpha+1)}(s^2 x^2) \right), \quad n \ge 1, \quad Q_0^{(L)}(x) = 1, \tag{4.4.6}$$

$$Y = \partial_x R + s^2 x - \frac{\alpha + 1/2}{x}, \quad Y Q_{\pm n}^{(L)}(x) = \pm \sqrt{E_n} Q_{\pm n}^{(L)}(x), \quad E_n = 4ns^2, \tag{4.4.7}$$

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} e^{-s^2 x^2} |sx|^{2\alpha+1} Q_n^{(L)}(x) Q_m^{(L)}(x) dx = \delta_{nm}, \quad m, n \in \mathbb{Z}.$$
(4.4.8)

(In fact, the above example returns to the example of the Hermite case when $\alpha = -\frac{1}{2}$, this is due to the relations 4.6.1 and 4.6.2. It is also obvious from the eigenvalue equation of Y.)

• Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions in terms of the orthonormal Jacobi polynomials $\hat{P}_n^{(\alpha, \hat{\beta})}(x)$: the example related with the **Scarf II or Rosen-Morse II (hyperbolic)** potential,

$$Q_{\pm n}^{(J,1)}(x) = \frac{(-1)^n}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{P}_{2n}^{(-\frac{A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2})}(i\sinh(\alpha x)) \pm \cosh(x) \hat{P}_{2n-1}^{(-\frac{A}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{A}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2})}(i\sinh(\alpha x)) \right), \ n \ge 1,$$
(4.4.9)

$$Y = \partial_x R + A \tanh(\alpha x), \quad Y Q_{\pm n}^{(J,1)}(x) = \pm \sqrt{E_{2n}} Q_{\pm n}^{(J,1)}(x), \quad E_n = 2nA\alpha - n^2 \alpha^2, \quad (4.4.10)$$

$$\int_{-\frac{i\pi}{2\alpha}}^{\frac{i\pi}{2\alpha}} |\cosh(\alpha x)|^{-\frac{A}{\alpha}} Q_n^{(J,1)}(x) Q_m^{(J,1)}(x) dx = \delta_{nm}, \quad m, n \in \mathbb{Z};$$
(4.4.11)

the example related with the Scarf I (trigonometric) potential,

$$Q_{\pm n}^{(J,2)}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{P}_{2n}^{(\frac{A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}, \frac{A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2})}(\sin(\alpha x)) \pm \cos(\alpha x) \hat{P}_{2n-1}^{(\frac{A}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}, \frac{A}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2})}(\sin(\alpha x)) \right), \quad n \ge 1, \quad (4.4.12)$$

$$Y = \partial_x R + A \tan(\alpha x), \quad Y Q_{\pm n}^{(J,2)}(x) = \pm \sqrt{E_{2n}} Q_{\pm n}^{(J,2)}(x), \quad E_n = 2nA\alpha + n^2 \alpha^2, \tag{4.4.13}$$

$$\int_{-\frac{\pi}{2\alpha}}^{\frac{\pi}{2\alpha}} |\cos(\alpha x)|^{-\frac{A}{\alpha}} Q_n^{(J,2)}(x) Q_m^{(J,2)}(x) dx = \delta_{nm}, \quad m,n \in \mathbb{Z};$$
(4.4.14)

the example related with the **generalized Pöschl-Teller** potential (A < B),

$$Q_{\pm n}^{(J,3)}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{P}_n^{(\frac{B-A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{B+A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2})}(\cosh(\alpha x)) \mp i \sinh(\alpha x) \hat{P}_{n-1}^{(\frac{B-A}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}, -\frac{B+A}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2})}(\cosh(\alpha x)) \right), \ n \ge 1,$$
(4.4.15)

$$Y = \partial_x R + A \coth(\alpha x) - B \operatorname{cosech}(\alpha x),$$
$$Y Q_{\pm n}^{(J,3)}(x) = \pm \sqrt{E_n} Q_{\pm n}^{(J,3)}(x), \quad E_n = 2nA\alpha - n^2 \alpha^2,$$
(4.4.16)

$$\int_{-\frac{i\pi}{\alpha}}^{\frac{i\pi}{\alpha}} (\cosh(\alpha r) - 1)^{\frac{B-A}{2\alpha}} (\cosh(\alpha r) + 1)^{-\frac{B+A}{2\alpha}} Q_n^{(J,3)}(x) Q_m^{(J,3)}(x) dx = \delta_{nm}, \quad m, n \in \mathbb{Z};$$
(4.4.17)

the example related with the **Pöschl-Teller** potential (A, B > 0),

$$Q_{\pm n}^{(J,4)}(x) = \frac{1}{\sqrt{2}} \left(\hat{P}_n^{(\frac{B}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2}, \frac{A}{\alpha} - \frac{1}{2})}(\cos(2\alpha x)) \pm \sin(2\alpha x) \hat{P}_{n-1}^{(\frac{B}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2}, \frac{A}{\alpha} + \frac{1}{2})}(\cos(2\alpha x)) \right), \quad n \ge 1,$$
(4.4.18)

 $Y = \partial_x R + A \tan(\alpha x) - B \cot(\alpha x),$

$$YQ_{\pm n}^{(J,4)}(x) = \pm \sqrt{E_n}Q_{\pm n}^{(J,4)}(x), \quad E_n = 4n\alpha(A + B + n\alpha),$$
(4.4.19)

$$\int_{-\frac{\pi}{2\alpha}}^{\frac{\pi}{2\alpha}} (1 - \cos(2\alpha x))^{\frac{B}{\alpha}} (1 + \cos(2\alpha x))^{\frac{A}{\alpha}} Q_n^{(J,4)}(x) Q_m^{(J,2)}(x) dx = \delta_{nm}, \quad m, n \in \mathbb{Z}, \quad (4.4.20)$$

and $Q_{\pm 0}^{(J,i)}(x) = 1, i = 1, 2, 3, 4.$

4.5 The recurrence relation of the Dunkl-supersymmetric orthogonal polynomials

Notice that in the previous section the examples of Dunkl-SUSY orthogonal functions in terms of the Hermite polynomials and the Laguerre polynomials are also polynomials, we call them Dunkl-supersymmetric orthogonal polynomials (Dunkl-SUSY OPs). Using these examples we shall identify the main properties of these polynomials so as to offer in this section a characterization which is more intrinsic. The most fundamental features of the Dunkl-SUSY OPs can be identified as:

(A) For all positive and negative integers *n*, the polynomial system $\{Q_n(x)\}_{n=0,\pm1,\pm2,\ldots}$ satisfy an orthogonality relation,

$$\int_{I} Q_n(x)Q_m(x)\omega(x)dx = h_n \delta_{n,m}, \quad (n,m=\ldots,-1,0,1,\ldots);$$

(B) The polynomial $Q_{-n}(x)$ with negative index has the same degree as the polynomial $Q_n(x)$ with positive index,

$$Q_{-n}(x) := R[Q_n(x)] = Q_n(-x).$$
 (n = 1, 2,...);

(C) $\{Q_n(x)\}\$ are the polynomial parts of the eigenfunctions of a Dunkl-type differential operator of the form

$$\mathscr{L} = \partial_x R + v(x), \quad (v(-x) = -v(x)).$$

Let us now address the question of what can be said about the polynomial system $\{Q_n(x)\}_{n=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,...}$ satisfying the conditions (A) and (B) if it is not assumed that they satisfy an eigenvalue equation. The answer to this question is given by the following theorem. Without loss of generality, from now on we take $Q_n(x)$ monic, i.e., with the coefficient of the highest degree term in x equal to 1.

Theorem 4.5.1. A necessary and sufficient condition for the existence of a polynomial system $\{Q_n(x)\}_{n=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,...}$ which satisfies the conditions (A) and (B) is that $Q_n(x)$ are expressed as

$$Q_n(x) = S_{2n}(x) + a_n S_{2n-1}(x),$$

$$Q_{-n}(x) = S_{2n}(x) - a_n S_{2n-1}(x),$$

$$n = 1, 2, \dots$$
(4.5.1)

with $Q_0(x) = 1$, where the coefficients a_n depend on the polynomials $S_n(x)$ (see (4.5.9)), and with $\{S_n(x)\}_{n=0,1,2...}$ a monic symmetric orthogonal polynomial system:

$$S_n(-x) = (-1)^n S_n(x), \quad \int_I S_n(x) S_m(x) \omega(x) dx = k_n \delta_{n,m}$$

Proof. The sufficiency is straightforward. If (4.5.1) holds, then it immediately follows that $Q_{-n}(x) = Q_n(-x)$, thus (B) is satisfied. For all nonnegative integers n, m, we have

$$\begin{aligned} \int_{I} Q_{n}(x)Q_{m}(x)\omega(x)dx &= \int_{I} (S_{2n}(x) + a_{n}S_{2n-1}(x))(S_{2m}(x) + a_{m}S_{2m-1}(x))\omega(x)dx \\ &= (k_{2n} + a_{n}a_{m}k_{2n-1})\delta_{n,m} + a_{m}k_{2n}\delta_{2n,2m-1} + a_{n}k_{2n-1}\delta_{2n-1,2m} \\ &= (k_{2n} + a_{n}a_{m}k_{2n-1})\delta_{n,m}, \\ \int_{I} Q_{n}(x)Q_{-m}(x)\omega(x)dx &= \int_{I} (S_{2n}(x) + a_{n}S_{2n-1}(x))(S_{2m}(x) - a_{m}S_{2m-1}(x))\omega(x)dx \end{aligned}$$

$$= (k_{2n} - a_n a_m k_{2n-1}) \delta_{n,m} - a_m k_{2n} \delta_{2n,2m-1} + a_n k_{2n-1} \delta_{2n-1,2m}$$

= $(k_{2n} - a_n a_m k_{2n-1}) \delta_{n,m}$,

$$\int_{I} Q_{-n}(x)Q_{-m}(x)\omega(x)dx = \int_{I} (S_{2n}(x) - a_n S_{2n-1}(x))(S_{2m}(x) - a_m S_{2m-1}(x))\omega(x)dx$$

= $(k_{2n} + a_n a_m k_{2n-1})\delta_{n,m} - a_m k_{2n}\delta_{2n,2m-1} - a_n k_{2n-1}\delta_{2n-1,2m}$
= $(k_{2n} + a_n a_m k_{2n-1})\delta_{n,m}$.

Therefore, condition (A) is also satisfied. Besides, from the first and the third equation we also have

$$h_n = h_{-n} = k_{2n} + a_n^2 k_{2n-1}. ag{4.5.2}$$

As for the necessity, suppose that $\{Q_n(x)\}_{n=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,...}$ satisfies the conditions (A) and (B). For $n = 1, 2, ..., Q_n(x)$ can be expressed as $Q_n(x) = e_n(x) + o_n(x)$, where $e_n(x)$ and $o_n(x)$ are even and odd polynomials, respectively. Then from condition (B) we have $Q_{-n}(x) = e_n(x) - o_n(x)$, while condition (A) implies that for any positive integers $n \neq m$, one has the relations

$$0 = \langle Q_n, Q_m \rangle = \langle e_n, e_m \rangle + \langle e_n, o_m \rangle + \langle o_n, e_m \rangle + \langle o_n, o_m \rangle,$$
(4.5.3)

$$0 = \langle Q_n, Q_{-m} \rangle = \langle e_n, e_m \rangle - \langle e_n, o_m \rangle + \langle o_n, e_m \rangle - \langle o_n, o_m \rangle, \qquad (4.5.4)$$

$$0 = \langle Q_{-n}, Q_m \rangle = \langle e_n, e_m \rangle + \langle e_n, o_m \rangle - \langle o_n, e_m \rangle - \langle o_n, o_m \rangle, \tag{4.5.5}$$

$$0 = \langle Q_{-n}, Q_{-m} \rangle = \langle e_n, e_m \rangle - \langle e_n, o_m \rangle - \langle o_n, e_m \rangle + \langle o_n, o_m \rangle, \tag{4.5.6}$$

which together lead to

$$\langle e_n, e_m \rangle = \langle e_n, o_m \rangle = \langle o_n, e_m \rangle = \langle o_n, o_m \rangle = 0,$$
(4.5.7)

where the inner product $\langle f, g \rangle = \int_I f(x)g(x)\omega(x)dx$. Note that (4.5.4) and (4.5.5) also hold for n = m, which implies that

$$\langle e_n, e_n \rangle = \langle o_n, o_n \rangle. \tag{4.5.8}$$

The relations (4.5.7) and (4.5.8) mean that the polynomials $\{e_n(x), o_n(x)\}_{n=0,1,2,...}$ form an orthogonal polynomial system, more exactly, in view of the parities of $e_n(x)$ and $o_n(x)$, they form a symmetric orthogonal polynomial system:

$$e_n(x) = S_{2n}(x), \quad o_n(x) = a_n S_{2n-1}(x),$$

where the coefficients a_n can be obtained from (4.5.8) and are:

$$a_n = \sqrt{\frac{\langle S_{2n}(x), S_{2n}(x) \rangle}{\langle S_{2n-1}(x), S_{2n-1}(x) \rangle}} = \sqrt{\frac{k_{2n}}{k_{2n-1}}}, \quad (n = 1, 2, \ldots).$$
(4.5.9)

Note that the subscripts in $S_{2n}(x)$ and $S_{2n-1}(x)$ do not necessarily represent the corresponding degrees. We have hence shown that the conditions (A) and (B) lead to expression (4.5.1), thus proving necessity.

Theorem 4.5.1 provides a general presentation of the Dunkl-SUSY OPs. Conversely, if we are given a set of OPs satisfying the conditions (A) and (B), we can always recover the corresponding set of symmetric OPs $S_n(x)$.

Moreover, according to the relations (4.5.2) and (4.5.9), the orthogonality constant of the polynomials defined by (4.5.1) turn out to be

$$h_n = h_{-n} = 2k_{2n}, \quad (n = 1, 2, ...)$$
 (4.5.10)

and $h_0 = k_0$, where k_n are the orthogonality constant of $\{S_n(x)\}_{n=0,1,2,...}$.

The recurrence relations can be given as follow.

Theorem 4.5.2. Let the monic symmetric OPs $\{S_n(x)\}_{n=0,1,2,...}$ defined by the three-term recurrence relation:

$$S_n(x) = xS_{n-1}(x) - \gamma_n S_{n-2}(x), \quad (n = 1, 2, ...)$$

with $S_{-1}(x) = 0$, $S_0(x) = 1$, then the monic polynomial system $\{Q_n(x)\}_{n=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,...}$ defined by (4.5.1) satisfies the recurrence relations:

$$Q_{n+1}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left[x^2 + (a_{n+1} - \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}}{a_n}) x - \gamma_{2n+2} - \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}a_{n+1}}{a_n} \right] Q_n(x) + \frac{1}{2} \left[x^2 + (a_{n+1} + \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}}{a_n}) x - \gamma_{2n+2} + \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}a_{n+1}}{a_n} \right] Q_{-n}(x), \qquad (4.5.11)$$

$$Q_{-(n+1)}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left[x^2 - (a_{n+1} + \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}}{a_n}) x - \gamma_{2n+2} + \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}a_{n+1}}{a_n} \right] Q_n(x)$$

$$Q_{-(n+1)}(x) = \frac{1}{2} \left[x^2 - (a_{n+1} + \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}}{a_n}) x - \gamma_{2n+2} + \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}a_{n+1}}{a_n} \right] Q_n(x) + \frac{1}{2} \left[x^2 - (a_{n+1} - \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}}{a_n}) x - \gamma_{2n+2} - \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}a_{n+1}}{a_n} \right] Q_{-n}(x).$$

$$(4.5.12)$$

with $Q_0(x) = 1$.

Proof. First, it follows from (4.5.1) that

$$S_{2n}(x) = \frac{Q_n(x) + Q_{-n}(x)}{2}, \quad S_{2n-1}(x) = \frac{Q_n(x) - Q_{-n}(x)}{2a_n}.$$
(4.5.13)

By definition, we have

$$Q_{n+1}(x) = S_{2n+2}(x) + a_{n+1}S_{2n+1}(x) = (x + a_{n+1})S_{2n+1}(x) - \gamma_{2n+2}S_{2n}(x)$$

= $(x + a_{n+1})(xS_{2n}(x) - \gamma_{2n+1}S_{2n-1}) - \gamma_{2n+2}S_{2n}(x)$
= $(x^2 + a_{n+1}x - \gamma_{2n+2})S_{2n}(x) - \gamma_{2n+1}(x + a_{n+1})S_{2n-1},$

where the three-term recurrence relation of $\{S_n(x)\}$ has been used twice. Substituting (4.5.13) into the above then leads to

$$2Q_{n+1}(x) = (x^2 + a_{n+1}x - \gamma_{2n+2})(Q_n(x) + Q_{-n}(x)) - \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}}{a_n}(x + a_{n+1})(Q_n(x) - Q_{-n}(x))$$

= $\left[x^2 + (a_{n+1} - \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}}{a_n})x - \gamma_{2n+2} - \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}a_{n+1}}{a_n}\right]Q_n(x)$
+ $\left[x^2 + (a_{n+1} + \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}}{a_n})x - \gamma_{2n+2} + \frac{\gamma_{2n+1}a_{n+1}}{a_n}\right]Q_{-n}(x),$

from which we obtain (4.5.11). The relation (4.5.12) is obtained in the same manner.

Note that the polynomials in the set $\{Q_n(x)\}_{n=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,...}$ can be ordered as follows

$$Q_0(x), Q_1(x), Q_{-1}(x), \cdots, Q_n(x), Q_{-n}(x), \cdots$$

since $Q_n(x)$ and $Q_{-n}(x)$ have the same degree. This means that the relations (4.5.11) and (4.5.12) can be viewed as the three-term recurrence relations of $\{Q_n(x)\}_{n=0,\pm 1,\pm 2,...}$.

4.6 Supplymentary data

Hermite polynomials

• The Hermite polynomials are orthogonal on the interval $(-\infty,\infty)$ with respect to the weight function e^{-x^2} . They satisfy the orthogonality relations:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} H_m(x) H_n(x) e^{-x^2} dx = 2^n n! \sqrt{\pi} \delta_{mn}$$

where $H_n(x)$ is the Hermite polynomial of degree *n*, δ_{mn} is Kronecher's delta.

• Three term recurrence relations:

$$H_n(x) = 2xH_{n-1}(x) - 2(n-1)H_{n-2}(x), \quad n \ge 1, \quad H_0(x) = 1.$$

Laguerre polynomials

• The Laguerre polynomials are orthogonal over $[0,\infty)$ with respect to the weight function $x^{\alpha}e^{-x}$. They satisfy the orthogonality relations:

$$\int_0^\infty L_m^{(\alpha)}(x) L_n^{(\alpha)}(x) x^\alpha e^{-x} dx = \frac{\Gamma(n+\alpha+1)}{n!} \delta_{mn}$$

where $L_n^{(\alpha)}(x)$ is the Laguerre polynomial of degree *n*.

• Three term recurrence relations:

$$L_n^{(\alpha)}(x) = \frac{2n - 1 + \alpha - x}{n} L_{n-1}^{(\alpha)}(x) - \frac{n - 1 + \alpha}{n} L_{n-2}^{(\alpha)}(x), \quad n \ge 1, \quad L_0^{(\alpha)}(x) = 1.$$

• Relation to Hermite polynomials:

$$H_{2n}(x) = (-1)^n 2^{2n} n! L_n^{(-1/2)}(x^2), \tag{4.6.1}$$

$$H_{2n+1}(x) = (-1)^n 2^{2n+1} n! x L_n^{(1/2)}(x^2).$$
(4.6.2)

Jacobi polynomials

• The Jacobi polynomials are orthogonal on the interval (-1, 1) with respect to the weight function $(1-x)^{\alpha}(1+x)^{\beta}$. They satisfy the orthogonality relations:

$$\int_{-\infty}^{\infty} P_m^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) P_n^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) (1-x)^{\alpha} (1+x)^{\beta} dx = \frac{2^{\alpha+\beta+1}\Gamma(\alpha+n+1)\Gamma(\beta+n+1)}{n!\Gamma(\alpha+\beta+n+1)(\alpha+\beta+2n+1)} \delta_{mn}$$

where P_n^(α,β)(x) is the Jacobi polynomial of degree n, and α, β > -1.
Three term recurrence relations:

$$P_{n}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = \left[\frac{(2n+\alpha+\beta-1)(2n+\alpha+\beta)}{2n(n+\alpha+\beta)}x - \frac{(\beta^{2}-\alpha^{2})(2n+\alpha+\beta-1)}{2n(n+\alpha+\beta)(2n+\alpha+\beta-2)}\right]P_{n-1}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) - \frac{2(n+\alpha-1)(n+\beta-1)(2n+\alpha+\beta)}{2n(n+\alpha+\beta)(2n+\alpha+\beta-2)}P_{n-2}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x), \quad n \ge 1 \quad P_{0}^{(\alpha,\beta)}(x) = 1.$$

Chapter 5 Summary and future works

We discussed several generalizations of the classical orthogonal polynomials and their properties. Let us briefly summarize the main results we have presented in this thesis and then discuss some ideas on the future works of this research.

5.1 Summary

In chapter 1, the history background and the definitions as well as the rich applications of the classical orthogonal polynomials are introduced. An important property called duality which reads as the equivalence of a three-term recurrence relation and an eigenvalue equation satisfied by the classical orthogonal polynomials is illustrated. Generalizing the eigenvalue equation is a key in deriving the generalizations of the classical orthogonal polynomials. In chapter 2, we studied the electrostatic properties of the zeros of exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials. We have shown that the maximum value of the modulus of a special energy function is attained on the zeros of exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials under certain conditions. In chapter 3, we established an exceptional extension of the Bannai-Ito polynomials. Interestingly enough, the degree sequences of these exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials demonstrate different rules compared with those of the exceptional extensions of the very classical orthogonal polynomials, that is, there are cases where the degree sequence is consist of even integers only. In chapter 4, we introduced and characterized orthogonal functions that we have called Dunkl-supersymmetric. These functions are eigenfunctions of a class of Dunkl-type differential operators that can be cast within supersymmetric quantum mechanics. A significant feature of these orthogonal function families is that they do not involve polynomials of all degrees but are rather organized in pairs of polynomials both of the same degree (where the examples in terms of the Jacobi polynomials may be viewed as polynomials in certain special variables). The connection with supersymmetric quantum mechanics has been exploited to obtain a number of Dunkl-supersymmetric orthogonal functions from exactly solvable problems. Informed by these results we could offer a general characterization of the Dunkl-supersymmetric orthogonal polynomials and could exhibit as well their recurrence relations.

5.2 Future works

As we have already mentioned, there are examples in the exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials and the Dunkl-supersymmetric orthogonal polynomials that their degree sequences are consist of even integers only, for instance, $\{0, 2, 2, 4, 4, 6, 6, \ldots\}$. These examples have seldom been mentioned in the literature as far as we know. Therefore, it is of great interest to study this type of orthogonal polynomials in general. In what follows, we would like to provide some results on this proceeding research which also gives a rough image of our future works.

Consider a general eigenvalue problem

$$LP_n(x) = \lambda_n P_n(x), \quad n = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

where the eigenfunctions $P_n(x)$ are polynomials. If a bounded operator *L* is self-adjoint and nondegenerate (i.e. $\lambda_n \neq \lambda_m, \forall n \neq m$), then its eigenfunctions $P_n(x)$, n = 0, 1, 2, ..., are orthogonal with respect to certain weight function. To the end we assume that *L* is self-adjoint and nondegenerate.

Definition 5.2.1. A sequence of polynomials $\{P_n(x)\}_{n=0,1,2,...}$ is called orthogonal polynomials sequence of single-parity degrees (OPSPD) if they are orthogonal with respect to certain linear functional \mathcal{L}

$$\mathscr{L}[P_m(x)P_n(x)] = h_n \delta_{m,n}, \quad h_n \neq 0$$

and the degree sequence of $\{P_n(x)\}_{n=0,1,2,...}$ is consist of even or odd integers only.

If $\{P_n(x)\}_{n=0,1,2,...}$ is a finite polynomial sequence which satisfies the conditions in Definition 5.2.1, then it is called a finite OPSPD. If $h_n > 0$ for i = 0, 1, 2, ..., then the OPSPD is called positive definite.

A simple approach towards the construction of OPSPD is based on observations of how the operator L acts on the monomials, $1, x, x^2, ...$ Denote the degree sequence of the polynomial eigenfunctions of L by S_L . For convenience, here we call the polynomial eigenfunctions of a self-adjoint operator L type I OPSPD if $S_L = \{0, 2, 2, 4, 4, ...\}$. The other cases of OPSPD and their classifications will be leave as open problems. The following lemma concludes a sufficient condition for the existence of the type I OPSPD.

Lemma 5.2.1. Let *L* be a linear operator on a Hilbert space. Suppose that *L* maps every monomial x^i , i = 0, 1, 2, ..., to a polynomial of degree $2\lceil \frac{i}{2} \rceil$ (the nearest even number $\geq i$), namely, $Lx^0 = k_{0,0}$ and

$$Lx^{2i-1} = \sum_{j=0}^{2i} k_{2i-1,j} x^j, \quad Lx^{2i} = \sum_{j=0}^{2i} k_{2i,j} x^j, \quad i = 1, 2, \dots$$
(5.2.1)

where $k_{i,j}$'s are constants and $k_{2i-1,2i}, k_{2i,2i} \neq 0, \forall i = 1, 2, \dots$ Let

$$\Delta_m = (k_{2m,2m} - k_{2m-1,2m-1})^2 + 4k_{2m,2m-1}k_{2m-1,2m},$$
(5.2.2)

if $\Delta_m > 0$ for m = 1, 2, ..., then L has polynomial eigenfunctions whose degree sequence is $S_L = \{0, 2, 2, 4, 4, ...\}$.

Proof. Assume that $P_n(x) = \sum_{i=0}^n a_{n,i} x^i$ is a polynomial eigenfunction of L, then we have

$$\lambda_n P_n(x) = LP_n(x) = \sum_{i=0}^n a_{n,i} \sum_{j=0}^{2\lceil \frac{i}{2} \rceil} k_{i,j} x^j = \sum_{j=0}^{2\lceil \frac{n}{2} \rceil} \sum_{i=\max(0,2\lceil \frac{j}{2} \rceil-1)}^n a_{n,i} k_{i,j} x^j,$$

which can be written as

$$\sum_{j=0}^{2\lceil \frac{n}{2}\rceil} \left(\sum_{i=\max(0,2\lceil \frac{j}{2}\rceil-1)}^{n} a_{n,i}k_{i,j} \right) x^{j} = \sum_{j=0}^{n} \lambda_{n}a_{n,j}x^{j}.$$
(5.2.3)

Here *n* must be even such that $2\left\lceil \frac{n}{2} \right\rceil = n$. Let n = 2m, then (5.2.3) is equivalent with

$$\sum_{i=\max(0,2\lceil \frac{j}{2}\rceil-1)}^{2m} a_{2m,i}k_{i,j} = \lambda_{2m}a_{2m,j}, \quad j = 0, 1, \dots, 2m.$$
(5.2.4)

For convenience, we assume that $P_{2m}(x)$ is monic $(a_{2m,2m} = 1)$ and $a_{2m,2m-1} \neq 0$. It follows from the last two equations in (5.2.4) which read as

$$egin{aligned} & (\lambda_{2m}-k_{2m-1,2m-1})a_{2m,2m-1}=k_{2m,2m-1}a_{2m,2m}, \ & & (\lambda_{2m}-k_{2m,2m})a_{2m,2m}=k_{2m-1,2m}a_{2m,2m-1}, \end{aligned}$$

that λ_{2m} is the solution of the following equation

$$\lambda_{2m}^2 - (k_{2m,2m} + k_{2m-1,2m-1})\lambda_{2m} + k_{2m,2m}k_{2m-1,2m-1} - k_{2m,2m-1}k_{2m-1,2m} = 0.$$
(5.2.5)

The discriminant of this equation is (5.2.2). If $\Delta_m > 0$, then there exists two solutions for the equation (5.2.5), say λ_{2m} and λ_{-2m} , which satisfy

$$\lambda_{2m} + \lambda_{-2m} = k_{2m,2m} + k_{2m-1,2m-1}, \tag{5.2.6}$$

and

$$\lambda_{2m}\lambda_{-2m} = k_{2m,2m}k_{2m-1,2m-1} - k_{2m,2m-1}k_{2m-1,2m}.$$
(5.2.7)

The other coefficients of $P_{2m}(x)$ then can be derived inductively from (5.2.4) under the assumption that the denominators involved are not zero:

$$a_{2m,2m-2l-1} = \left[(\lambda_{2m} - k_{2m-2l,2m-2l}) (\lambda_{2m} - k_{2m-2l-1,2m-2l-1}) - k_{2m-2l-1,2m-2l} k_{2m-2l,2m-2l-1} \right]^{-1}$$

$$\cdot \sum_{i=2m-2l+1}^{2m} a_{2m,i} \left[(\lambda_{2m} - k_{2m-2l,2m-2l}) k_{i,2m-2l-1} + k_{2m-2l,2m-2l-1} k_{i,2m-2l} \right], \quad l = 0, \dots, m-1,$$

$$a_{2m,2m-2l} = \left[(\lambda_{2m} - k_{2m-2l,2m-2l}) (\lambda_{2m} - k_{2m-2l-1,2m-2l-1}) - k_{2m-2l-1,2m-2l} k_{2m-2l,2m-2l-1} \right]^{-1}$$

$$\sum_{i=2m-2l+1}^{2m} a_{2m,i} \left[(\lambda_{2m} - k_{2m-2l-1,2m-2l-1}) k_{i,2m-2l} + k_{2m-2l-1,2m-2l} k_{i,2m-2l-1} \right], \quad l = 1, \dots, m-1,$$

and

$$a_{2m,0} = rac{1}{\lambda_{2m} - k_{0,0}} \sum_{i=1}^{2m} a_{2m,i} k_{i,0}.$$

5.2.1 Algebraic Heun operators and the construction of type I OPSPD

The algebraic Heun (AH) operators come from the duality of COP. They can be constructed using the bispectral pair of operators related with COP. It is known that the AH operators are the most general operators that map any polynomial of degree n into a polynomial of degree n + 1 [33]. Let us consider the case where L maps the monomials $1, x, x^2, x^3, x^4, ...$ into polynomials of degrees 0, 2, 2, 4, 4, ..., respectively. Since L raises the degree of every odd monomial by 1 and preserves the degrees of every even monomial, we can make use of the AH operators by defining

$$L[x^{n}] := \frac{(1+(-1)^{n})}{2}H[x^{n}] + \frac{(1-(-1)^{n})}{2}W[x^{n}],$$
(5.2.8)

where *H* is a linear operator that maps x^n to a polynomial of degree *n* and *W* is an AH operator. In fact, (5.2.8) can be realized with the help of the reflection operator R(R(f(x)) = f(-x)). Let

$$L = \frac{1}{2}(H+W) + \frac{1}{2}(H-W)R,$$
(5.2.9)

then (5.2.8) holds immediately.

By choosing *H* as the spectral operator related to certain COP $\{Q_n(x)\}_{n=0,1,2,...}$ and *W* as the corresponding AH operator, one can make use of the theories of COP and their generalizations. Let us take the Bannai-Ito case for an example. Recall that the Bannai-Ito polynomials are eigenfunctions of the operator

$$L_{BI} = \frac{(x - \rho_1)(x - \rho_2)}{-2x}(R - I) + \frac{(x - r_1 + 1/2)(x - r_2 + 1/2)}{2x + 1}(TR - I),$$
(5.2.10)

where *T* is the shift operator, *I* is the identity, Tf(x) = f(x+1), If(x) = f(x). The algebraic Heun Bannai-Ito (AHBI) operator can be given by

$$W = \tau_1 X Y + \tau_2 Y X + \tau_3 X + \tau_4 Y + \tau_0, \tag{5.2.11}$$

where τ_i , i = 0, ..., 4, are real coefficients. The operators *X*, *Y* are generators of the Bannai-Ito algebra:

$$\{X,Y\} = Z + \omega_3, \quad \{Y,Z\} = X + \omega_1, \quad \{X,Z\} = Y + \omega_2,$$
 (5.2.12)

where ω_i , i = 1, 2, 3 are constants [79]. Specifically,

$$X = 2L_{BI} + (\rho_1 + \rho_2 - r_1 - r_2 + \frac{1}{2}), \quad Y = x,$$

$$\omega_1 = 4r_2r_1 + 4\rho_2\rho_1, \quad \omega_2 = -2r_1^2 - 2r_2^2 + 2\rho_1^2 + 2\rho_2^2, \quad \omega_3 = -4r_2r_1 + 4\rho_2\rho_1.$$

Let H = X, then it follows from (5.2.9) that

$$2L = W|_{\tau_3 = \tau_3 + 1} - W|_{\tau_3 = \tau_3 - 1}R.$$

For generic parameters τ_i , i = 0, ..., 4, the operator *L* involves *TR*, *I*, *R* and *T*. However, the shift operator *T* is not self-adjoint, here we set some conditions to annihilate *T* in *L*. Let $\tau_1 = \tau_2, \tau_3 = \tau_2 + 1$, then we write *L* as *L*₀:

$$L_0 = CL_1(x)TR + CL_2(x)R + CL_3(x)I,$$
(5.2.13)

where

$$CL_1(x) = \frac{(2x - 2r_2 + 1)(2x - 2r_1 + 1)}{2x + 1},$$

$$CL_{2}(x) = \frac{-4(\tau_{2} + \tau_{4} + 1)x^{2} + 4((2r_{1}r_{2} - 2\rho_{1}\rho_{2} + \rho_{1} + \rho_{2})\tau_{2} - 2\tau_{0} - \tau_{4} + 4\rho_{1} + 4\rho_{2})x - 8(\tau_{2} + \frac{1}{2})\rho_{1}\rho_{2}}{2x},$$

$$CL_{3}(x) = 2(\tau_{2} + \tau_{4})x - 4r_{1}r_{2}\tau_{2} + 4\rho_{1}\rho_{2}\tau_{2} - 2\rho_{1}\tau_{2} - 2\tau_{2}\rho_{2} + \tau_{0} + \frac{\tau_{4}}{2} + \frac{2(1 + 2\tau_{2})\rho_{1}\rho_{2}}{x} - \frac{4r_{2}r_{1}}{2x + 1}.$$

The operator L_0 acts on the monomials as:

$$L_0[x^{2m}] = (2\rho_1 + 2\rho_2 - 2r_1 - 2r_2 + 4m + 1)x^{2m} + \cdots,$$

$$L_0[x^{2m-1}] = 4(\tau_2 + \tau_4)x^{2m} + ((8\rho_1\rho_2 - 8r_1r_2 - 4\rho_1 - 4\rho_2)\tau_2 + 2r_1 + 2r_2 - 2\rho_1 - 2\rho_2 + 2\tau_0 + \tau_4 - (4m-1))x^{2m-1} + \cdots,$$

thus the following condition must be satisfied so that L_0 maps the monomials to polynomials of degree 0, 2, 2, 4, 4, ...,

$$2\rho_1 + 2\rho_2 - 2r_1 - 2r_2 \neq -(4m+1), \quad m = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

$$\tau_2 + \tau_4 \neq 0. \tag{5.2.14}$$

Suppose that L_0 possesses polynomial eigenfunctions with distinct eigenvalues,

$$L_0 P_{\pm 2m} = \lambda_{\pm 2m} P_{\pm 2m}, \quad m = 0, 1, 2, \dots,$$

then it follows from the relation (5.2.6) that

$$\lambda_{2m} + \lambda_{-2m} = (8\rho_1\rho_2 - 8r_1r_2 - 4\rho_1 - 4\rho_2)\tau_2 + 2\tau_0 + \tau_4 + 2, \quad m = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$
(5.2.15)

5.2.2 A generalization of the Bannai-Ito algebra

Let $Y_L := ax + b$ and $X_L := cL_0 + d$ with

$$a = 4b, \quad d = \left(\left(2\rho_1 + 2\rho_2 - 4\rho_1\rho_2 + 4r_1r_2 + \frac{1}{2} \right)\tau_2 - \tau_0 \right)c.$$

It turns out that X_L, Y_L satisfy the following anticommutation relations:

$$\{X_L, Y_L\} = C_1 Y_L^2 + Z_L + K_3, \tag{5.2.16}$$

$$\{Y_L, Z_L\} = C_2 X_L + K_1, \tag{5.2.17}$$

$$\{Z_L, X_L\} = C_3 X_L + C_4 Y_L^2 + C_5 Y_L + K_2,$$
(5.2.18)

where

$$C_{1} = \frac{c}{b}(\tau_{2} + \tau_{4}), \ C_{2} = 4b^{2}, \ C_{3} = 4bc(\tau_{2} + \tau_{4}), \ C_{4} = -\frac{c^{2}}{b}(\tau_{2} + \tau_{4})(\tau_{2} + \tau_{4} + 2), \ C_{5} = c^{2}(\tau_{2} + \tau_{4} + 2)^{2}, \\ K_{3} = -bc(\tau_{2} + \tau_{4} - 32\rho_{1}\rho_{2}\tau_{2} - 16\rho_{1}\rho_{2} + 16r_{1}r_{2}), \\ K_{1} = 32b^{2}c(2\rho_{1}\rho_{2}\tau_{2} + \rho_{1}\rho_{2} + r_{1}r_{2}), \\ K_{2} = bc^{2}(64r_{1}^{2}r_{2}^{2}\tau_{2}^{2} - 128\tau_{2}^{2}r_{1}r_{2}\rho_{1}\rho_{2} + 64\rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{2}^{2}\tau_{2}^{2} + 64r_{1}r_{2}\rho_{1}\tau_{2}^{2} + 64r_{1}r_{2}\rho_{2}\tau_{2}^{2} - 64\rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{2}\tau_{2}^{2} - 64\rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{2}\tau_{2}^{2} - 64\rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{2}\tau_{2}^{2} - 64\rho_{1}\rho_{2}^{2}\tau_{2}^{2} + 64r_{1}r_{2}\rho_{1}\tau_{2} + 64r_{1}r_{2}\rho_{2}\tau_{2} - 32r_{1}r_{2}\tau_{0}\tau_{2} - 16\tau_{2}r_{1}r_{2}\tau_{4} - 64\rho_{1}^{2}\rho_{2}\tau_{2} + 16\rho_{1}^{2}\tau_{2}^{2} - 64\rho_{1}\rho_{2}\tau_{2}^{2} - 64\rho_{1}\rho_{2}\tau_{2}\tau_{2} - 16\rho_{1}\rho_{2}\tau_{2} - 16\rho_{1}\tau_{2} - 16\rho_{1}^{2} - 2\sigma_{1}^{2} - 2$$

The algebra generated by X_L , Y_L and Z_L subject to the relations (5.2.16)-(5.2.18) can be considered a generalization of the Bannai-Ito algebra. In fact, if one choose the parameters $\tau_2 = \tau_4 = 0$, $\tau_0 = 0$ and

b = c = 1/2, then this algebra is exactly the Bannai-Ito algebra (5.2.12). This fact also addresses the necessity of the condition (5.2.14) in this scheme.

The Casimir operator Q_L commuting with all the generator X_L, Y_L, Z_L of this algebra has the form:

$$Q_L = C_2 X_L^2 + C_5 Y_L^2 + Z_L^2 + C_2 C_4 Y_L - C_3 Z_L, (5.2.19)$$

which acts as a constant in this realization:

$$Q_L = 16b^2c^2(2\rho_1^2 + 2\rho_2^2 + 2r_1^2 + 2r_2^2 - \frac{1}{4}) + 2b(K_2 + 16bc^2(r_1^2 + r_2^2 - \rho_1^2 - \rho_2^2)) - b^2c^2(\tau_2 + \tau_4)(64r_1r_2 + 3(\tau_2 + \tau_4)).$$

From the anticommutation relations (5.2.16)-(5.2.18) one can also rewrite Q_L as follow:

$$Q_L = \left(\sqrt{C_5}Y_L + Z_L - \frac{C_3}{2}\right)^2 + C_2 X_L^2 - C_2 \sqrt{C_5} X_L - \sqrt{C_5} K_1 - \frac{C_3^2}{4}.$$
(5.2.20)

Let us introduce the operator by the following formula,

$$J_1 = (Y_L + N_1 Z_L + M_1)(X_L + k_1) + t, (5.2.21)$$

where N_1, M_1, k_1, t are constants.

Lemma 5.2.2. If these constants are defined by

$$N_1 = -\frac{C_1}{C_4}, \quad M_1 = \frac{C_1 C_3}{2C_4}, \quad k_1 = \frac{C_4}{2C_1}, \quad t = -\frac{C_3}{4} - \frac{K_3}{2} + \frac{C_1}{2C_4}K_2,$$

then we have

$$\{J_1, X_L\} = \frac{1}{N_1} J_1 = c(\tau_2 + \tau_4 + 2)J_1.$$
(5.2.22)

The relation (5.2.22) follows from (5.2.16)-(5.2.18) through straightforward calculations. In later discussions we will see that J_1 is a ladder operator associated with L_0 . Note that it is the existence of the Y_L^2 -terms in (5.2.16) and (5.2.18) that causes the uniqueness of the constant N_1 (while there are two choices of N_1 in the case of the ordinary Bannai-Ito algebra), hence there is only one ladder operator of L_0 in the form (5.2.21).

The operator J_1 here shares similar properties with the ladder operator J_+ in the ordinary Bannai-Ito algebra [79]. The operator J_1 annihilates any constant $J_1[1] = 0$ and maps the monomials x, x^2, x^3, x^4, \ldots , into polynomials of degrees 2, 2, 4, 4, ..., respectively.

Suppose that the operator L_0 has an infinite sequence of polynomial eigenfunctions in the means:

$$L_0 P_{\pm 2m}(x) = \lambda_{\pm 2m} P_{\pm 2m}(x), \quad m = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

where $\lambda_{\pm 2m}$ are distinct eigenvalues, and deg $P_{\pm 2m}(x) = 2m$. Obviously, $P_{\pm 2m}(x)$ are also eigenfunctions of the operator X_L :

$$X_L P_{\pm 2m}(x) = \mu_{\pm 2m} P_{\pm 2m}(x), \quad m = 0, 1, 2, \dots$$

where

$$\mu_{\pm 2m} = c \left(\lambda_{\pm 2m} + \left(2\rho_1 + 2\rho_2 - 4\rho_1\rho_2 + 4r_1r_2 + \frac{1}{2} \right) \tau_2 - \tau_0 \right).$$
(5.2.23)

It then follows from the relation (5.2.22) that $\hat{P}_{\pm 2m}(x) = J_1 P_{\pm 2m}(x)$ are again eigenfunctions of the operator X_L with the eigenvalues

$$\hat{\mu}_{\pm 2m} = c \left(-\lambda_{\pm 2m} - \left(2\rho_1 + 2\rho_2 - 4\rho_1\rho_2 + 4r_1r_2 - \frac{1}{2} \right) \tau_2 + \tau_4 + \tau_0 + 2 \right).$$

Substitute the relation (5.2.15) into the right-hand side then it turns out

$$\hat{\mu}_{\pm 2m} = c \left(\lambda_{\mp 2m} + \left(2\rho_1 + 2\rho_2 - 4\rho_1\rho_2 + 4r_1r_2 + \frac{1}{2} \right) \tau_2 - \tau_0 \right) = \mu_{\mp 2m},$$
(5.2.24)

which means that J_1 acts on the eigenfunctions of L_0 in the way that it exchanges $P_{2m}(x)$ with $P_{-2m}(x)$:

 $J_1 P_{2m}(x) \propto P_{-2m}(x), \quad J_1 P_{-2m}(x) \propto P_{2m}(x).$

As an immediate consequence of the relation (5.2.22), J_1^2 commutes with the operator X_L :

$$[X_L, J_1^2] = 0$$

It follows from the anticommutation relations (5.2.16)-(5.2.18) that

$$(X_L + k_1)(Y_L + N_1Z_L + M_1) = -(Y_L + N_1Z_L + M_1)(X_L + k_1) - 2t,$$

thus we can express J_1^2 as

$$J_1^2 = -(Y_L + N_1 Z_L + M_1)^2 (X_L + k_1)^2 + t^2.$$

Notice that $N_1 = (\sqrt{C_5})^{-1}$ and $M_1\sqrt{C_5} = -C_3/2$, it then follows from (5.2.20) that J_1^2 is a fourth-order polynomial in X_L :

$$J_1^2 = -\frac{1}{C_5} \left(Q_L - C_2 X_L^2 + C_2 \sqrt{C_5} X_L + \sqrt{C_5} K_1 + \frac{C_3^2}{4} \right)^2 (X_L + k_1)^2 + t^2.$$

We still want to find the ladder operators that transform $P_{2m}(x)$ $(P_{-2m}(x))$ to their neighbors $P_{2(m-1)}(x)$, $P_{2(m+1)}(x)$ $(P_{-2(m-1)}(x)$, $P_{-2(m+1)}(x))$. However, we are not able to obtain these ladder operators at the present stage. We will leave this to our future works.

According to numerical analysis we have the following conjectures.

Conjection 5.2.1. Assume that the condition in Lemma 5.2.1. is satisfied by the operator L_0 , and the polynomial eigenfunctions $\{P_{\pm 2m}\}_{m=0,1,2...}$ of L_0 are monic, then they satisfy the following recurrence relations:

$$\begin{split} P_{2(m+1)}(x) &= (x^2 + a_{2m}x + b_{2m})\frac{P_{2m}(x) + P_{-2m}(x)}{2} + c_{2m}(P_{2m}(x) - P_{-2m}(x)) + \\ & d_{2m}\frac{P_{2(m-1)}(x) + P_{-(2m-1)}(x)}{2} + e_{2m}(P_{2m-1}(x) - P_{-(2m-1)}(x)), \\ P_{-(2m+1)}(x) &= (x^2 + a_{-2m}x + b_{-2m})\frac{P_{2m}(x) + P_{-2m}(x)}{2} + c_{-2m}(P_{2m}(x) - P_{-2m}(x)) + \\ & d_{-2m}\frac{P_{2m-1}(x) + P_{-(2m-1)}(x)}{2} + e_{-2m}(P_{2m-1}(x) - P_{-(2m-1)}(x)), \end{split}$$

where the (a_{2m}, a_{-2m}) 's are a pair of solutions of a quadratic equation.

Conjection 5.2.2. The above conjecture holds for all the type I OPSPD.

Acknowledgements

First and foremost, I would like to thank my supervisor Associate Professor Satoshi Tsujimoto for his great encouragement and helpful insights. Satoshi has been very patient with me throughout my doctoral journey. He has constantly guided me towards fruitful areas and provided crucial insights along the way. Without Satoshi this would not have been possible.

I would also like to thank Professor Yoshimasa Nakamura for his warmful support and valuable comments.

I also want to thank my collaborators Professor Luc Vinet and Professor Alexei Zhedanov for their helpful advices and discussions.

Finally, I would like to thank all my colleagues in Applied Mathematical Analysis Laboratory in Kyoto University for fruitful discussions.

Bibliography

- S. Ahmed, M. Bruschi, F. Calogero, M. A. Olshanetsky and A. M. Perelomov, Properties of the zeros of the classical polynomials and of the Bessel functions, *Nuovo Cimento* 49B (1979) 173-199.
- [2] G. E. Andrews and R. Askey, Classical orthogonal polynomials, in Polynomes Orthogonaux et Applications, C. Brezinski, A. Draux, A.P. Magnus, P. Maroni and A. Ronveaux, eds., Lecture Notes in Math. 1171, Springer, New York (1985) 1-99.
- [3] E. Bannai and T. Ito, Algebraic Combinatorics, Benjamin/Cummings, 1984.
- [4] J. Baik, T. Kriecherbauer, K. T.-R. McLauchlin and P. D. Miller, Discrete orthogonal polynomials: asymptotics and applications, Annals of Mathematics Studies, Vol. 164, Princeton University Press, Princeton, (2007)
- [5] H. De Bie, V. X. Genest, and L. Vinet. A Dirac-Dunkl equation on S² and the Bannai-Ito algebra, *Commun. Math. Phys.* 344(2) (2016) 447-464.
- [6] M. C. Bosca and J. S. Dehasa, Rational Jacobi matrices and certain quantum mechanical problems, J. Phys. A 17 (1984) 3487-3491.
- [7] S. Bose, Quantum communication through spin chain dynamics: an introductory overview, *Contemp. Phys.* 48 (2007) 13-30.
- [8] F. Calogero, On the zeros of Hermite polynomials, Lettere Nuovo Cimento 20 (1977) 489-490.
- [9] F. Calogero, Equilibrium configuration of the one-dimensional n-body problem with quadratic and inversely quadratic pair potentials, *Lettere Nuovo Cimento* **20** (1977) 251-253.
- [10] T. Carleman, Sur le probléme des moments, C.R. Acad. Sci. Paris 174 (1922) 1680-1682.
- [11] R. Chakrabarti and J. Van der Jeugt, Quantum communication through a spin chain with interaction determined by a Jacobi matrix, *J. Phys. A: Math. Theor.* **43** (2010) 85302, 20pages.
- [12] T. S. Chihara, An introduction to orthogonal polynomials, Mathematics and its Applications, Vol. 13, Gordon and Breach Science Publishers, New York-London-Paris, (1978).
- [13] F. Cooper, A. Khare, U. Sukhatme, Supersymmetry and quantum mechanics, *Physics Reports* 251 (1995) 267-385.
- [14] J. S. Dehesa, A. Martínez-Finkelshtdein and J. Sánchez-Ruiz, Quantum information entropies and orthogonal polynomials, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 1331-2 (2001) 23-46.
- [15] A. J. Durán, Orthogonal polynomials satisfying higher-order difference equations, *Constr. Approx.*, **36** (2012) 459-486.
- [16] A. J. Durán, Exceptional Charlier and Hermite orthogonal polynomials, J. Approx. Theory. 182 (2014) 29-58.
- [17] A. J. Durán, Exceptional Meixner and Laguerre orthogonal polynomials, J. Approx. Theory. 184 (2014) 176-208.
- [18] A. J. Durán, Exceptional Hahn and Jacobi orthogonal polynomials, J. Approx. Theory. 214 (2017) 9-48.
- [19] A. J. Durán, Pérez M. Admissibility condition for exceptional Laguerre polynomials, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 424 (2015) 1042-1053.
- [20] J. Favard, Sur les polynomes de Tchebicheff (in French), C. R. Acad. Sci., Paris 200 (1935) 2052-2053.
- [21] R. Floreanini, J. LeTourneux and L. Vinet, More on the q-oscillator algebra and q-orthogonal

polynomials, J. Phys. A 28 (1995) 287-293.

- [22] G. Gasper and M. Rahman, Basic hypergeometric series 2nd edition, Encyclopedia of Mathematics and Applications, Vol. 96, Cambridge, (2004)
- [23] M. García-Ferrero, D. Gómez-Ullate and R. Milson, A Bochner type characterization theorem for exceptional orthogonal polynomials, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 472 (2019) 584-626.
- [24] D. Gómez-Ullate, Y. Grandati and R. Milson, Rational extensions of the quantum harmonic oscillator and exceptional Hermite polynomials, *J. Phys. A: Math. Theor.* **47** (2013) no. 1, 015203.
- [25] D. Gómez-Ullate, N. Kamran and R. Milson, An extended class of orthogonal polynomials defined by a Sturm-Liouville problem, *J. Math. Anal. Appl.* 359 (2009) 352-367.
- [26] D. Gómez-Ullate, N. Kamran and R. Milson, Exceptional orthogonal polynomials and the Darboux transformation, *J. Phys. A: Math. Theor.* **43** (2010) 434016.
- [27] D. Gómez-Ullate, N. Kamran and R. Milson, Two-step Darboux transformations and exceptional Laguerre polynomials, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 387 (2012) no. 1, 410-418.
- [28] D. Gómez-Ullate, F. Marcellan and R. Milson, Asymptotic and interlacing properties of zeros of exceptional Jacobi and Laguerre polynomials, J. Math. Anal. Appl. 399 (2013) 480-495.
- [29] Y. Grandati, Multistep DBT and regular rational extensions of the isotonic oscillator, *Ann. Phys.* 327 (2012) no. 10, 2411-2431.
- [30] Ya. I. Granovskii and A. Zhedanov, Orthogonal polynomials in the Lie algebras, *Russian Physics Journal* 29 (1986) 387-393.
- [31] Ya. I. Granovskii and A. Zhedanov, Exactly solvable problems and their quadratic algebras, preprint Phys. Techn. Inst. Acad. Sci. Ukraine, Donetsk (1989)
- [32] Ya. I. Granovskii and A. Zhedanov, Linear covariance algebra for $SL_q(2)$, J. Phys. A: Math. Gen. **26** (1993) 357-359.
- [33] F. A. Grünbaum, L. Vinet and A. Zhedanov, Algebraic Heun operator and band-time limiting, *Commun. Math. Phys.*, 364(3) (2018) 1041-1068.
- [34] H. Hamburger, Uber eine Erweiterung des Stieltjesschen Momentenproblems, *Math. Ann.* 81 (1920) 235-318; 82 (1921) 120-164; 168-187.
- [35] F. Hausdorff, Momentprobleme für ein endliches Intervall, Math. Z. 16 (1923) 220-248.
- [36] C. L. Ho, R. Sasaki, Zeros of the exceptional Laguerre and Jacobi polynomials, *ISRN Mathematical Physics* 27 (2012) 920475.
- [37] Å. P. Horváth, $\rho(w)$ -normal point systems, Acta Mathematica Hungarica 85 (1999) 9-27.
- [38] Å. P. Horváth, The energy function with respect to the zeros of the exceptional Hermite polynomials, Acta Mathematica Scientia 37B (2017) 1483-1496.
- [39] Á. P. Horváth, The electrostatic properties of zeros of exceptional Laguerre and Jacobi polynomials and stable interpolation, *J. Approx. Theory.* **194** (2015) 87-107.
- [40] M.E.H Ismail. An electrostatic model for zeros of general orthogonal polynomials, *Pac. J. Math.* 193 (2000) 355-369.
- [41] M. Ismail, J. J. Foncannon and O. Pekonen, Classical and quantum orthogonal polynomials in one variable. *The Mathematical Intelligencer* 30(1) (2008) 54-60.
- [42] M. Ismail, M. E. Ismail and W. van Assche, Classical and quantum orthogonal polynomials in one variable, Vol. 13 Cambridge university press. (2005)
- [43] A. Kay, A Review of Perfect State Transfer and its Application as a Constructive Tool, *Int. J. Quantum Inf.* 8 (2010) 641-676.
- [44] R. Koekoek and R. F. Swarttouw, The Askey-scheme of hypergeometric orthogonal polynomials and its q-analogue, Delft University of Technology, Report no 98-17 (1998)
- [45] T. H. Koornwinder, Askey-Wilson polynomials for root systems of type BC, Contemp. Math. 138 (1992) 189-204.
- [46] T. H. Koornwinder, Orthogonal polynomials in connection with quantum groups. Orthogonal polynomials (Columbus, OH, 1989), 257-292, NATO Adv. Sci. Inst. Ser. C Math. Phys. Sci. 294

Kluwer Acad. Publ., Dordrecht, (1990)

- [47] A. M. Krall, A review of orthogonal polynomials satisfying boundary value problems, Orthogonal Polynomials and their Applications, Lecture Notes in Mathematics **13** (1988) 73-97.
- [48] R. Krishnamoorthi, A multiresolution approach for rotation invariant texture image retrieval with orthogonal polynomials model. *J. Vis. Commun. Image Represent.* **23**(1) (2012) 18-30.
- [49] A. B. Kuijlaars, R. Milson, Zeros of exceptional Hermite polynomials, J. Approx. Theory. 200 (2015) 28-39.
- [50] B. M. Levitan and I. S. Sargsjan, Introduction to spectral theory: selfadjoint ordinary differential operators, American Mathematical Society, Providence, 1975.
- [51] Y. Luo and S. Tsujimoto, Exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials, J. Approx. Theory. 239 (2019) 144-173.
- [52] I. G. Macdonald, Symmetric functions and orthogonal polynomials, Dean Jacqueline B. Lewis Memorial Lectures presented at Rutgers University, New Brunswick, NJ. University Lecture Series, Vol. 12, American Mathematical Society, Providence, RI (1998)
- [53] A. A. Markov, Sur les racines de certaines équations, Math. Ann. 27 (1886) 177-182.
- [54] M. L. Mehta, Random matrices. Third edition, Pure and Applied Mathematics (Amsterdam), Vol. 142, Elsevier/Academic Press, Amsterdam (2004)
- [55] P. R. Milch, A multi-dimensional linear growth birth and death process, *Ann. Math. Statist* **39** (1968) 727-754.
- [56] J. Morales, J. García-Martínez, J. García-Ravelo and J. J. Peña, Exactly Solvable Schrödinger Equation with Hypergeometric Wavefunctions, *J. Appl. Math. and Phys.* **3**, (2015), no. 11, 1454.
- [57] A. F. Nikiforov, S. K. Suslov and V. B. Uvarov, Classical orthogonal polynomials of a discrete variable, *Springer Series in Computational Physics*, Springer-Verlag, Berlin, (1991)
- [58] E. M. Nikishin and V. N. Sorokin, Rational Approximation and Orthogonality, Translated from the Russian by Ralph P. Boas. Translations of Mathematical Monographs, 92. Amer. Mat. Soc., Providence, RI (1991).
- [59] S. Odake and R. Sasaki, Exactly solvable quantum mechanics and infinite families of multiindexed orthogonal polynomials, *Phys. Lett. B* **702** (2011), no. 2, 164-170.
- [60] Y. Ohta, Special solutions of discrete integrable systems, *Lecture Notes in Phys.* 644 (2004) 57-83.
- [61] H. Padé, Sur la représentation approchée d'une fonction par des fractions rationelles, *Ann. Sci. École Norm. Sup.* (3) (supplément) **9**, 1-93.
- [62] O. Perron, Die Lehre von den Kettenbrüchen, Teubner, Leipzig, 1913 (band I 1954, band II 1957); Chelsea, New York (1950)
- [63] M.S. Plyushchay, Supersymmetry without fermions, DFTUZ-94-05 (1994) hep-th/9404081.
- [64] M.S. Plyushchay, Deformed Heisenberg algebra, fractional spin fields and supersymmetry without fermions, *Annals Phys.* **245** (1996) 339–360.
- [65] S. Post, L. Vinet and A. Zhedanov, Supersymmetric quantum mechanics with reflection, *J. Phys. A: Math. Theor.* **44** (2011) 435301.
- [66] M. Riesz, "Sur le problémes des moments, III", Ark. Mat. Asty. Fys. 17 (1923) 52pages.
- [67] A. Ronveaux, M. E. Muldoon, Stieltjes sums for zeros of orthogonal polynomials, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 57 (1995) 261-269.
- [68] H. Rutishauser, Lectures on Numerical Mathematics, Birkhäuser, Boston (1990)
- [69] R. Sasaki, S. Tsujimoto and A. Zhedanov, Exceptional Laguerre and Jacobi polynomials and the corresponding potentials through Darboux-Crum transformations, *J. Phys. A: Math. Theor.* 43 (2010), no. 31, 315204.
- [70] I. Schur. Über die Verteilung der Wurzeln bei gewissen algebraischen Gleichungen mit ganzzahligen Koeffizienten, *Mathematische Zeitschrift* 1 (1918) 377-402.
- [71] R. A. Skoog, T. C. Banwell, J. W. Gannett, S. F. Habiby, M. Pang, M. E. Rauch and P. Toliver,

Automatic identification of impairments using support vector machine pattern classification on eye diagrams. *IEEE photonics technology letters* **18**(22) (2006) 2398-2400.

- [72] T. J. Stieltjes, Recherches sur les fractions continues. Ann. d. fac. d. sciences Toulouse 8 (1894) 1-122.
- [73] T. J. Stieltjes, Sur quelques théoremes d'algebre. CR Acad. Sci. Paris, 100 (1885) 439-440.
- [74] G. Szegö, Orthogonal Polynomials, Fourth ed. in: Amer. Math. Soc. Collq. Publ., vol. 23, American Mathematical Society, Providence, R. I., (1975)
- [75] P. Terwilliger, Two linear transformations each tridiagonal with respect to an eigenbasis of the other, *Linear Algebra Appl.* **330** (2001) 149-203.
- [76] P. Terwilliger, Introduction to Leonard pairs, J. Comput. Appl. Math. 153 (2003) 463-475.
- [77] S. Tsujimoto, *Construction of the exceptional orthogonal polynomials and its application to the superintegrable system*, RIMS Kôkyûroku Bessatsu **B**41 (2013), 181-204.
- [78] S. Tsujimoto and K. Kondo, Molecule solutions to discrete equations and orthogonal polynomials. (Japanese) Recent topics on discrete integrable systems (Japanese) (Kyoto, 1999), *Sūrikaisekikenkyūsho Kōkyūroku* 1170 (2000) 1-8.
- [79] S. Tsujimoto, L. Vinet and A. Zhedanov, Dunkl shift operators and Bannai-Ito polynomials, Adv. Math. 229 (2012) 2123–2158.
- [80] M. Uchiyama, T. Sasamoto and M. Wadati, Asymmetric simple exclusion process with open boundaries and Askey-Wilson polynomials, J. Phys. A 37 (2004) 4985-5002.
- [81] G. Valent, W. V. Assche, The impact of Stieltjes' work on continued fractions and orthogonal polynomials additional material, *J. Comput. Appl. Math.* **65** (1995) 419-447.
- [82] L. Vinet and A. Zhedanov, A 'missing' family of classical orthogonal polynomials, J. Phys. A: Math. Theor., 44 (2011), no. 8, 085201.
- [83] L. Vinet and A. Zhedanov, A Bochner Theorem for Dunkl Polynomials, SIGMA 7, (2011), 020.
- [84] L. Vinet and A. Zhedanov, A limit q = -1 for the big q-Jacobi polynomials, *Trans. Amer. Math. Soc.* **364** (2012), no. 10, 5491-5507.
- [85] P. B. Wiegmann, A. V. Zabrodin, Algebraization of difference eigenvalue equations related to $U_q(sl_2)$, *Nuclear Physics B* **451** (1995) 699-724.
- [86] E. Witten, Dynamical breaking of supersymmetry, Nuclear Physics B 188.3 (1981), 513-554.
- [87] A. Zhedanov, "Hidden symmetry" of the Askey-Wilson polynomials, *Theor. Math. Phys.* **89** (1991) 146-1157.

List of Authors Papers and Works Related to the Thesis

Original Papers

[1] Yu Luo and Satoshi Tsujimoto, Exceptional Bannai-Ito polynomials, *J. Approx. Theor.* **239** (2019) 144-173.

[2] Y. Luo, S. Tsujimoto, L. Vinet and A. Zhedanov, Dunkl-Supersymmetric orthogonal functions associated with classical orthogonal polynomials, *J. Phys. A: Math. Theor.* https://doi.org/10.1088/1751-8121/ab63a9, 16pages.

[3] 羅 宇, 例外型 Hermite 多項式の零点について, 応用力学研究所研究集会報告 28AO-S6 (2017) pp.111-117.

[4] Y. Luo, Zeros of exceptional orthogonal polynomials and the maximum of the modulus of an energy function, arXiv: 1707.05202, 16pages.